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SOUTH INDIAN MERCANTILE COMMUNITIES
IN CEYLON, citca 950-1250

K. INDRAPALA

The expansion of Cola rule from about the middle of the tenth century
was followed by the organization of a strong centralised administration resul-
ting in the maintenance of peace for over two centuries over a wide area in
South India. The more settled conditions of this period undoubtedly led to
considerable economic growth. Clearly the expansion of overseas trade was an
important factor in, as well as a veflector of this economic growth, The overseas
campaigns of the (6la emperors in the eleventh century in the Indian Ocean, -
from the Maldives to the Indonesian Islands, probably had more to do with
overseas trade interests than has generally been conceded. Romila Thapar's’
bold assertion that these campaigns were conducted in order to strike at the
Arab competition in the Souh-east Asian trade and to remove the Sri Vijayan
interference in the Sino-Indian trade may not be far off the mark." The period
of Cola expansion was without doubt a period of the expansion of South Indian
commerce: and this is clearly indicated by the oeeurrence in Burma, Thailard,
Indonesia and China of Tamil inscriptions left by some of the more powerful
South Indian mereantile communities. The extension of South Indian commerce
has not been studied in relation to the overseas expansion of the Cdla power,
partly because of the insufficient data that is available at present. Such a
study should help to determine the role of commerce in Céla imperialism.
In this paper a preliminary survey of the activities of some of the major South
Indian mercantile communities in Ceylon in the period of the (bla empire has
heen attempted. It is by no means an exhaustive study of the subject but it is
hoped that this will throw a little new light on the still greatly unexplored
economic history of ancient Ceylon.

THE BACKGROUND

Towards the ninth century A.p. the major kingdoms of South Asia had
developed an extensive commerce and established fairly close relations with
West Asia, South-east Asia and China. With the rise of the sea-oriented empire
of the Colas in the tenth century this commerce as well as South India’s rela-
tions with other Asian empires, especially China, developed further. At the
time the Colas were rising to power in South India, the political situation in

1. R.Thapar, 4 History of Indis, Vol. T (Pelican Books 1968). pp. 195-106.
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102 K. INDRAPALA

China became more favourable to the development of closer Sino-Indian trade
relations. The Sung government paid particular attention to foreign trade by
making it a government monopoly and taking strenuous efforts to increase its
volume. Special missions were sent out to entice foreign traders to the shores
of China.? It appears that the C5las were not slow in grasping these opportuni-
ties offered by the Chinese, for we find that Réjardja I (985-1014), Rajendra I
(1012-1044) and Kulottunga I (1070-1120) had sent missions to the Chinese court .2
The result was a brisk trade in the eleventh century in textiles, spices and a num-
ber of luxury articles. The tradein the luxury articles, however, ran into difficul-
ties in the twelfth century, when the drain of Chinese currency and precious metals
resulting from its expansion led to attempts by the Chinese government to
restrict the volume of trade with South India.*

In the West, South Indian trade with the Persians and the Arabs flouri-
shed in a similar manner, although it appears to have been dominated by the
West Asians. South Indians were no doubt among the Indian merchants who
sailed as far as Kish and Siraf in the Persian Gulf in the tenth, eleventh and
twelfth centuries. But their records have not been found in these places and it
is not possible to determine the role of the South Indians in this trade from the
general references in Arab and Persian literature.

Unlike in contemporary China, trade was not a royal monopely in South
India in the period of Cgla rule. It was purely a private enterprise. But the
nature and volume of the trade, both internal and foreign, that developed in
South India in this period demanded cooperation among merchants on a bigger
scale than there had been before. This kind of cooperation is to be found every-
where in economic life. As in the West of the High Middle Ages, conditions in
South India at this time made cooperation indispensable. As Pirenne put it,
‘maritime or land trade was possible only by grace of the mutual agsurance an
association inspired in its members, of the discipline which it imp osed upon them,
of the regulations to which. it subjected them’ And so we find in the tenth
century the emergence of organized mercantile communities, often described
as guilds after their Western counterparts, whose strength grew almost parallel
to the expansion of Céla power. Indeed it would appear that the Cola flag
followed the merchant fleets of these communities.

Among the more powerful mereantile communities were the Aififiirruvar
(also called the Ayyavole, Ticai-ayirattu-ainfiurruvar and Nanatéciya-ticai-
ayirattu-aififiirruvar), the Vira Valaiciyar or Valaficiyar, the Nanadesi or

Nanatéciyar (sometimes identified with the Aifififirruvar), the Manigramam (or

. Chaw Ju-kua, ed. F. Hirth and W. W. Rockhill (Amsterdam 1966), Intro. p. 19.
K. A. Nilakanta Sastri, The Colas (Madras 1955), pp. 605-606.
Ibid., pp. 607-608.
H. Pirenne, Medieval Cities: Their Origins and the Revival of Trade (5th ed. Princeton
1948), p. 119.

o B

Digitized by Noolaham Foundation.
noolaham.org | aavanaham.org

(#

s



Ly

SOUTH INDIAN MERCANTILE COMMUNITIES IN CEYLON 103

Vanikgramam) and the Nakarattir.® With them were associated a large number
of professional groups and mercenary bodies. They have left behind a consi-
derable number of inseriptions in the South Indian languages and these consti-
tute the main source of our knowledge of their activities.

There is little doubt that the increased volume of internal and foreign
trade in the C5la empire was largely handled by these mercantile communities
along with the West Asians. These communities claim in their inseriptions that
they carried on their trade activities in a large number of countries and that by
land routes and water routes they penetrated into the regions of the six con-
tinents.” That these claims were not empty boasts is seen from the fact that
their records have been discovered in Ceylon, Burma, Thailand, Indonesia
and China, in which places they had established some of their settlements.
Already in the ninth century, the Manigrmam had a trading settlement in
Takuapa, the ancient Takkola, in Thailand.® In the eleventh century the Néana-
desi had established themselves in Pagan,” Burma, while the Aiffitrruvar
had gained a foothold in Sumatra, Indonesia.'® It appears that some of them
had ventured even beyond the Straits of Malacca and established themselves
at some ports in China."! And, as Nilakanta Sastri surmises, ‘it is possible that
small settlements of these traders were found in all important entrepots of the
Persian Gulf’ as well."?

CEYLON

The commercial developments in South India had their natural effects
in Ceylon and, from the tenth century, South Indian mercantile communities
entered into the island’s trade in a more conspicuous manner. The island’s
internal and foreign trade in the eleventh and twelfth centuries appears to have
been much more important and extensive than has been hitherto thought..
But in this matter the extant sources cannot give even an approximate idea
of the true state of affairs. This is not surprising, for, on the one hand, the monas-
tic and other religious institutions, from which most of our documents, literary
as well as epigraphic, emanate, had little to do with trade and, on the other,

6. The transcription of these names is from the Tamil forms but in some cages the more
familiar forms (like Nanadesi and Manigramam) have been retained in order to avoid
any confusion. For & detailed account of these communities, seo A. Appadorai, Kconomic
Conditions in South India, Vol. I (Madras 1936), pp. 391-402,

7. Epigraphia Carnatica, IV. ed. R. Narasimhachar (Bangalore), Hg. No. 17; VII, Inscr.
No. 118 from, Shikarpur Talug.

8. K. A. Nilakanta Sastri, “The Takus-pa (Siam) Tamil Inscription’, Jowrnal of Oriental
Research (Madras), V1, pp. 229-230.

9. E. Hultasch, ‘A Vaishnana Inscription at Pagan’. Epigraphia Indica, VII, p. 197.

10. K. A. Nilakanta Sastri, ‘A Tamil Merchant Guild in Sumatra’ Tejdschrift Voor Indische
Tgal-, Land- en Volken Kunde, LXXTI, 1932 (Batavia), p. 314.

11. J. Filliozat, ‘Research in South-east Asia and in the Far East’. Proceedings of the
First International Conference-Seminar of Tamil Studies (Kusle Lumpur 1968), I,
p. 12,

12. K. A, Nilakanta Sastri, The Colas, p. 608.
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104 K. INDRAPATLA

“we have only a few documents direetly handed down from the merchants and
traders. Most of their documents were meant to be records of pious donations to
religious institutions rather than documents relating to trade,

The literary sources provide little information on the trade of the island
during this period. But we have about thirteen epigraphic records which refer
to the activities of the more important South Indian mercantile communities
that had come over to Ceylon. In the inscriptions of the earlier period, we get
references to the local corporate trading organizations, called puga and nigama,"
but in the records of this period references to indigenous bodies of traders or
merchants are sadly lacking. It is. therefore, not known whether there were
organized Sinhalese mercantile communities which participated in the trade
of the island, especially the overseas trade. Whether the Sinhalese showed little
inclination to participate in an organized manner in the overseas trade or not
(it is even possible that they could not compete with the foreign merchants).
an examination of the inseriptions of the South Indian mercantile communities
in the island leaves one with the impression that the Indo-Ceylon trade at
least was allowed to fall into the hands of the South Indian memanttle com-
munities, as was the cage in the later centuries. Indeed one is tempted to con-
clude that the Muslim traders from the South Indian ports who established
their settlements in the main ports as well as in the market-towns in the interior
of the island after the thirteenth century, were only taking over from the earlier
Hindu traders from South India.

THE MERCANTILE GROUPS

One of the earliest South Indian mercantile communities to gain a foothold
in the island was the Manigramam. In South India its activities extended over
a wide area and are referred to in inseriptions from several places in the modern
Kerala and Tamilnadu states.® These records range from the ninth to the
fourteenth century. As noticed earlier, in the ninth century members of this
community were engaged in activities in the Thai port of Takua-pa. In Ceylon
we get evidence of their activities in the interior market-town of Hopitigamu,
near Mahiyangana, in the middle of the tenth century. The Badulla Pillar
Inseription of Udaya IV (946-954) refers to them as Vanigrima, a variant

13. 8. Paranavitana, Inseriplions of Ceylon, 1. Harly Brahm: Inscriptions, Inserr, Nos. 135,
138, 320, 533, 662, i96a, 726, 1182-1198; 5. Paranavitana, ‘Tonigala Rock-Inscription’,
EZ,I11, p. 181,

14. A. Appadorai, op. cif., pp. 398 402,
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SOUTH INDIAN MERCANTILE COMMUNITIES IN CEVLON 105

form of Manigramam.'® This variant form occurs in contemporary Tamil litera-
ture as well.'6

The most prominent of the mercantile communities of the eleventh and
twelfth centuries was the AifinGrruvar. This community was always associated
with a large number of other mercantile and professional groups. In many of
their inscriptions from South India as many as forty-six bodies are listed among
their assoeiates. This community, therefore, seems to have oceupied a supreme
position among the professional bodies in the ports and market-towns and
acted as their leader, exercising much power and influence over them. Like
the kings of that time, they had their own pradasti or eulogy. with which most
of their records commence. In Ceylon records of this powerful community have
been found at Vahalkada, Viharehinna. Padaviya, Ilakkattu-Eba, Ataragalla
and Anaulundava. Some of these records contain their eulogy. But this eulogy
is a shorter version of the one appearing in their Kannada records in South
India.'” The eulogy is followed by a list of other mercantile and professional
hodies which were associated with the Aifififirruvar in the island. This list is
not as long as the one in their South Indian records. Among those mentioned
in the list are the Valanciyar, Nanadesi, Virakkotiyar, Cetti, Cettiputtirar,
Valankai, Ankakkarar, Avanakkirar, Ilaficinkam and the Konkavalar.

The Valaficiyar (the Bananjigas of the Kannada inscriptions) were an
influential body among the South Indian communities in Polonnaruva and are
mentioned in the Vélaikkara inscription at Polonnaruva as well as in some of
the records of the Aififiirruvar.’® It is not known whether all the Valaficiyar
merchants in Ceylon belonged to one organized group. There was, however,
one group of Valaficiyar merchants who called themselves the Tennilankai
Valaficiyar (the Valaficiyar of Southern Lanka, i.e. Coylon).! The Tanjore
Distriet of Tamilnadu was included in the sphere of activity of this group 2

The Nanidesi community which, like the Valaficiyar and the Ainfitrruvar,
seems to have originated in the Kannada country (Mysore State), is mentioned

15. 8. Paranavitana, ‘A Revised Edition of the Badulla (Horabora) Pillar-Inscription’,
Epigraphia Zeylanica (EZ), Vol. V(Celombo) p. 182. It is Paranavitana’s view that this
Vanigrama is the same as Skt. vapdg-grama snd that ‘the Tamil Manigrdmam... is
doubtless a corruption of Skt. vanig-grama’ (Ibid., p. 190, n. 6). The equation of Vani-
grama with Manigramam need not be contested, for the alternative form of vanikli-
ramam (also read ag vanikakiramam) ocours in Tamil literature. The va and ma do some-
times interchange in the Dravidian langnages. Further, the occurrence of this term
as a group name in & period when the Manigramam were active in South India and
outside also helpa to identify the group as the Manigramam,. !

16. Tolkdppiyam : Naceindrkkiniyar Urat, (Tanjavar 1962), Peyarviyal, sitra LI, p. 173,

17. Epigraphia Carnatica, X, Inscription No. 170 from Kolar,

18. S. Paranavitana, ‘The Polonnaruva Inseription of Vijayabahu I', Epigraphia Indica,
X VIIL, pp. 337-338. The other inscriptions are unpublished.

19. Inseription from Tirukkannapuram, Nannilun Taluk, Tanjore Distriet— Annual
Report on Epigraphy for 1922, (Madras), Inser. No. 505, p. 32. .

20, The name Tennilankai (Southern Lanka) was given to Ceylon to distinguish it from
Uttara-Lanka (Northern Lanki) in South India (Inser. No. 58 of 1008 in the South
Indisn epigraphical collection).
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106 K. INDRAPALA

in a Sinhalese inscription as well.?! Anuradhapura and Padaviya were among
the places where they were active. The Virakkotiyar, who do not appear to
have been a very prominent trading body in South India, are mentioned several
times in the Ceylonese records.

The Cetti, who are mentioned in a number of inscriptions, appear to have
been a caste of traders, as in modern times, rather than an organized mercan-
tile community. They were traders as well as money-lenders.? Several place-
names in the North-Central Provinee and the North Western Province have
cedti as their first eloment. These appear to have been the result of Cetti settle-
ments in the places represented by them and date from the eleventh and twelfth
centuries. The Cettiputrar (literally sons of Cetti) who are always agsociated
with the Aifififirruvar, may also have been traders, but no evidence is available
regarding the nature of their activities.

The Nanku-natu (identifiable with the Nalku-nidu of the Kannada ins-
criptions) were among the South Indian mercantile communities that were
established in Ceylon before the Cola conquest. An inscription of the late ninth
or the tenth century refors to their activities at Anuradhapura.®

Among the mercantile communities who were not closely associated with
the Aififificruvar were the Nakarattar (literally, “Those of the City’). That
they were an influential community is known from the Vélaikkara inscription
at Polonnaruva.

TRADING ACTIVITIES

The evidence of the Ceylonese records of the South Indian mercantile
communities is not sufficient to determine the part played by them in the
internal and foreign trade of the country. However, the impression that one
gets when examining these records is that they played a considerably important
role in the trade of the times.

The South Tndian inscriptions of these communities refer to their trade in
superior elophants, well-bred horses, precious stones of all sorts, spices, perfumes
and drugs 2 But their records in Ceylon provide hardly any information on their
merchandise. The edict of Parakramabahu I at Nainativa (Nagadipa ), which was
addressed to the foreign traders who frequented the port of Urdtturai (Sinh.
Uratota, modern Urkavarrurai/Kayts), refers to trading vessels which brought
to the king elephants and horses, two of the major commodities in which the

21. D. M. de %. Wickremasinghe, ‘The Slab Inscription Marked D/8 of Queen Lilavati’,
EZ, 1, p. 180.

22. A. Appadorai, op. eit., pp. 379-380.

23. South Indian Inscriptions, IV, ed. H. Krishna Sastri (Madras 1923), Inser. No. 1403;
K. Indrapala, ‘Adnuralapurattilulla Nankw Ndatiar Kalvetw’, Centanas, I, No. 4, Jan,
1968 (Peradeniya), pp. 31-35.

24, Hpigraphia Cornatica, Inscr. No. 118 from Shikarpur Talug.
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SOUTH INDIAN MERCANTILE COMMUNITIES IN OEYLON 107

Aififinrruvar claim to have traded.”® The horse trade was in all probability in
the hands of the Arabs, although references are not lacking in the South Indian
inscriptions to ‘Cetti dealers in horses’ (kutiraic-ceiti).*® Possibly the elephant
trade was shared by the South Indians, Sinhalese and South-East Asians. The
South Indians possibly had a share in the gem trade as well.

Whatever may have been their role in the foreign trade of the island, these
South Indian communities undoubtedly played an important part in the inter-
nal trade, and for this there is some evidence in their local records. The fact
that all their records have been discovered in the interior, in ancient towns
like Anuradhapura, Polonnaruva and Padaviya and in other places, which were
also possibly market centres of that time, indicates that they were concerned
with the internal trade.

As in many other countries in this period, it appears that the greater part
of the internal trade of the island was carried on at fairs and market-towns.
These must have been the main channels of commereial intercourse. The South
Indian mercantile communities seem to have played a role of some importance
in the setting-up and organization of these fairs and market-towns.

In their records there are two important terms which, if elearly understood.
are likely to throw an important light on the nature and organization of these
centres of trade. These terms oceur in the inscriptions of the Aififarruvar,
both in South India and Ceylon. One is ertvira-puttanam. Pattona or pattanam
stands for a township or city in most of the Indian languages. Hrivirar (lit.
‘warriors who throw’, i.e. those who were adept in the art of throwing javelins,
ete.) refers to a class of warriors who were associated with the mercantile com-
munities. Erivira-paitanaem has been generally interpreted as a ‘mercantile
town’ 2" The records of the Aifififirruvar refer to their declaring certain towns
as Erivira-pattanam 2 From the context, there is little doubt that these were
market-towns, probably protected by the Erivirar. But it must be admitted that
there is a lack of clarity as to the nature of these towns. That the South Indian
mercantile communities created such towns in Ceylon, too. is known from the
Vahalkada inseription. At Vahalkada there was a town named Kattanéri which
was declared a ‘Nanitéciya-vira-pattanam’, where cerfain measures were
taken by the ‘Cetti of the Eighteen Countries and the Virakkoti so that this
town may not be destroyed’ ® Possibly such towns were also set up in the other

25. K. Indrapala, ‘The Nainativa Tamil Tnscription of Parakramabahu T', Undversity
of Ceylon Review, X X1, No. 1, April 1963, p. 70.

26, Inser. No. 556 of 1904 in the South Indian epigraphical collection.

27. T. N. Subramaniam, South Indian Temple Inscriptions, TIT, Part 2 (Madras 1957),
Annexure, p. Xv.

28, Annual Report on Hpigraphy for 1913, p. 42, Inscr. No. 342 of 1912 in the South Indian
epigraphical collection; Epigraphia Carnatica, VILL, p. 89 of the text.

29, Unpublished inscription. The relevant phrases ave: Kettan@riyane Nanatéciya-virapat-
tanam (line 33) and Patinnenpimi-natiue Cettikalwm Virakkotoyomuwm ip-pattanalm]
alivupatatdhatenru varanmurad ittomakka (Lines 35-36). Erivira-pattanam is sometimes
rer ored as Vim_pa.t_,ta.l;lam._
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108 K. INDRAPATA

_places where records of these mercantile communities have been discovered. We
do not know how these towns were organized but from the South Indian records
we find that each such town had an official called the Pattana-svami (Lord of
the Town) at its head. It is reasonable to assume that a similar set-up obtained
in those Erivira-pattanam created by the Aififfirruvar in Ceylon. These market
towns were evidently permanent centres of trade, where a degree of security
was ensured by the warrior or mercenary bodies which seem to have protected
them.

The other term favalam seems to refer to centres of trade where distribu-
tion and exchange took place at periodical gatherings of traders. This term
erept into contemporary Sinhalese usage as well, thus providing an indication
of the kind of South Indian influence that was felt in the commercial sphere
in the island.?® Paranavitana's interpretation of this term as referring to a
place where bands of travelling traders halted for exchange of goods seems to
be tenable?! As he has pointed out, the Tamil word tdvalakkarar. meaning
‘traders from distant parts’ or ‘those who keep oxen for carrying burdens’,
provides a clue to the meaning of the term tavalam.** In the eulogy of the Aif-
fiicruvar found at the beginning of their records from Vahalkada, Padaviya
and Viharehinna, there is a reference to the ‘sixty-four katikai tavalam’ and to
the ‘cetti of the tavalam’ or the ‘ceffi who flourish in the tavalam’ > These seem
to be references to the several tavafam set up by the Ainfvrruvar.

In the organization of the internal trade of the South Indian communities,
the erivira-patfanam and tavalam may have played a central role. Such trading
centres wete possibly built by them along their trade routes or were established
alongside earlier centres. There is, however, a lack of definite information on
this point.

OTHER ECGONOMIC AND ADMINISTRATIVE ACTIVITIES

Apart from trade, the other economic activities in which these South
Indian communities were engaged are not clearly known. Prosperity in purely
mercantile activities resulting in the accumulation of wealth normally leads
to banking activities on the part of the successful merchants. These South
[ndian merecantile communities were no exception to this rule; and we find that
at least one of these communities. the Cetti. were functioning as financiers or
money-lenders, an activity for which they became well known in later times.

30. §. Paranavitana, ‘Galapata Vihara Rock Inscription’, EZ. 1V, p. 205, The word fdve-
lama oceurs in modern Sinhalese too. It means ‘a number of oxen laden with merchan-
dise’ or ‘a station on the frontier for the sale or exchange of commodities’

41, 8. Paranavitana, ‘Civilisation of the Polonnaru Period: Political, Beonomic and Social
Conditions’, University of Ceylon History of Ceylop. I, Part 2 (Colombo 1960), p. 550.

32, 8. Paranavitana, ‘Galapata Vihara Rock Tnseription’, p, 209, n. 4.

33. Unpublished inseriptions. The relevant phrases are: Avupatiu-nanion kefihail-tavalamum
tavalatiw valarkinre Ceftiym (Vahalkada, lines T-S):
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SOUTH INDIAN MERCANTILE COMMUNITIES IN CEYLON 109

A tenth-century inscription refers to such activity on the part of members of
the Cetti community at Anuradhapura.* It is possible that the other South
Indian mercantile communities were also engaged in similar activities.

Tt is the general view that the king enjoyed the monopoly of minting and
issuing coins. There is, however, some evidence in one of the records of the
Aifffirruvar which seems to indicate that the South Indian mercantile com-
munities or their associates enjoyed some kind of privilege regarding the minting
of coins. The Vahalkada inscription mentioned above refers to an associate of
the Aififiirruvar as ‘Akkacalai Vikkiramatittan™ (Vikkiramatittan of the Mint).
It may mean either that this person owned a mint or that he worked at a mint.
In either case, it would be difficult to dispute the fact that minting of coins
formed one of the activities of some members of the South Indian communities
under discussion.

As in Europe during the Middle Ages, when a town protected its citizens
by methods which would now be considered appropriate only to asovereign state,
particularly by the use of reprisals, in South India the erivira-paffanam of the,
Aiffifirruvar protected its residents and conferred certain privileges on them.*
When the Ninadesi, for instance, converted Kattir into a virapattanam, they
exempted its inhabitants of all communal contributions and declared that the
town was ‘not to be inhabited by such members of the mercantile classes (1)
as demanded taxes or tolls by threatening people with drawn swords or by
capturing them and (2) as wantonly deprived people of their food or otherwise
afflicted them’?® It was also resolved that those who offended against this
declaration were to be excommunicated.’” It may not be wrong to assume that
the erivira-pattanam set up by the South Indian mercantile communities in
Ceylon also extended such protection and privileges to their inhabitants. Altho-
ugh the evidence on this point is not adequate, our sources indicate that these
South Indian communities in Ceylon did enjoy powers and privileges similar
to those enjoyed by the mercantile communities in South India. In South India,
for instance, these communities had a share in the collection of tolls, faxes
and rates.”® In Ceylon we find that the Nanddesi enjoyed such a privilege at
Anuradhapura. A Sinhalese inscription of the twelfth century informs us that
they had a customs-house at Anuradhapura.® Similarly, the Manigramam seem

“to have enjoyed the same rights that they enjoyed in South India. The Kot-

tayam Plates of Vira Righava and Sthanu Ravi give details of the honours and

34, K. Indrapala, ‘Two Inscriptions from the Hindu Ruins, Anuradhapura’, Epigraphia

Tamilica, 1, Part 1, pp. 4-5.
35. T. V. Mahalingam, South Indian Polity, (Madras 1955), p. 392,

86, T. V. Mahalingam. op. eif.. p. 392.

37 Ihid,

38. Epigraphia Carnatica, VIL, p. 159 of the text: A RE for 1012, p. 32, No. 377 of 1911
ARE for 1919, pp. 15, 19, Nos. 9 of 1818-19 and 216 of 1918, -

39, D, M. de Z. Wickremasinghe, op. cif., p. 180,
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privileges enjoyed by the Manigramam in Kerala, Among these was a privilege
“that they had regarding the investigation of crimes. According to the above
plates, ‘should they themselves commit a crime, they are themselves to have
the investigation of it’.*? That such a privilege was enjoyed by the Mangramam
of Hopitigamu in Ceylon is evident from the Badulla inseription.*!

EMPLOYMENT OF MERCENARIES

These mercantile communities were very closely associated with a number
of communities given to martial pursuits. Among them were the Erivirar
(Warriors who were adept in throwing javelins, ete.), Mupaivirar (the Van-
guard), Ilaficinka-virar (Warriors with the valour of young lions), Konka-
valar (Swordsmen of the Kongu country), Mummuri-danda (Three-fold Army?)
and the well known Vélaikkarar. Like the Vélaikkarar, probably the others
were also mercenaries. They were no doubt employed by the mercantile com-
munities to protect their merchandise, endowments and trust properties.
They may be compared to the merchant troops of medieval Europe. Pirenne’s
conjectural description of these merchant troops may apply equally well to the
mercernaries that were employed by the South Indian mercantile communities:

“They should be pictured as armed bands, the members of which, equipped
with bows and swords, encireled the horses and wagons loaded with bags,
packs and casks....A chief, the Hansgraf or the Doyen, exercised his
authority over the company. This latter was composed of ‘brothers’,

bound together by an oath of fidelity”.*

The Vélaikkirar and other mercenary troops were bound together, like the
company of ‘brothers’, by an oath of fidelity.* The Valaficiyar-cénapati (the
Army Commander of the Valaficiyar Merchants) and the (Nana)desi-dandana-
yaka (the Army Commander of the Nanddesi Merchants) were probably the
counterparts of the Hansgraf or the Doyen.* Apart from employing these mer-
cenaries for protecting themselves and their properties, the mercantile commu-
nities appear to have also supplied them to kings and institutions needing the
gervices of the mercenaries.

SOCIAL AND RELIGIOUS ACTIVITIES

Mercantile communities in all countries at all times have been among the
leading henefactors of religious institutions as well as agencies by which dis-
tress was relieved. Most of the records of the South Indian mercantile commu-
nities in the island are those relating to religious grants. These communities

40. A, Appadorai, op. cit., pp. 401-402.

41. 8. Paranavitana, ‘A Revised Hdition of the Badulla (Horabora) Pillar-Inscription,
p. 190.

42. H. Pirenne, op. ¢il., p. 121.

43. S. Paranavitana, ‘The Polonnaruva Inseription of Vijayabahu I’, p. 337.

44, Unpublished Vahalkada inscription. T, V. Mahalingam, op. cif., p. 393.
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figure very prominently among the donors of bells, lamps and money to some
of the Hindu temples at Padaviya and elsewhere.*> One of the minor mercantile
communities, the Nanku-nattar, even helped to erect a Buddhist temple at
Anuradhapura.*

Erection and maintenance of alms-houses and inns or resting-places were
among their other activities which exhibit their care for the nnfortunate. In
the time of Queen Lilava-_bi (1197-1200, 1209-1210, 1211-1212), for instance, the
Nanadedi used the proceeds from one of their customs-houses for the maintenance
of an alms-hall at Anuradhapura with supplies of spice and other requisites.’
As in South India, the Aifififirruvar built inns or resting-places called Aifi-
fifirruvan-ampalam.*

These mercantile communities played an important role in the society
of the South Indian settlers in the island. As in South India, in Ceylon, too,
they were considered to be the leaders of certain other Dravidian communities.
In the eleventh and twelfth centuries, and in fact till recent times, the various
castes of the Dravidian areas of South India were divided into two major sec-
tions, called the Ttankai (Left Hand) and the Valankai (Right Hand).*® These
two sections were found in Ceylon, t00.%° Certain mercantile communities
were considered to be the heads or leaders of these sections. In the case of the
Valankai the Nanddesi and the Valaficiyar were among their leaders, while the
Itankai had the Nakarattir as one of their leaders.®! That such a social structure
obtained even among the Dravidian communities of Ceylon becomes clear
from the Vélaikkara inscription at Polonnaruwa. This record states that the
Vélaikkara troops at Polonnaruva were drawn from the Valankai, Ttankai
and other sections of the society and that the Valaficiyar were the leaders of
a section of the Vélaiklkara forces and implies that the Nakarattar were the
leaders of another section.’

As the leaders of other Dravidian communities, the mercantile communi-
ties enjoyed a prominent position in their society and were invited for important
meetings called by the others. There are many instances in the South Indian
records of the Aififiirruvar presiding over meetings at which the affairs of other

45, K. Indrapala, ‘An Inscription of the tims of Rajaraja I from Padaviya’, Epigraphic
Tamilica, T, Part 1, p. 34. Unpublished inscriptions from Padaviya.

46. South Indian Inscriptions, IV, No. 1405; K. Indrapala, ‘Anuratapurattilulle Nanku
Natiar Kalvettu', p. 35.

47. D. M. de Z. Wickremasinghe, op. cit., p. 180.
48. South Indian Inscriptions, IV, No. 1415,

49. B. A. Saletore, Social and Political Life in the Vijayanagar Empire, 1T (Madras 1934),
pp- 68 ff.

50. 8. Paranavitana, ‘The Polonnaruva Inscription of Vijayabahu I', p. 337.

*8l. Epigraphio Carnatica, XTI, p. 61 of the text; The Imperial Gazelteer of India, XVIIT,

pp. 198-199.

52. K. Indrapala, ‘Some Medieval Mercantile Communities of South India and Ceylon’ )
Journal of Tamil Studies, II, No. 2, Oct. 1970 (Madras), pp. 33-34.
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agsociate communities were settled.® Tn Ceylon, the Valaficiyar and the Naka-

_rattar were invited for meetings of the Vélaikkirar and possibly of certain other
communities.* Tt appears that they exercised some degree of centrol over the
activities of the other communities associated with them.

RELATIONS WITH THE STATE

This brings us to the question of their role, if any, in the politics of that
time. The economic power of such communities led by necessity to political
influence, which the South Indian mereantile communities may have exerted
in some instances.

We have seen that the South Indian mercantile communities were
closely associated with the mercenary troops in the island. The Vélaikkira
army, or some of the component groups in it, considered the Valaficiyar, and
possibly the Nakrattar, to be their leaders. These two mercantile communities
were invited for important deliberations of the Vélaikkarar. Many other mer-
cenary or warrior groups, like the Erivirar, Munaivirar, Konkavilar, 1lanecinka-
virar and the Mummuri-danda, were also closely associated with the mercan-
tile communities and are mentioned often in the records of the latter. In the
light of these facts one wonders whether in the eleventh. twelfth and thirteenth
centuries meréenary troops were brought to the island from South India by the
mercantile communities and supplied to the princes and institutions needing
their services. In the period before the ninth century, aspirants to the Sinhalese
throne as well as dispossessed rulers often escaped to South India. from where
they collected mercenary troops and came over to the island to capture power
or to regain the throne.’® But in the period after the ninth century, the local
sources do not refer to such instances of mercenary troops being brought by
Sinhalese royalty. Yet, there were mercenaries in the employ of the Polonna-
ruva kings and they were a powerful factor in the politics of the day. The
Vélaikkira army in particular wielded much influence in the reign of Vijayabahu
“ T (1055-1110) and later.’ There were occasions when it rose against the king.5

Jonsidering the relationship that existed between the mercenaries and the
mercantile communities at this time, it appears that the former were brought
to the island by the latter. This may be one reason why the Vélaikkarar, or
at least an important section of this army, looked up to the Valaficiyar mer-
" chants as their leaders. The activities of the mercenaries seem to have had the
sanction and guidance of the mercantile communities. If this were true, the

53. Epigraphia Carnatica, VI, p. 159 of the text.
4. 8. Paranavitana, ‘The Polonnaruva Inscription of Vijayabahu I', p. 337.
55. Mahdavamsa, ed. W. Geiger (Colonibo 1950), 35126, 27; 36:49; Calavamsa. ed, W, Geiger
(Colombo 1953), 44:71, 105, 125, 129, 152, 45:18, 47:33-36, 46-57,
B, Clilanamsa, 60:36; 63:24; T4:44.
57, Ibid., 60:36; T4:44,
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mercantile communities could be said to have exercised some degree of political
influence through the mercenaries. In the absence of any direct evidence bearing
on this point, one has to confine oneself to mere speculation,

For the greater part of this period, the relations between the state and
these mercantile communities were most likely cordial. In view of the financial
benefits which the ruler derived from the commercial transactions of these
foreign mercantile communities, he was naturally interested in their protec-
tion and in the furtherance of their activities. Thus we find that Pardkrama-
bihu Iissued an edict inviting foreign merchants to trade in his ports and guaran-
teeing them protection.® This probably shows that there was no serious rivalry
between the Sinhalese and foreign traders, at least in the twelfth century, and
that foreign merchants enjoyed the protection of the state.

Yet the activities of such communities were naturally dependent on a high
degree of political stability. As long as there was stability they could flourish
and develop their trade. Such a stability was there in Ceylon till the end of the
twelfth century. But from the end of that century the political upheavals that
took place in the island and the consequent division of the island into a northern
kingdom controlled mainly by foreigners and a south-western kingdom ruled by
the Sinhalese must have seriously affected the activities of the South Indian
mercantile communities. What part they played in the polities of the thirteenth
century is not known. But their activities possibly provided the economic
background to the rise of the northern kingdom, whose power and prosperity
depended on the control of the overseas trade.

The political upheavals of the thirteenth century, both in South India and
Ceylon, undoubtedly affected their activities in the Sinhalese kingdom. where
their records are not found after the thirteenth century. The growing Arab
competition was possibly an additional factor which brought about their decline
and the final disappearance of their trade in the Sinhalese kingdom. Their
activities perhaps continued a little longer in the northern kingdom.

68. K. Indrapala, ‘The Nainativu Tamil Inscription of Parakramabahu I’, p. 70.
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THE FALL OF KANDY 1815: The Willerman Letters*

GEOFFREY POWELL

During the course of the night of February 11 1815, a patrol of Lieutenant-
General Sir Robert Brownrige’s invading army, probed forward to Gannoruwa,
on the outskirts of the city of Kandy, to confirm the rumour that the Kandyans
had abandoned the batteries covering the river crossing and that Sri Wikrama
Rajasinha had fled his capital two days before. The following morning the
Malay soldiers of Major Moffat’s advanced guard marched past Gannoruwa
into the deserted city, passing also at the ferry the contorted bodies of some
fifteen disloyal headmen of the Seven Korales impaled upon poles set up on
either bank.! They were the final victims of the King’s rage against his rebel-
lious subjects. On February 18, he was captured in Upper Dumbara. The
Sinhalese monarchy, which had existed for twenty-three centuries, had been
brought to an end after a near-bloodless campaign. The eight columns of
Brownrigg’s 3,000 strong polyglot force of Europeans, Malays, Indians and
Africans, converging upon Kandy from their startng points around the coast,
had met with no more than nominal resistance during their march into the
forbidding hills from which the Kandyans had in the past so often thrust
invading armies.

An hour behind Moffat a single lame staff-officer arrived in the city.
Major William Willerman., Brownrigg’s Deputy-Quartermaster-General brought
instructions from his commander to prohibit the entry of troops within the
gates. other than as guards, so as to prevent damage to life and property.®
The forty-one year old Willerman was, in effect. the senior operations and
intelligence staff officer of the force. Born of a German-Swiss father and an
English mother, his military career had started twenty-six years earlier in the
Dutch Guards of the Prince of Orange. He had transferred into the British
Army as a Lieutenant in the Royal Staff Corps in 1803 when the Duke of York,
the Commander-in-Chief, raised the Corps in order to make good the deficiencies

*Unpublished Crown copyright material in the Indian Office Libraiy reproduced in
this paper appears by permission of the Controller of Her Maj esty’s Stationery Office.
1. Differenit numbers varying between thirteen and nineteen are given by Brownrigg
in his despatches, reproduced as Taking of Kandy by the Britush, M.L.R.C., 1(9),
Sept. 1893, 202-5; Captain L. de Bussche, Lefters on Ceylon, J.J, Stockdale, 1817, 2;
A Narrative of Hvents in the Island by a Gentleman on the Spot. T. Egerton Military
Library, 1815, 20-1; Diary of Mr. John D'Oyly. ed. by H. W. Codrington, J,R. 4.5.(C.B.),
25(69), 1917, 202. The last named mentioned that one of the bodies was that of a
Moorman.

2. Taking of Kandy by the British.
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THE FALL OF RANDY 1815 115

in the Royal Engineers, then a minute all-officer body, controlled by the
Ordinance which ranked as a completely separate branch of the armed forces
of the Crown. During more than two decades of near continuous warfare,

— Willerman had fought in Flanders, Siecily, Portugal, Spain and Holland; and
the four outstanding British soldiers of the age—the Dukes of Wellington and
York, Sir John Moore and Sir Ralph Abercromby—had all recognised his
worth. He was a talented staff officer:

“To an extensive acquaintance with the Greek, Latin, German, Duteh, Spanish
and Fronch langusges, he added a correct knowledge of the principals of Mathe-
matics and Astronomy. His talents in drawing, in perspective, his powers at seeing
at a glance the features and bearing of a Country and combining t_.helr relative
positions with sciantific precision, his ardour in the pursuit of Geographical knowled-
go and felicity of execution of every species of Military Plan or Topographical
Drawing were entitled to the rank and character of real genins’.}

Much of the credit, for the able manner in which Brownrigg’s campaign
had been planned must haveheen due to Willerman. A fellow Swiss on Brown-
rigg’s staff wrote that his ‘indefatigable enquiries and observations enabled him
to gain a correct knowledge of the enemy’s country’. Because of this ‘the different
divisions of the army were supplied with excellent charts, and the most dis-
tinet information respecting the strength of the passesleadinginto the interior,
till then considered impregnable; such as the Balany and Idalgalsina Pass’4
Ability did not, however, necessarily win professional advancement. In the

" Royal Staff Corps promotion was both rigid and slow; and even the appro-
bation of the great could do little to help Willerman to elimb to the high rank
his talents merited.

Among a packet of miscellaneous papers which the India Office Library
hought from the late Mr, D. 8. Erulkar in 1964 are two of Major Willerman’s
letters.” The first he wrote two days after he entered Kandy, and the second
five days after Sri Wilkrama was captured. As far as can be ascertained, these
letters have not previously been printed; and they add something to our
scanty knowledge of the story of Sri Wikrama’'s downfall. Both wore addressed
to Sir Alexander Johnston, the liberal-minded Chief Justice of Ceylon, who
played such a major role in moulding the judicial system of the island. From the
tenor of the letters, the two men seem to have been on friendly terms: and
Johnston had asked Willerman to keep him in touch with the progress of the
campaign.

In addition to Brownrigg’s official despatehes,® three eye-witness accounts
“ exist of the capture of Kandy. De Bussche, who had been the Governor's

3. John Penry Lewis, Tombstones and Monwments tn Ceylon, (Government Printer, Col-
ombo, 1913), 28.
4. De Bussche, 21,

5. The original documents now form part of the India Office Library’s collection of
European manuscripts (MSS. Eur. D. 667).
8. Op. cit.
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AD.C., commanded the 8th Division which marched up from Negombo to
Katugastota.” Tho medical officer to the 1st Division, which pitched its tents
outside the city boundaries on February 15, was Dr. Henry Marshall® while -
the notable Mr. John D’Oyly, soon to be appointed as the first Resident of
the Kandyan Provinces, had (as Willerman confirms) entered the city with
Moffat’s troops.” The interest in Willerman’s account lies in theimpact which
the sight of the city made upon him. He saw what was ‘in some respects magni-
ficent (sic) City'. Between Gannoruwa and the Palace, he wrote, ‘Houses with
few interruptions line both sides of a broad and good Road’, while the Palace
appeared as ‘a stupendous Pile of Buildings’. All this confirms what De Bussche
had to say. He also mentioned the broad, straight streets (closely corresponding
to the present-day lay-out of the city), and he described the houses as being
low, but that ‘some of them are very extensive and built close to each other’.
The King’s Palace was ‘an immense pile of stone buildings, with numerous
large courts’.'® As might be expected, the dry and impersonal narrative of
D’Oyly tells us nothing about the city, nor does Marshall have anything to say
on the subject.

There is a popular belief ourrent to-day in some quarters in Ceylon that
Sri Wikrama’s capital was little more than a mud village, despite the work
performed by the King in construeting the Lake and improving the Palace
at such cost to hisown popularity. Theimpressions of De Bussche and Willerman,
both trained observers and the latter something of an artist as well, belie this.

The damage suffered by Kandy during its first few years of occupation by
the British may have helped to popularise the view that the city was a place of
little consequence. When Dr. John Davy described it in 1817, he wrote:

“Though from the time of our entrance into Kandy our object has been to improve
the town, what we have done has generally had a contrary effect. We have pulled
down much and built up little; and, taking no interest in the temples, we have
entirely neglected their repair; the consequence is, that Kandy has declined very
much in appearance during the short time it has heen in our {)osraasaion, and to the
natives must seem merzly the wreck of what it once was’.

This deterioration is depicted in the sketches which Dr. James Paterson,
another army surgeon, drew in 1820." In these the run-down appearance of
the Palace area is only too apparent.

No FEuropeans were present when Ekneligoda and his Sabaragamuva
followers captured Sri Wikrama on February 18. The sole eye-witness story

7. 'Op. cit.

8. Henry Marshall, Ceylon, (London, 1846).

9. Op. cit.
10. De Bussche, 82,
11. John Davy, An Account of the Interior of Ceylon, (London, 1821), 371.
12. Michael Tomlinson, ‘Kandy in 1820, Times of Ceylon Annual, 1958.
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of the incident is that of Don V. Dias," the interpreter to Lieutenant-Colonel
Hook’s 1st Division. When it was published in English in 1896, its authencity
was challenged'* upon the grounds that Dias would have been about eighty
years old when his account was supposed to have been written; that there was
no trace of him in the records; and that the story disagreed in minor respects
with that of De Bussche. Sir Paul Pieris readily accepted the Dias account,’®
identifying the writer with Don William Dias Bandaranayaka, one of the three
Muhandirams of the Gate in the year 1819. Some details may have been coloured
by a fading memory, but the narrative certainly rings very true. Nor do any
of the econtemporary accounts, none of which were based on personal obser-
vation, differ significantly from the interpreter’s story.

Willerman met the King at Teldeniya the day after he was captured;'®
and his letter, as he says, was based upon his talk with D’Oyly. To all intents,
his account of the King's capture is identical with D'Oyly’s report,'” upon
which Brownrigg’s despatches were clearly based."™ Willerman’s reaction to
the magnetism of the King’s personality is, on the other hand, interesting.
With the exception of D'Oyly (that dullest of diarists), who mentioned only
that the King showed ‘no Symptoms of hurt Feelings or Depression at his
Fate’ X every writer who met him deseribed the influence of his charisma upon
them.* Only Willerman, however, caught the resemblance to Charles James
Fox,

Disease virtually annihilated both the British troops who invaded Kandy
in 1803 and those who were engaged in repressing the Great Rebellion of 1817-
1818. In contrast their casualties in 1815 were astonishingly few,™ but among
them was Willerman. On June 13 1815, he died of fever in Colombo, his consti-
tution sapped by the rigours of the campaign. Brownrigg’s admiration for
Willerman was such that he issued orders that his subordinate should be
buried with the honours due to a general officer.” the entire garrison attending
the funeral. His services in the campaign were marked by brevet promotion

13, Two different translations were published in the same year: Don V. Dias, Capture of
Sri Wikkrama Rajasinha by the English, M.L . R.C. 4(1), Jan. 1896, 20-2; and T. B.
Pohath-Kehelpannala, How the Last King of Kandy was Captured by the British,
J.R.A.5.C.B., 14(47), 1896, 107-14.,

14, Ibid for discussion after the reading of T. B. Pohath-Kehelpannala’s paper.

15. P. K, Pieris, T'ri Sinhala, The Last Phase, (Cambridge, 1939), 158.

16. Diary of Mr. Jokn D'Oyly, 213.

17. Ibid, 211-2,

18, Op. eit.

19, Op.vit., 213,

20. Marshall, 166-72; Gentleman on the Spot, 31-4; William Granville, Deporiation of
Sri Vikrama Rajasinha, C.L.R. 3(11), Nov. 1934, 487-504, and 3(12) Dec. 1934,
543-50.

21. De Bussche, 67.

22. Ceylon General Order, June 13, 1815,
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to the rank of lieutenant-colonel, but the award was not gazetted until a year
after his death.™ g

For a short time after he died, the infantrymen serving in the theatre
had reason to remember his name. The locally-made waterproof groundsheets
which they carried in the forest went by the name of ‘Willermans’.** The
obvious conelusion is that he invented the article—an indication that he
understood the needs of the fighting man as well as the more recondite gide of

his profession,

King’s Palace, Candy.
14th Fehruary 1815.
My dear Sir,

If T have delay’d until this day giving mysef the pleasure of writing
to you, according to your obliging Request—I may truly assure you, that my
silence has not been caused by unmindfullness of the promise I then made of
giving yon some Account of our Transactions—I wished to have something
interesting to communicate; but somehow or other I found myself on the 3rd
Inst. on the Summit of Balany Mountains, without knowing how—or conceiving .
the possibility of the Kandyans having allowed one piquet on the preceding
day to take possession, so very easily of a pass, which a Handful of men could
defend against numbers.

— However, 1 did not the less enjoy the beautiful Prospects which
surrounded us at our Camp of Amenoopoere,—they really will not admit of
verbal Deseription—but sketches, yet (I am sorry to say) to be made, will
I hope enable me to give you some Idea of them.—

— The rapidity of my march from Colombo, & the circumstance of
my having actually followed on foot almost the whole way from Ruanwella,
my perambulator—to ascertain the real distance of that difficult Route—
so much impaired my Health, that when the Governor® arrived at the foot
of the mountain, at Gannithenne: where a severe fit of the Gout detained
him*'—T found myself quite unable to go down the Hill to meet His Excellency «
—circumstances which, at that critical moment gave me much anxiety— '

— You will no doubt, ere this, my dear Sir, have heard, that probably
in consequences of the premature advance of one or two of our Divisions,

23. Ibid, June 16, 1816.
24. Ibid, December 17, 1815, January 31, 1816, and December 21 1816.
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a plan laid down, to seize the King’s person & which was to have been execu-
ted on the night of the 12th Inst. completely failed*—His Kandyan Majesty
having fled from his Capital on the 10th—

— This we did not hear until the 12th—at least. not to a certainty—
when Maj: Moffat’s Division*® moved into the desolate Capital—

— I followed him, an Hour after—and cannot describe my feelings at
approaching this deserted, and yet, in some respects magnificent City—
At Ganarhoa, where formerly Embassadors stopped—shocking vestiges of
the Barbarity of the Kandyan Despot—increased my regret at the failure
of our plan, and his Escape.

— Thence for miles—Houses with few interruptions line both sides of
a broad and good Road, having on one side a steep hill covered with Jungle,
on the other, a vale & paddy fields.—

— 1 continued my way thro’ the deserted streels the dead silences of
which was interrupted only by the feeble cries of parriah Dogs & puppies
half starved & abandonned by their fugitive masters—and having at last
arrived at the stupendous Pile of Buildings—so short a time before the Resi-
dence of a Tyrant—& where the cold Hand of Tyranny still appeared every-
where imprinted.—I met, in the dusk of the Evening a group of Europeans,
which I recognized to consist of Mr. Doyly in his white Jacket, apparently
much pleased—and of Major Moffat & another Officer—His small Division,
I found was encamped at the Gates—

— Since then T have been much harassed by the necessary Arrangements
for receiving the Governor—and for disposing of the 1st & 2nd divisions in,
or about this Town. Good news has constantly been pouring in,—since our
arrival—Major Kelly has in fact—taken hold near Hangrankate of a large
Treasure, & of a number of Prisoners amongst whom, are supposed to be
the King’s mother & wives.* Major Mackay is also arrived in our neighbour-
hood— & everything has the appearance of going on well.*

— Kandyans flock to swear Allegiance to our Adigar®'—the other, as
you will have heard—has also made His Submission; but is still at His Estate
of Molligody™ near Gannithenne at the foot of the Hills.

— The place of the King's present Refuge is a matter of much uncertainty
—small Divisions of Natives—and of Kandyans set off tomorrow morning
with a view of intercepting Him—the success however appears to me most
doubtfull.

— I hope the state of fatigne of mind and body, which we are all in
in a greater or less degree, will plead my excuse for troubling you with this
uninteresting scrawl—but, tho’ aware of my Inability to give you such an
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Account of this short & bloodless Campaign—as I could wish—I did not like
to delay longer.

— I shall be most happy if in exchange I am favoured with a good Account —=
of yourself, & those around you—most particularly so; if it is such as to make
me hope that there is much Improvement in Lady Johnston's Health.

Believe me dear Sir yr most sincere

W. Willerman

Kandy. 23rd Feb:
1815.
My dear Sir,

I scarcely know how to take up my pen now, to give you an Account of
the Grant Event, which in the rapid scale of our Transactions, may already be
called old news, alltho’ it took place 4 or 5 days ago; however having seen the
Royal Captive, and perhaps collected particulars not generally known from
Mzr. Doily, who was with Him; I will venture to trouble you with a few lines—
—alltho’ it being late in the day, & | much harassed with assisting in the :
military Arrangements which the present circumstances render necessary—

— I can scarcely hope that they will be interesting.

— You will ere this, dear Sir, have heard that the Kandyan Despot was
captured on the night of the 18th in a small Hamlet, about two miles from
Medamahanowera—the place I used to mention to you, at your Teatable at
Colpetty—He was in the disguise of a common Cingalese, & had scarcely
any cloathes on**—Some of His Malabar Adherents when discovered—resisted,
badly wounding with their pikes & swords two Cingalese—they in Return
fired & mortally wounded one or two of them. The King then came out &
gave himself up, with two of His four Wives—There were none of our Troops
present, but some very near. In fact he was at the moment so surrounded—
Maj: Mackay being at Paname—Capt. Anderson,** at or near Binteyne—
Capt. Antill*® at Kimbalgantotte, Lieut Mylius*® with Malays in hisimmediate
neighbourhood, & 3 whole divisions at or near Kandy.”’—that I had no doubt
of the Event & looked very confidently to its happening a day or two sooner
or later,

— Mr. Doyly is of a different opinion & thinks, he might have held out
much longer.*®

— This Gentleman took the King under the safeguard of the British
Troops & conducted Him to Tildennye, a fine village about 14 miles from
Kandy, in the Dumbera Dist.

Digitized by Noolaham Foundation.
noolaham.org | aavanaham.org



NS

THE FALL OF KANDY 1815 121

— I went there to confer with Mr. Doyly respecting the best mode of
conducting the King to Colombo—& it was determined he should not go
thro’ Kandy—I was admitted in the Rl presence & surprised at seeing a
handsome lusty man, of a rather prepossessing Aspect—not unlike Mr. Fox,
I think—

— He complained to me of the Treatment he had met with one the part
of the Cingalese®™—shewed me the marks of fetters on His Arms & was moved
to Tears in so doing, but soon resumed an Appearance of something like chear-
fullness. He enqguired after the Governor’s Health, & several Times laid a

stress upon the hopes he had of being protected & suitably treated by the
British Gov:*

— I could not help, in some degree forgetting in his presence, his Tyranny,
his eruelty, but a recollection of the sight I saw at Ganarhoa, enabled me to
correct my Judgement & form a more accurate Estimate of the merits of
the man before me—& yet, fallen Royalty certainly bears with it, a some-
thing, which against ones own better conviction—forces a certain degree of
Interest & respect.

— The Captive commences bis [illegible] tomorrow, proceeds thro’ the
Seven Korles & will arrive at Colombo, about the 2nd of March,

— Our good General is quite well, & gratified by the Events that have
passed.

— It is extraordinary; but it is true—that with little Alteration of
dates—the Plan of Operations of this Campaign may serve as the History of
it.*!—& yourself, dear Sir, well: T hope to have the pleasure of hearing from
you soon  &remain,

Yours very sincerely
W. Willerman

I must conclude my serawl, the dispatch box being about to be closed.

— Allow me to repeat my sincerest good wishes, that this letter may find
Lady Johnston in a much improved state of Health.

NOTES ON TEXTS OF LETTERS;

25. Lieutenant-General Sir Robert Brownrige, K.B., Governor and Commander-in-
Chief' of the British Settlements in Ceylon.

26,  Brownrigg suffered from gout in both the fest and the hands during this campaign
and the 1817-1818 Rebellion,

27. This plan seems fo have been concocted by Mr. D’Oyly and is described in a letter
he wrote to Willerman on February 6 (Diary of Mr. John D’Oyly, 200-1): Kandy
was to have been taken by a surprise night approach and February 8 or 9 was sugges-.
ted as the date. D'Oyly, before the campaign started. had heen responsible for
relations with Kandy, but his task was largely aligned towards subversion and intelli-
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30.

31.

39.

40.

41.
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gence gathering. During the advance he had moved with the leading troops, ahead of
Brownrigg’s headquarters, negotiating with the leaders of Sri Wikrama's rebellious
subjects and playing a staff officer’s role in the co-ordination and execution of the
military plans, Ambigious though his task was, there is no indication of frietion
between him and the military.

Major Moffat, 1st Ceylon Regiment, commanded the advanced guard of the 2nd
Division which started from Colombo,

Major Kelly, 4th Ceylon Regiment, commanded the 3rd Division which started at
Galle and entered Kandy by way of the Idalgashinna Pass. The women captured
were not, in turned out, the King’s mother and wives.

Major Mackay, 3rd Ceylon Regiment, commanded the 5th Division which started
from Trincomalee.

BEhelepola, First Adigar to Sri Wikrama after the execution of Pilima Talauva,
the elder. After intriguing with D’Oyly, he led an unsuccessful rebellion which resulted
in his taking refuge in the British Settlements in May, 1814. He returned to Kandy
with the invading forces.

Molligoda who succeeded Ehelepola as First Adigar. He made a show of opposing
the British advance in the Ruwanwella area and deserted to them on February 8.
He was not disguised but had been stripped of his clothing by Ekneligoda’s men,
as had his women-folk.

Captain Thomas Ajax Anderson, 19th Foot, commanded the Tth Division which
started from Batticaloa. He had taken part in the 1803 war, and he was the author
of two volumes of doggerel verse, Poems Written Chiefly in India, Philantropic
Society, 1809, and 4 Wanderer in Ceylon, T. Egerton Military Library, 1817,

This was either John Collins Antill of the 2nd Ceylon Regiment, or Henry Antill of
the 73rd Highlanders, The column was presumably the 4th Division which had started
from Galle and Hambantota.

Lisutenant Alfred Mylius, 9nd Ceylon Regiment. He helonged to De Bussche's Bth
Division.

The 1st, 2nd and Sth Divisions, The first two had started from Colombo and the
8th from Negombo.

It is easy to understand D'Oyly’s reservations, With the small number of froops
available and the monsoon approaching, it could well have taken months to find the
King.

Dias describes the King heing being tied with creepers and dragged along the
ground into a field.

When Colonels Hardy and Hook rescued the King from his subjects, he confided in
Dias that the British would kill him but would not harm his wives. Tt had not taken
him long to gain conviction that he was in ro danger.

Willerman was justified in this. The campaign had gone as near as planned as any
military operation is likely to.
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THE JUDICIAL ADMINISTRATION OF
THE KANDYAN PROVINCES OF CEYLON,
1815 - 1833.

Vidaya SAMARAWEERA

I am confident that they [i.e. the Kandyans] place the most implicit faith
and reliance in the strict and impartial mode of their administration on
the several Courts of Justice in the Kandyan Country . ..

—J. Bone, Agent for Sabaragamuva, 8 Oct. 1829.!

In Ceylon, as elsewhers in the colonial empire, judicial administration
touched an important and a very sensitive area of contact hetween the colonial
peoples and their Biritish rulers. Even before they developed the concept of
‘native administration’, in their colonial administration in non-European
territories the British paid the closest attention and emphasis on the proper
distribution of justice among the colonial peoples. At times with the aim of
providingimproved methods of justice, and at other times moved by lesslandable
aims, British officials constantly endeavoured to reform colonial judicatures,
and it is generally true that no part of the government of the colonies under-
went such frequent change and adjustment as the judiciary. The dictum of
James Mill that ‘the form of government is one, the nature of the laws is the
other, of the two cireumstances by which the condition of the people in all
countries is chiefly determined’® could have well provided the guide line
for the actions of the officials. More especially, a properly administered judiciary
was viewed as the ideal means to create conditions conducive to better relations
between the rulers and the ruled. ‘The evils incident to a foreign yoke’, a corres-
podent to the Colombo Journal published in Ceylon declared, ‘we are bound to
mitigate by affording the conquered the best possible means of administration
of justice’.® Charles Hay Cameron, an authentic representative of British
liberal tradition, opined the same view more forcefully after investigating the
judicial systems of Ceylon: “Among all the duties incumbant on the British
rulersin the East. it is impossible toname one more imperative than that of provid-

1. Bomne to Colebrooke, 8 Oct. 1829, Clolonial] Offfice] 416/19-G6, Public Record Office
London.

2. D. Winch (ed.), James Mill : Selected Economic Writings (Edinburgh, 1966), p. 40.
3. Colombo Journal, 11 Jan. 1832.
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ing for the effectual decision by public authority of the disputes arising among
the poorer classes ... There is no benefit which a European government can
confer upon its Asiatic subjects of the poorer class so valuable, and no means
by which it can secure permanance of its dominion so honourably and effectually
as this, and it is a benefit which none but an European government ean confer’ *
This was a view which was echoed and re-echoed throughout the empire.
With their different coneepts of law and order and justice, the British inevi-
tably felt that to provide for improved judicial administration they should
remove the traditional machinery they had inherited from the previous sove-
reigns and introduce in its place English forms, the acme of perfection from
their point of view. Therein lay their delemma: on the one hand, they completely
reposed their trust and faith on English forms, but on the other, they were
hesistant to call for precipitate changes in the indigenous judicial systems.
Here, the crucial question unfolded itselt: as Merivale phrased it in his Lectures on
Colonization, ‘how far, and in what mode, are natives, resident or found within
the limits of an English colony to be brought within the pale of English law?>.
This was a question which the colonial officials seldom succeeded in resolving
satisfactorily. The traditional machinery was rarely rejected in toto, and the
engrafting of the English forms upon this, to a greater or lesser degree depend-
ing upon the energies of the colonial officials and the conditions in which they
funetioned, produced in the empire that peculiar colonial hybrid that charac-
terised judicial administration.

1t is the aim of the present paper to examine this hybrid as it formed in the
Kandyan Provinces of Ceylon and to evaluate its working in terms of the avowed
aims of the rulers of the region.

The Kandyan Kingdom, the independent entity in the interior of Ceylon,
was conquered by the British in 1815, thereby finally ending the resistance
maintained by the Kandyans for over two centuries against the successive
thrusts of the European rulers of the littoral.® The Kingdom was formally
ceded to the British by a Convention which was signed between the Governor,

4, Report upon the Judicial Establishments and Procedure in Ceylon, dated 31 Jan.
1832, in Plarliamentary] Plapers], 1831 /32, XXXII (274), 65. Cameron was a member
of the Commission of Eastern Enquiry which reported upon Ceylon in 1820-31. His
report constitutes an outstanding example of the application of Benthamite thinking
in a strictly doctrinaire manner to reform a colomal judicature. On the commission
of inquiry see, V. K. Samarawesra, “The Commission of Eastern Enquiry in Ceylon,
1822-1837: A Study of a Royal Commission of Colonial Inquiry’ (Oxford University
D.Phil. thesis, 1969).

H. Merivale, Lectures on Colonization and Colonies (reprinted, Oxford, 1928), p. 496,

6. For the conquest see, P. E. Pieris, Tri Sinhale and the Patriots: The Last Phase, 1796-
1815 (Cambridge, 1989). For the diplomacy which preceded the conquest see, Diary
of Mr. John D'Oyly (ed. H. W. Codrington, Colombo, 1817).

T
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Sir Robert Brownrigg, and the Kandyan chiefs on 2 March 1815 at Kandy.”
The new territory was not annexed to the Maritime Provinces, which the
British had been ruling since 1796, but was governed as a separate unit. The
political settlement arrived at in 1815, which was largely shaped by the role
played by the chiefs in the defeat of their King, Sri Vikrama Rajasimha (1798-
1815), ensured the econtinuation of the traditional administration without
much change. The King was replaced bv the Governor, and he administerod
the new region through his personal representative, the Resident, and other
‘accredited Agents'. Beneath this superimposed superstructure of a minority
of Brivish civil servants, the traditional hierarchy remained intact. Indeed,
the Convention guaranteed to the ‘Adigars, Dessaves, Mohatles, Corales,
Vidhaans and all other chief and subordinate Native Headmen, lawfully
appointed by authority of the British Government, the Rights, Privileges
and Powers of their respective Offices, and to all classes of the people the
safety of their persons and property, with their Civil Rights and immunities,
according to the laws, institutions and eustoms established and in force amongst
them’. Further, it was also declared that ‘the administration of Civil and
Criminal Justice and Police over the Kandyan inhabitants of the said Pro-
vinees is to be exercised according to established Forms and by ordinary authori-
ties’. The acceptance of the traditional system was moved by the more imme-
diate events in Ceylon, but by this time, particularly after the principle had
been adopted as in the case of the French-Canadians in 1774, the continuance
of the customs, habits and laws which existed under a previous sovereign by
the British was followed almost as a matter of course by the imperial officials.®
The old order, however, was never unreservedly guaranteed to the colonial
people; nor did the British generally abdicate the right and power they held
to introduce changes as and when they deemed fit.” Like in many other parts
of the empire, in the Kandyan Provinces of Ceylon too the laws and customs
repugnant to English precedents were removed: at the Convention itself it was
announced that ‘every species of bodily torture, and all mutilation of limb,
member or organ, are prohibited and abolished’. On the other hand, while
stating their intention of continuing the traditional modes of administration,
the colonial officials carefully embodied in the Convention a declaration of

7. The Convention was proclaimed on the same date and thereby became a part of the
law of the region. For the text sec, W. Skeen (ed.), Collection of Legislative Acts of
the Oeylon Government from 1796 (Colembo, 1853), i, 180-182. On the legal statu- of
the Convention see, I. Jenning=, ‘Notes on the Constitutional Law of Colonial Ceylon’,
Journal of the Ceylon Branch of the Royal Asiatic Society, n.s., I (1850), 61-63.

8. H. T. Manning, British Colonial Government after the American Revolution, 1782-
1820 (New Haven. 1933), p. 295.

9. This was particularly true after the judgement delivered by Lord Mansfield in
Campbell ». Hall (1774) where the broad principle that the Crown possessed full
legislative power in a conquered or ceded colony was qualified. c.£. K. Roberts-
Wray, Commonwealth and Colonial Law (London, 1966). p. 157
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‘the inherent Right of Government to redress grievances and reform abuses
in"all instances whatever, whether particular or general, where such inter-
position shall become necessary’.'®

The working of the traditional machinery had virtually come to a standstill
by the time the British forces completed their military operations in Kandy.
The burden of organizing the administration fell upon the Resident. The choice
for this post was obvious: John D'Oyly, who had played the key role in the
diplomacy that preceded the conquest.!! As the Resident, D'Oyly combined
in his person the supreme political, executive and judicial powers of the terri-
tory.”? He was provided with a separate establishment and two European
Assistants, but as even a cursory glance at his Digry would reveal, in the period
immediately after the conquest he was foreed to undertake personally the
brunt of the duties. Most mornings he devoted to deal with numerous comp-
laints brought before him by the chiefs and the people of the areas neighbouring
Kandy. The complaints coneerned mainly petty conflicts and disputes relating
to property:" though it was a ‘Time of Troubles’, surprisingly few criminal
cases were reported to him. Aside from these matters brought before him through
the initiative of the Kandyans themselves—which exemplified D’Oyly’s perso-

nal popularity among them—the Resident was required by the Convention to

try all capital offences'* and was also required to exercise a supervision over
the local functionaries, both in their executive and judicial duties. A tentative
decision was taken soon after the conquest to hand powers of magistracy over
Kandyans to the commandants of the military posts established in the out-
lying districts, but it was not carried into effect on the grounds that the exercise
of an immediate anthority over the local inhabitants by Kuropean officials
would be ‘wholly impracticable’. 15 The Governor, however, held on a few
oceasions his own court in the Kandyan territory, mainly as ad-hoc tribunals
dealing with disputed properuy.'®

10. Tt was inevitable that this clause would he r‘:fed whenever any change or deviation
from the Kandyan system was made. 1t was ‘in fact the source of British jurisdie-
tion’, Sutherland to Judicial Commissioner, 30 Sept. 1816, €.O. 416/19-G4,

11. D'Oyly (1771-1824) initially served as a Collsctor in the Maritime Provinces, and in
1810 was appointed the Secretary to the Government and soon afterwards the Chief
Translator. Brownrizg wrote of D'Oyly in glowing terms. ‘The Political correspon-
dence with the Kandyan Court', Brownrigg wrote to Lord Sheffield on 10 March
1815, ‘has been condueted by him through all its intricacies in a manner highly
croditable to his talents aLnd] to his ability a[nd] most zealous exerfions I greatly
attribute the success which has attended our operations here’. P. E. Pieris (ed.),
Letters on, Ceylon, 1814-1824 being correspondence addressed to Sir John D'Oyly (Cam-
bridge, 1938), pp. 23-24. D’Oyly received a much belated knighthood in 1821 in
recognition of his services.

12. Brownrigg to Bathurst, 15 March 1815, C.O. 54/55. D'Oyly was also made a member
of the Governor’s council for the Maritime Provinces to ensure co-ordination, and a
separate Kandyan Department was set up in Celombo.

13. Diary of Mr. John D’'Oyly, p. 234, 262, 263, 264 and 265.

14, Under the British, treason, homlc:ld.e and murder were deemed capital offences,
evidence of Downing, Judicial Commissioner, 12 Sept. 1820, C.0. 416/19-G4.

15. Brownrigg to Bathurst, 15 March 1815, C.0. 54/55.

16. Ceylon Government Gazette, 27 May 1816.
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At the outset, the officials decided to establish a clear distinction between
the judicial administration provided for the Kandyans and other colonial
peoples and for the Europeans in the new terrivory, both in the procedure
and in the application of the laws. Clause 9 of the Convention excluded from
the restored machinery all those who were non-Kandyans. The definition of a
Kandyan assumed a legal significance in veiw of this, but no avtempt was
made to formulate a definition either at the Convention or in the subsequent
legal enactments. This of course gave a great deal of latitude to the judicial
officials. They generally seemed to have acted on the basis that a Kandyan
was a subjeet who lived within the boundaries of the Kandyan Provinces at
the time of the conquest. This was no doubt a useful working definition, but
legal problems arose then and in the following decades of vhe nineteenth
century owing to the absence of a precise demarcation of the territory that
came under the term Kandyan Provinces.!” The early British policy in Kandy
worked towards the transformation of a territorial law into a personal law,
for the Kandyan Kings had made no distinction between Kandyans and non-
Kandyans in their judicial administration.™

At the Convention itself a procedure was laid down for the administering
of justice for the non-Kandyans. All persons subject to military discipline
were to be tried under ‘the Laws, Regulations and Customs of War’. Civilians
came under the jurisdiction of the acredited Agents in all civil and criminal
matters. However, if any British subject (in contradistinetion to a subject of
His Majesty in the colony) was accused of a murder, he could be tried only
under ‘the Laws of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Ireland in force
for the trial of offsnces committed by British subjects in Foreign Parts’. Thus, in
the Kandyan Provinces the British attempted to maintain distinet judicatures
not only for the Kandyans and the non-Kandyans. but also for the Euroyeans
and non-Europeans specifically in criminal matters of a grave nature. The
clause of the Convention which related to separate judicial systems for the
civilians was not favourably received by the home government. The Crown Law
Officers in England, who pronounced on the legality of the Convention, held
that the Governor possessed no power to ereate special tribunals by commis-
sion for trying British subjects, and declared that until His Majesty decides
to accept either the whole or part of the laws of the Kandyans or substitute
any other Iaw, the traditional laws should be applied in all cases equally to
Kandyans as to other subjects.”® The Seeretary of State accepted this opinion.
and the modification of the Convention this acceptance entailed was pro-

17. See, P. Arunachalam, ‘Kandyan Provinees’, Jowrnal of the Ceylen Branch of the
Royal Astatic Society, XXII (1910), 103fF,

18. F. A. Hayley, A Treatise on the Laws and Customs of the Sinhalese (Colombo, 1923),
pp- 25-26. -

19. Robinson, Garrow and Sheppard to Bathurst, 14 Sept. 1815, C.0, 416,/19-G3.
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claimed by the Governor in Ceylon on 31 May 1816.%° The adoption of the
" Kandyan laws and procedure, however, was undertaken only as a temporary
measure, until ‘the substitution of new Laws and Tribunals for the Trial and
punishment of His Majesty's European subjects, for offences committed therein’.
Later, after the Rebellion of 1818, certain courts of law were given specifie
jurisdiction over Europeans, but inexplicably no separate system of law was
proclaimed with this community in mind. Therefore, as Hayley has pointed out,
the Kandyan laws remained applicable to all persons within the Kandyan
Provinces in terms of the Proclamation of 31 May 1816*'—subject of course
to the other conditions announced at the Convention.

A question of considerable importance was tied to the position of Europeans
in the judicial administration of the interior: the status of the Supreme Court
in Kandy. The Supreme Court was established in the Maritime Province by the
Charter of Justice of 1801, and under its provisions the Court’s jurisdiction
could be extended to include ‘Dependencies’ of His Majesty’s possessions in
Ceylon.” The judges of the Supreme Court demanded this extension after the
conquest.* As the Crown Law Officers in England pointed out, the Supreme
Court’s jurisdiction could be extended over the new territory only if it was
formally annexed to the Maritime Provinces: the manner in which it was
conquered did not automatically reduce it to a dependency of the Maritime
Provinees.?* On this account, the High Court was excluded from the Kandyan
Provinces.? This was welcomed by the Governor, who had considered that a
‘very considerable period must elapse before His Majesty’'s new territory will
safely admit the exercise of any authority, political, civil or judicial, which
does not in a direct and ostensible manner emanate from the executive govern-
ment’* In the Maritime Provinces, the Supreme Court held an exclusive
jurisdiction over the European community,? and if its powers were extended
over the interior a convenient and tested means would have been made available
to put into effect the initial decision to establish a separate judicature for the
Europeans.

While these questions were being settled, D'Oyly proceeded with the
task of giving back to the chiefs their judicial authority. The principal local

20. For the text see, Skeen, op.cit.. 1, 190.

21. Hayley, op.cit., p. 29.

22. Clause v of the Charter of Justice of 1801, Skeen, op. eit., 1, 33.

23. Brownrigg to Bathurst, 17 Nov. 1815, C.0. 54/57.

24. Robinson, Garrow and Shepard to Bathurst, 14 Sept. 1815, C.0. 416/19.G3.

25, Bathurst to Brownrigg, 13 Oct. 1815, C.0. 55/63.

26. Brownrigg to Bathurst, 15 March 1815, C.0. 54/55. This opinion of the Governor,
if it is to be placed in its proper perspective, should be considered in the light of the
competition for status and power that developed between the Covernor and the

Supremte Court owing fo the absence of a proper delineation of their respective
areas of authority. See, Bamaraweera, op.cif., p. 138ff.

27. Cameron’s Report, P.P. 1831/32, XXXII (274), 67.
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officials who had wielded judicial power under the old order were the Adigars

(Sinh. Adhikdrama). The British appointed two Adigars, Molligoda and Kapu-
watte,*® styled the First and Second respectively, who like the others appointed
to leading local offices had collaborated with them at the time of the conquest.
As in the Kandyan times, the Adigars held exclusive jurisdiction over the
people subject to their peculiar authority— Katubulla, the messengers and
Kasakara, the hiperackers—and also held concurrent jurisdiction, hoth eivil
and eriminal, with the Disava (Disava)® the rulers of the provinees to which
the Kingdom had been divided. During the Kandyan times. the Adigars
between them were in charge of prisoners and police duties throughout the
Kingdom as well, but the British seemed to have relieved them of these duties.?
Disavas possessed judicial authority over persons and lands within their res-
pective districts, excepting those who were subject to special jurisdictions of
other authorities. Disavas were appointed.®® but some officials had consi-
derable misgivings about entrusting to them the full powers they had enjoyed
under the Kings. These misgivings stemmed from a suspicion that Disavas
would utilize their powers to oppress the people and to cause dissatisfaction
among them against the new rulers,” a suspicion which, as events were to
show a few years later, was not groundless. The awareness of the officials that
there were people who had not comprehended the nature and significance of
the recent events, added a further note of caution.® It was D’Oyly who swayed
the decision by arguing that the British were duty bound to restore to the
chiefs their authority; and he expressed the opinion—shared by the Governor
himself—that changes should be introduced only after careful study.® Yet,
Brownrigg decided to keep back the Disavas in Kandy for a period of time to

28. Ceylon Government Gazeite, 8 March 1815. Sri Vikrama had appointed a third Adhs-
karama but the British followed the more established policy of two Adigars,

29. The provinces were divided into two vegions for this purpose, The First Adigar,
who held precedence, had jurisdiction in the following provinces: Seven Koralés,
Uva, Matalé, Valapans, Vellassa, Bintenna, Nuvarakalaviya, Tamankaduva, Haris-
pattu, Dumbara and Hévahata: the Second Adigar: Four Korales, Thres Koralgs,
Sabaragamuva, Udapalata, Uduonuvars, Yatinuvara, Tumpané, Kotmalé and
Bulatgama. On the judicial powers of the Adigars, other officials and tribunals
under the Kings see, Sir John D'Oyly, 4 Sketeh of the Constitution of the Kandyan
Kingdom (ed. L. J. B. Turner, Colombo, 1929), pp. 2-6 and 21-28,

30. Evidence of Downing, 12 Sept. 1829, C.0. 416/19-G3, Police regulations were en-
acted by the British for the towns of Kandy, Ratnapura and Kurunegala, tbid.

31. The first appointees were Pilima Talauve, Disava of Four Korales, Kappitipola of
Uva, Ratvatte of Matals, Molligoda of Three Koralgs, Kobbakaduve of Valapans,.
Unambuva of Udapilata, Millave of Vellassa and Bintenna, Mattamagoda of Taman-
kaduva and Lemoke of Nuvarakalaviya, Molligoda, the First Adigar, was also
appointed Disava of Seven Koralés, while the Second Adigar became the Disava of
Sabaragamuva. Ceylon Government Gazette, 8 March 1815,

32. IéIf:‘d}: to Brownrigg, 12 June 1815 and Brownrigg to Bathurst, 20 July 1815, C.0.

/56,

33. e.g. Sawers to Brownrigg, 5 June 1815, C.0, 54/66, ¢.f. Henry Marshall noted that
the procoedings at the Cenvention ‘evinced no concern’ among ‘the portion of the
population which had returned to the town of Kandy’. H. Marshall, Ceylon : A General
Descriplion of the Island and its Inhabitants (Londen, 1846), p. 163.

34 D'Oyly to Brownrigg, 12 June 1815, C.0. 54/56,

11985—3
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avoid giving them an opportunity of levying fees (dakum) from the inhabitants
of their respective regions as was customary with every new appointment

under the old order.® Together with the Adigars and the Disavas. a host

of minor judicial officials were restored to their offices, and the Kandyan
judicial tribunals were brought back into operation. At the same time, a policy
of appointing British officials with original judicial authority was inaugurated.
The first significant step in this direction was the appointment of the First
Asgistant, Simon Sawers, as the accredited Agent at Badulla in the province
of Uva on 22 April 1815. Uva was virtually unknown to the British—in the
words of a later official, a ‘terra incognita’ s The ties botween the chiefs and
the people of this region were exceptionally close, and rumours reached Kandy
that a revolt was brewing there against the British under the influence of the
chiefs. who viewed the new regime with little favour. Sawers’ task was to
restore order and to hear complaints and redress abuses; he was given the
highest judicial authority excepting in the case of v illages and people subject
to the special jurisdictions of the Adigars and other chiefs.’” The intrusion
of the British official was not welcomed by the Disava and there was a possi-
bility of a clash between the two developing as regards their respective autho-
rity. Brownrigg unhesistatingly accorded Sawers precedence in the region
by a minute on 22 July 1815, and the firmness of Sawers averted a serious
break *® Order was restored only at the expense of time, for Uva was to cause
difficulties again to the British a few years later, and this time of a far greater
magnitude. Brownrigg who was soon convinced that the restriction of the
introduction of British officials with original authority into the interior had
major drawbacks, decided to follow up Sawers’ appointment with four other
Agents in the north-western. north-eastern, south-eastern and south-western
parts of the Provinces with executive, revenue and judicial powers. Once again
D’Oyly protested on the grounds that it "vas an impolitic and expensive measure,
and it was deferred.’® However, Henry Wright. the Resident’s Second Assis-
tant, was appointed in October 1815 the Magistrate of the “Town and Environs’
of Kandy, perhaps moved by D’Oyly’s early experience. This office was not
established on a regular footing at this time, for two months later Wright was
required to relieve Sawers at Badulla, whose services were now demanded at
the centre *

These several measures failed to provide an effectual judicature to the
people. At an audience held for the chiefs at Kandy on 20 May 1816, Brownrigg

35. Brownrigg to Bathurst, 20 July 1815, €.0O. 54/56.
36. H. White, Monual of Uva (Colombo, 1893), p. 86.

37. Bawers to Brownrigg, 9 June 1815 and Brownrigg to Bathurst, 20 July 1815, C.O.
54/56,

38. Brownrigg to Bathurst, 5 June 1816, C.0. 54,/60.
39. Brownrigg to Bathurst, 20 July 1815, C.0. 54/56.
40, P. E. Pieris, Sinkale and the Pairiots, 1815-1818 (Colombo, 1950), p. 94,
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candidly acknowledged that justice was yet to be administered properly. To
the judicial matters that had accumulated in the interim period prior to the

#—establishment of the British power, the officials now discovered that suits
that had not been entirely disposed of or oniy partly decided during the time
of the King should be added. The delays in judicial procedure, Brownrigg
declared at the audience, arose ‘owing to the different branches of Judicature
not being digested into separate Departments, or regulated by settled forms of
procedure, [and] it would not be possible, without much delay, to adopt the
Sittings to any rule of classification, and the causes were in consequence
entered upon as they arose’* The backlog of judicial business was disposed
of in the ensuing years through the regular channels, but in certain instances,
particularly where the cases were ‘not reducible to any class’, the Resident
was authorized by the Governor to draw up a procedure to deal with them.
Where cases concerned disputes between individuals but which touched upon
the rights of the state, D’Oyly personally tried them in his capacity as the
Resident in the presence of ‘knowledgeable chiefs’. Where they concerned
matters of a purely personal nature, the traditional mechanism was to be
utilised, and if they involved questions of general importance or controversies
between ranking families, they were to be placed before an assembly of chiefs
from time to time. Claims for restitution of lands, especially lands forfeited

& or confizcated by the late king, were posiponed to a later date to enable the
Resident’s staff to compile all relevant information relating to each indi-
vidual case.*

The judicial arrears forcefully brought into focus the fact that the administ-
ration in Kandy had devolved excessively on the shoulders of one official,
the Resident. I’Oyly’s work was inastimable to the British at the beginning:
Brownrigg averred that it was above all to his ability, zeal, and ‘amiable
conciliatory manner’ that the British owed acceptance among the ‘formerly
hostile’ Kandyans.* But, it was now evident that D’Oyly’s character was
tending to hinder the administration. Brownrigg found that D’Oyly immersed
himself in the study of the minutiae of Kandyan customs and institutions at
the expense of public business.* D’'Oyly’s opposition to some measures pro-

41. J. W. Bennett. Ceylon and its Capabilities (London, 1843), appendix, pp. Ixxvi-
Ixxvii.

42. dbid., pp. Ixxxvii-lxxxviii.

® 43, Brownrigg to Bathurst, 9 March 1815, C.0. 54/56.

44, Brownrigg to Bathurst, 5 June 1816, C.0. 54/60. Brownrigg wrote that D'Oyly’s
‘peculiar knowledge of the langnage and customs of the native people. . .far sur-
pass[es| that of any Buropean who has gone hefors him’, Brownrigg to Bathurst,
9 Mareh 1815, C.O. 54/55. D’Oyly's was not a detached study. According to Sir
James Mackintosh, who visited him in 1810, D’Oyly had ‘almost become a native
in his habits of life. He lives on a plantation, invites nobody to his house, and does
not dine abroad, and seems an amiable though uncouth recluse. When I saw him
come into dinner at Mr. Wood’s I was struek with the change of a Cambridge boy
into a Cingalese hermit’, Memairs of the Life of the Et. Honourable Sir James Mackin-
tosh (London, 1835), ii, 6,
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posed by him may have been grating to a strong personality like Brownrigg.
By May 1816 the Governor had publicly declared his intention of relieving
‘the Honourable the Resident of some part of the multifarious occupations
which engrosses his valuable time’.* He intended in particular to create a
separate judicial branch. D’Oyly objected to this proposal on the grounds of
expenditure, but this time the objections were not accepted by the Governor.
‘The Administration of the Kandyan Provinces’, he noted on 23 August 1816,
‘comprise all the ordinary Branches of a Political Constitution, all the grada-
tions of ordained Authority, and every detail of publick Business which helongs
to a complete independent State. The hope of being able with any justice
either to His Majesty’s interests or those of the People to commit to a single
Gentleman however great his abilities the multifarious occupations of so
extensive and complicated & charge could not be seriously entertained in
Theory nor bear the test of the least experience’.*® Brownrigg established
from 1 Oetober 1816 a Board of Commissioners of Kandyan Affairs to handle
the duties which hitherto rested solely with the Resident, The Board consisted
of three members who between them shared the duties. D’Oyly, who conti-
nued to hold the title of the Resident, was the First Commissioner and presi-
dent of the Board, and was in charge of general and political business; James
Gay was the Second (or Judicial) Commissioner in charge of judicial business;
Sawers, the Third (or Revenue) Commissioner, was placed in charge of revenue
and public services.*” The personnel of the Board underwent changes from time
to time, and the Commander of the Troops in the interior was included in
1819 and he became the president of the Board when the Resident’s office was
abolished following D'Oyly’s death in 1824. Other changes, mainly of a judicial
nature, followed the creation of the Board. Sylvester Wilson, the Secretary
of the Board, was appointed the Magistrate of Kandy as well, thereby marking
the beginning of the judicial office that became known as the Sitting Magistrate;
Wright, who relieved Sawers at Badulla, was made the Magistrate in addition
to holding the office of Agent; and subordinate Magistracies were established
at Ratnapura, Batugedera, Kurunegala and Ruanvella,*® mainly in order to
settle land disputes and title to land, which had already begun to consume
the time and energies of the Judicial Commissioner at Kandy and disturb
the Kandyan Department at Colombo. The prinecipal and subordinate chiefs

45. Brownrigg's speech at the audience in Kandy, 20 May 1816, in Bennett, op.cif.,
appendix, p. Ixxix.

46. q. in Pieris, Sinhale and the Pairiots, p. 152.

47. Warrant dated 30 Sept. 1816, Cleylon] Glovernment] Afrchives] 21/145. The warrsut
was read and explained to the chiefs and people af the Audience Hall on 2 Oct. 1816,
proceedings of the Board, 2 Oect. 1816, C.G.A. 21/110. The successors of Gay as

Judicial Commissioner were Edward Tolfrey in 1819, Sawers in 1821, Downing in
1827 and Henry Wright in 1830,

48. Brownrigg to Bathurst, 5 Nov. 1816, C.0. 54 /61,
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continued to exercise judicial functions, and the Board of Commissioners ag
a body was constituted as another court of law. The cecllective Board, with
_ the chiefs associating in the deliberations. effectively replaced the maha naduva
of old. :

It was this machinery that administered Justice until the Rebellion of 1818,
The Rebellion® freed the rulers of the obligation they held for the maintenance
of the customs and institutions of the Kandyans, for the Kandyans had ‘violated’
the Convention. The cautious stance Brownrigg had adopted at the beginning—
only measures which would “‘gradually and insensibly supersede the deep-
rooted prejudices of these people without their perceiving them to be attacked”’
should be considered, he had written in March 1815—3%was abandoned.
Brownrigg now held that it was ‘not imperative . . . to consider the letter of
the articles of that Convention as so completely fottering his measures’ !
The Governor had not viewed the changes introduced in late 1816 ag final,
and indeed had called upon the Board of Commissioners to collect full infor-
mation and report on a more suitable framework for the general administra-
tion and the judiciary of the region.®? The Rebellion intervened before the
Board accomplished this task, but the Governor had no hesitation in embarking
upon reforms.

The reforms the Governor desired were introduced by a lengthy Proclama.-
tion on 21 November 18185 The aims of the Governor in revising the
Kandyan administration were clearly stated to the Secretary of State: ‘to
fortify the hands of British officials appointed to the executive government,
to invest them with the powers of compelling immediate obedience from all
the chiefs and inhabitants to the orders of Government, fixing and collecting
& moderate and legitimate revenue, administering prompt and impartial
justice; and finally to prevent by all possible means the recurrence of such
calamities as have been in theso Provinces. .. In effect, the British were
to be constituted as the ‘real organs of power’ and the Kandyan chiefs were
to be transformed ‘from an aristocratic faction to the rank and office of stipen-
diary organs for effecting the regulations and orders of the Supreme executive
Authority’* Brownrigg was not aiming at a complete overthrow of the
existing administrative structure—he lacked the conviction and the means

489. On the Rebsllion see, Pieris, Sinhale and the Patriots.

50. Brownrigg to Bathurst, 15 March 1815, C.0, 54 /65,

51. Brownrigg to Board, 26 Sept. 1818, C.0. 54/73.

52, Brownrigg to Bathurst, 8 July 1817, C.0. 54 /66.

§3. For the text see, Skeen, op.cil., i, 223-228. In the Kandyan Provinces, the Governor -
held supreme legislative power, delegated informally by the Crown, and enacted
laws by means of Proclamations and Minutes, No prerogative mstrument was issued
for the governance of the region until 1831, when the Royal Instructions to the new:
Governor, Sir Robert Wilmot Horton, extended the powers of the council to include
the Kandyan Provinces, ’

. Brownrigg to Bathurst, § Jan. 1819, €.0. 54/73.

bid.; Brownrigg to Board, 25 Sept. 1818, C.0. 54/73,
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for such an endeavour—but a modification by means of change and substitu-
tion to suit the new realities of Kandyan polities. The interlacing of Kandyan
and British forms. towards which British judicial policy in Kandy was gradually
but surely evolving, was to achieve its final shape with this modification.

When the changes were mooted, the Board of Commissioners expressed
its disagreement with the Governor’s intention of stripping the chiefs of their
judicial powers. 1t asserted that chiefs would not be able to wield their authority
properly without the backing of judicial powers, and feared that the Agents,
who now emerged as the principal judicial authority in the districts, would
not be able to deal with all the judicial matters that would arise in their exten-
sive areas of rule.”® But, the Governor, now convinced beyond doubt of the
dangers inherent in the maintenance of the powers of the chiefs, disregarded
the submissions of the Board. Under the changes introduced, the Adigars
continued to function as the highest judicial offieials within the local officialdom,
but with severely restricted powers. They held a civil jurisdietion over the
people who were subjected to their peeuliar anthority, and over other deserip-
tions of people determined by the Governor (an extension which was never
granted), and could ‘punish disobedience of their Orders and Petty Offences
by inflicting Corporal Punishment not exceeding Forty Strokes with the
open Hand or Twenty Five with a Rattan on the Back, or by awarding Imprison-
ment for a term not exceeding Fourteen Days’. The Disavas and subordinate
officials like Mohottalas (Mohattirala), Liyanaralas (Liyane Aracei) and
Korales (Koralé) retained a civil jurisdiction of a minor nature, with powers of
punishment of seven day’s imprisonment or twenty five strokes with the open
hand in the case of Disavas and three day’s imprisonment or ten strokes in
the case of the latter. Unlike under the Kings, these several chiefs were not
given cognizance over Moors and non-Kandyans, who were now subject to the
Agents alone, and were prohibited from accepting the judicial fees (bulat
surulla) they were entitled to under the old order, a decision which was received
with particular disfavour.” Moreover, no chief could exercise any judicial or
executive power without holding & letter of appointment issued by the govern-
ment, and the honours which the chiefs were to receive were laid down in
minute detail. In all matters, those who appeared before the chiefs had a right
of appeal either to the Agents or the Judicial Commissioner, while these British
officials had the power to refer cases to the chiefs, who however could only
hear and report but not decide in such instances.

56. Procesdings of the Board, 26 Oct. 1818, C,0, 54/73.

57. Marshall, op.cit., p. 175. Dakwm too were abolished excepting in the case of the
religious functionaries. The Chisfs now received a salary and exemptions from certain
taxes.
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Above the Adigars were the Agents of Government. After the Rebellion,
following the precedent established in Uva, Agents were sent out to the out-
lying districts of the Provinces, and to them the Board of Commissioners
delegated the exercise of broad executive (mainly relating to revenue duties)
and judicial powers. Thus, there were Agents at Badulla for Uva (now including
Bintenna), at Kurunegala for Seven Korales (including northern Nuvara-
kaliviya), at Ratnapura for Sabaragamuva, and at Ruvanvella for Three
Kgralés. The districts lying in close proximity to Kandy were placed under
the direct administration of the Board, but in some of these Agencies were
set up to function under the Board. Thus, there were Agents at Matalé town
for Matalé and the eastern parts of N uvarakalaviya, at Fort King for Four
Koralés and at Madawalatenna for Harispattu and Tumpané. Agents were
also appointed with specifically judicial powers for Kurunegala and for Lower
Uva and Vellassa, with subordinate Agents at Attapitiya in the Four Koralss
and at Nalanda in Matals.®®

The Agents held two distinet kinds of jurisdiction. When sitting alone
they could hear and determine civil cases arising in their respective districts
wherein the object in dispute was not land and the value of which did not
exceed fifty rix dollars, and criminal cases of an inferior nature. The powers of
punishment were limited to a fine not exceeding twenty five rix dollars, thirty
strokes with a rattan and imprisonment with or without hard labour up to
two months.” In the trial of non-Kandyans, the Agents were empowered to
dispense with the assessors. When sitting with assessors the jurisdiction of the
Agents was limited only by the authority given to the Judicial Commissioner
and the Board of Commissioners to hear suits of particular deseription: treason,
murder, and homicide and all cases wherein a superior chief was the defen-
dent. To suit the wide jurisdiction, the Agents were given extensive powers of
punishment—'‘any Punishment short of Death, or mutilation of Limb or
Member'—but their decisions were subject to appeal to the Judicial Commis-
sioner and the Board when they concerned a dispute of the value of one hundred
rix dollars or over. And, where the majority of the assessors—who numbered
two or more—differed in opinion from the Agent at the termination of a suit,
the proceedings of that suit were to be transferred to the Judicial Commissioner’s
Court, Apart from the appeal procedure, the centre exercised a supervision over

58. C.0. 416/19-GB; Report of W. M. G, Colebroocke upon the Administration of the
Government of Ceylon, dated 24 Dec. 1831, P.P.1831/32 XX XTI (274), 13. Colebrooke
was Cameron’s fellow commissioner.

59. Whipping as a mode of punishment generally seemed to have been directed only
for ‘ignomous offencus’, and chiefs were usually not subject to it. Evidence of Bone,
8 Oct. 1828, C.0. 416/19-G6; evidence of Crippo, Agent for Seven Kéralés, C.0. 416/
19-G6.
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the Agents in their judicial functions by requiring the maintenance and the
submission of diaries of proceedings, both in civil and criminal matters, at
regular intervals 5

The jurisdiction and powers of punishment of the minor judicial Agents
were similar to those held by the principal Agents when they sat alone. The
creation of these offices was moved by the need to relieve the Agents in the
larger districts, whose revenue duties in particular had become heavy.5!

The Sitting Magistrate’s Court at Kandy too was established under special
circumstances. The population of Kandy. though subject to fluctuations,
tended to increase after the conquest, and in the town and its environs a rising
number of brawls and petty disputes began to be recorded.® The Sitting Magis-
tracy was set up with thisin mind, but its jurisdiction was not limited to Kandy
alone; Udunuvara, Dumbara, parts of Hévahata, Udapalata, Kotmale and
upper Bulatgama also came under it. The Sitting Magistrate was given the
power to hear and determine all civil cases wherein the object in dispute was
not land and the value of which did not exceed three hundred rix dollars and
all eriminal cases of an inferior nature. Two limitations, however. were imposed,
No description of suits reserved for the higher courts could be entertained;
and, where a Kandyan was the defendant and where the dispute exceeded
hundred rix dollars in value, the defendant could request the transfer of the
suit to the Judicial Commissioner’s Court. The Sitting Magistrate acted alone
until assessors were introduced into his court too by a Proclamation on 28
August 1829. The power of punishment and procedure of appeal of this court
were similar to those prescribed for the Agents’ Courts.%?

The Judicial Commissioner was the central figure in the judicial adminis-
tration of the Kandyan territory. He acted in two distinct capacities. As the
holder of the executive office of Judicial Commissioner, he was responsible
to the Board of Commissioners, the supreme executive and judicial authority
in the interior, for the maintenance of the judicial machinery in operation.
In his capacity as a judge, he held original judicial and appellate powers and
exercised a ‘general superintendance’ over the proceedings of the subordinate
courts of law, charged with the duty of bringing to the notice of the Governor

60. Clauses 35. 38, 39, 44 and 45 of the Proclamation of 21 Nov. 1818, 8keen, op.cit., i,
226-228; Clause 9 of the Convention, ibid., 181; evidence of Downing, 12 Sept. 1829,
C.0. 416,/19-G4; evidence of Bone, 8§ Aug. 1829, C.0. 416/19-G6; evidence of Taylor,
Agent for Four Koralés, 10 Sept. 1829, .0. 416,19-G6.

61, Evidence of Downing, 12 Sept. 1829, C.O. 416/19-G4; evidence of Douglas, Agent
for Uva, 18 Sept. 1829, C.0. 416/19-G6.

B2. This factor drew D’Oyly’s early attention. See, citation in rote 13 above. Captain
Wynn, the Sitting Magistrate, stated in 1829 that the most common offences brought
before the court sinee its establishment were breaches of peace, C.0. 416/19-Gb.
The population of Kandy was assessed in 1821 at 3,000, J. Davy, An Account of the
Interior of Ceylon and its Inhabitants (London, 1821), p. 17,

63. Evidence of Wynn, 26 Sept. 1829, (.O. 416/19-G5.
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‘any irregularity or illegal exercise of authority’ by them. As a eourt of first
instanece, when constituted without the assessors, Court could hear and deter-
mine all civil cases in which the matter in digpute did not exceed one hundred
rix dollars in value and in which land was not a subject of dispute and all
criminal cases of an inferior description, with powers of punishment similar
to those held by the Agents when sitting alone. When constituted with the
assessors—ivho like in the Agents’ Courts were to be two or more in number—
the Court had cognizance over all other civil and criminal cases. Tn particular,
it had jurisdiction over the superior chiefs as well as over capital offences.
In ordinary civil and eriminal cases the Court could mete out any punishment
short of death and mutiliation, and where the cases concerned a capital
offence, it conld only report on the defendant’s guilt and the suitable mode of
punishment to the Governor for deeision through the Board. As an appellate
body, the Judicial Commissioner’s Court could either give its verdict on the
proceedings of the lower court or send for parties and witnesses for re-hearing
or else return the case fo the Acents’ Courts for speeific directions. The appellate
authority for the Judicial Commissioner’s Court was the Governor. Appeals
wera restricted to decisions taken on cases wherein the object in dispute was
land or personal property over the value of one hundred and fifty rix dollars.
The Governor was to dispose of the appeals ‘in correspondence with the Board
of Commissioners according to Justice’. The Proclamation of 21 November
1818 also declared that where there were disagreements between the Judicial
Commissioner and the assessors at the termination of suits, the proceedings
be transferred to the eolloctive Board for decision and report to the Governor.5

This new machinery administered justice in the interior until 1833 when
the Charter of Justice of that year drafted by Cameron introduced radical
changes. The modification of the traditional structure undertaken in 1818 was
moved by the immediate need to entrust to the British officials a personal
control and authority over the judicature, with the belief that English forms
were superior to the Kandyan underlying the measures, The new machinery
was necessarily an outecome of a compromise between the indigenous and the
foreign. and—as it was inevitable in a compromise of any sort—soon began
to show a multitude of contradictions and defects in its working,

The first—and a cardinal—English principle compromised was the
separation of judicial from executive duties. In nineteenth century colonial
administration it was only rarely that the British were able to afford the luxury
of different personnel for executive and for judicial functions, Officials in the
Kandyan Provinees, like elsewhere in the empire, combined in their person

64, Clauses 35-37, 39, 40, 42, 44, 45 and 51 of the Proclamation of 21 Nov. 1818, Bkeen.
op.cit,, i, 226-228; evidence of Downing, 12 Sept. 1820, C.O. 416/19-G4; evidence of
Wright, C.0. 416/19-G4; evidence of MacPreston, Agent for Harispattu, 25 Sept.
1829, C.0. 416/19-G6.
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both executive and judicial powers. As far as the British officialdom was
concerned, those who wielded judicial powers fell inwo two categories. The
majority of the officials were regular army officers who held the military
command in their respective districts. With the preoccupation of the govern-
ment with security, this was understandable.®® A further consideration seemed
to have carried weight: economy. Army officers, it was stated, ‘discharged
the civil duties upon Salaries which the Civil Servants would not consider
adequate for themselves'.®® As the Governor was the Commander-in-chief
of the forces in Ceylon, both in their civil and military duties these military
men were ultimately answerable to one authority. The second category com-
prised of civil servants. The employment of eivil servants was justified on
entirely different grounds. By their normal executive and revenue work they
alone acquired a knowledge of the customs and institutions of the people,
and-—ags John Millar, who was often cited authoritatively in Ceylon on judieial
matters, stated— familiarity with the manners, laws and customs of the
country are unquestionably the primary qualifications in a judge'.®” The civil
servants too were under the orders of the Governor, and consequently all
judicial officials in the interior, in Captain Wynn's words, held office ‘during
the Governor’s pleasure’.®® The Governor does not seem to have interfered
with the normal process of law in these courts, but as the Judicial Commis-
sioner once admitted, there were occeasions, involving cases which touched
upon securily or rights of state, where he established guide lines for the presid-
ing officials.® The relationship between the Governor and the judicial officials
was later condemned by Cameron as ‘mcompatible with a proper degree of
judicial independence’.”

The traditional officialdom had invariably combined judicial, police,
revenue and military duties in the exercise of powers, and later British writers
found the judicial proceedings of the British officials in Kandy meeting with

65. The importance of the security factor was exemplified in ihe appointment of the
Commander of the Troops in the interior to the Board of Commissioners. In 1830,
the following Agentships were held by military men: Uva and Bintenna. Three
Korales, Four Koralés, Matale, Harispattu and Tumpansd, Hévahata and Lower
Uva and Vellassa. The Sitting Magistrate and the Judicial Agent at Kurunegala
too were military men. Colebrooke’s Report upon the Administration, P.P. 1831/32,
XXXIT (274), 29-30.

66. Report of W. M. G. Colebrooke upon the Establishment and Expsnditure of Ceylon,
dated 28 May 1832, C.0. 54/122. The army officers received no special pay for holding
civil offiee, but were allowed generous island allowances. The saving the government
realized by employing military men was not considerable, but nevertheless would
have been of value in view of the chronic deficit it faced in its finances,

67. On the Administration of Justice in the British Colontes of the East Indies (Loadon,
1828), p. 22.

68, (.0, 416/19-G5.

69, e.g. The trial of the Pretender after the Rebellion of 1818, evidence of Wright, C.0.
416/19-Gi4,

70. Cameron’s Report, P.P. 1831/32, XXXII (274), 57.
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‘unqualified praise from the highest legal authority’.” The Agents do not
seem to have viewed the combination of diverse duties a hinderance to the
proper discharge of any of their funetions.” The Judicial Commissioner for
one, complained that the maintenance of judicial machinery in operation,
handicapped by lack of adequate staff, was a difficult task for him.” Evidence
also suggests that in the case of Agents the unification of executive and judicial
duties had unfavourable consequences. 1t was inevitable that the Agents would
determine the sittings of their courts not according to the convenience of the
suitors but according to the requirements of their manifold duties,”* and the
considerable delays that characterised the judicial administration in the interior
was no doubt a result of this.”

Although the constitution and powers of courts of law and judicial officers
were stipulated in the Proclamation of 21 November 1818, no guide lines
were established to regulate their proceedings and ensure the maintenance
of uniformity in their conduct. Kandyan judicial system had no mode of
procedure in the English sense of the word. The Commission of Eastern Enquiry
reflocted the opinion of British officials when it declared that ‘the arhitary
power of a King” was the sole determinant in procedure of Kandyan tribunals.”
Formal rules were drafted by the British in 1819.77 These, however, were
stated in only very broad terms, and did not extend to criminal proceedings,
and were not effectually enforced. Furthermore, the traditional hierarchy
retained was exempt from them. According to the Sitting Magistrate, no court
could deviate from these and frame its own set of rules without the express
sanction of the Governor,” but in practice the officials seemed to have had
a free hand. The search of the British officials for a regular and formal proce-
dural method did not take them far. The Judicial Commissioner adopted

71. J. Steuart, Nates on Ceylon and its Affairs (London, 1862), p. 5. See also, Hayley,
op.cit., p. 12.

72. e.g. Evidence of MacPreston, 25 Sept. 1829, C.0, 416/19-G6.

73. Tolfrey to Lusignan, 24 July 1820, C.GLA. 23/24.

74. The Judicial Commissioner’s Court met every day excepting on Mondays, Wednes-
days and Fridays when the Board was summoned, svidence of Downing, 12 Sept.
1829, C.0. 416/19-G4. The Agent for Sabaragamuva held his court every day between
1 and 6 p.m. if revenue and other business did not intervene, with civil and criminal
cases being taken up on alternate days, an arrangement which was adopted by
most Ageuts, C.0. 416/19-G6. Only the Agent for Four Koralés reportedly gave
particular congsideration to litigants, shifting his eourt from time to time to small
towns 14 and 24 miles away from his seat. Fort King, to hear suits arising in the
Tespective areas.

756. Delays were considerable though the Governor had ruled that distinet #and prompt
answers should be given to every application for justice. Colebrooke to Wynn,
118ept. 1829, C.0. 416/1,

76. Colebrooke and Cameron to Murray, 23 Nov. 1830, C.0, 54/121. On Kandyan proce-
dure see, D'Ovly, op.cit., pp. 29-31.

77. See, Instructions for the guidance of the Judicial Commissioner and all Agents of
Government as to the mode of proceedings in civil suits, 6 Oct. 1819, C.0. 416/19-G4,

78. C.O. 416/19-G5.
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English rules of evidence in both civil and criminal proceedings, and so did
the Agents,” though Douglas, the Agent for Uva, makes the surprising reve-
lation that he followed in his court ‘much the same form’ as in Dutch courte
of law. In the Maritime Provinces, Dutch rules had continued to be operative
under British rule, but by now they had certainly been superseded by English
forms.®® Douglas felt that the elaborate English rules were not suitable for
application among the Kandyans, whose traditional mode of judicial adminis-
tration was admittedly simple, and wag attracted to the far simpler Duth forms.®’
Although English rules of evidence were in force in Kandy, they were not
formally adopted by the government, which made Cameron later to recommend
that ‘certainty and authority be given to these rules by express enactment’.%

It was obvious that English rules could not be practised in an inflexible
manner. Hssential provisions of the English system had to be disregarded.
For example, in the absence of a public prosecutor, it was left to the judge
himself to conduet the prosecution.® Perhaps to the average Kandyan litigant
this was no great drawback, for the traditional system made no fine distinetion
between the judge and the prosecutor, but the British themselves acknowledged
that there were undesirable results. The Cominission of Eastern Enquiry,
which observed the proceedings of a trial in the Judicial Commissioner’s Court
before assessors, wrote that ‘the union of [these] incompatible functions
[in the Judicial Commisgioner] was calculated to produce an undue bias on
his mind, as well as on that of the assessors’.® On a separate occasion, the
Judieial Commissioner admitted that the appointment of a public prosecutor
would be beneficial, ‘by tending to preserve the mind of the Judge free from
any bias, and to relieve him from some trouble and responsibility in the Execu-
tion of his Office’.®> Other strictures followed. The commission noted that the
Judicial Commissioner. not being a lawyer, tended to ignore the rules of evidence
avowedly accepted by him. The admission of hearsay evidence in particular
was singled out for condemnation. In the Vilbavé trial, ‘the quantity of hearsay
evidence which was received against [the accused] must have had a very

79, Evidence of Downing, 12 Sept. 1820, C.0. 416/19-CG4; evidence of Turnour, Revenue
Commissioner, C.0. 416/19-CGt 11,

80. Evidence of Sir Richard Ottley, Chiel Justice, C.0, 416/16-F41.

81, C.0. 416./19-G6. On the view that Kandyan procedure was simple see, Marshall,
op.cit., p 40.

82. Cameron’s memo., 1| May 1832, C.0. 54/121.

83. Only gn revenue cases brought before-a court was there a separate prosecutor, the
Revenue Commissioner. Few such cases have been recorded, no doubt because the
Agents in their eapacity as revenue officials held discretionary powers to arrest ena
detain revenue defaulters umtil the government’s elaims were satisfied, Evidence of
Downing, 12 Sept. 1829, C.0. 416/19-G4.

84. Colebrooke and Cameron to Murray, 23 Nov. 1830, C.0. 54/121. The trial referred to
was that of Vilbavé, an alleged conspirator of the 1818 Rebellion. for treason in
July 1830. Among the assessors were the First and Second Adigars.

85. Evidence of Wright, C.0. 416,/19-G4.,
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unfavourable effect upon the minds of the assessors, passing as it did for legal
evidence, and it is impossible to say how far this opinion [of guilt] was founded
upon such heargay a[nd] how far it was founded upon the legal evidence
adduced’.® The Commission concluded that the very fact that these devia-
tions had been made showed that English rules were not applicable to the
case in the first place,

Although English rules of procedure were followed, the law applied was the
traditional law of the Kandyans. This of course was bound to giveriseto contra-
diction. At Vilbavé's trial, ‘the indictment seems to have been framed and the
proceedings . . . would appear to have been conducted according to English
rules of procedure and evidence, yet the substantive law administered was
professedly Kandyan’. In point of fact, as the commission observed, ‘there
being no Kandyan law applicable to the case, and His Majesty not having
thought fit to enact such Law, the Prisoner we conceive could only be punished
by the exercise of that discretion which was rested in the Native Sovereign
of Kandy’.%” At one of the first trials for treason held under the British, the
assessors had asserted much the same view: the King alone could determine
the punishment for treason and in the absence of the King the Governor
should exercise the prerogative.®® The Governor could, if he strictly adhered
to the customs of the Kingdom, as assessors associated with another treason
trial pointed out, punish with death not only the plotters directly involved
but also the people under their authority.** Obviously eircumstances. and
certainly inclination, would have prevented the Governor from playing the
role of the King demanded of him in judicial proceedings. More so because it
was abundantly clear that the King's prerogative of punishment covered a
wide area.”®

The difficulties of the British stemmed from the state of the Kandyan
law at the conquest. It was ‘a common law in the strictest sense. It was contained
in'no book; it was almost untouched by legislation: it acknowledged no judicial
decisions’® It certainly lacked ‘rigour’, the virtue which the British valued
so much in jurisprudence. The Kandyan law emphasised instead the ‘situational
aspects of any particular case’, ecombining it with legal prineiples; Kandyan
courts ‘did not give judgement on the interpretation of the rules per se’.?

86. Colebrooke sand Cameron to Murray, 23 Nov. 1830, C.0. 54/121. Vilbavé was found
guilty by the court, but was freed cn the recommendations of the Governor and the
commission of inguiry.

87. ibid.; Colebrooks and Cameron to Howick, 12 Sept. 1831, €,0. 54/121.

88. Trial of Madugalle, 15 Sept. 1816, in Pieris. Sinkale and the Patriots, pp. 140-144,

89, The King v. Degandeniya Aratchi, et.al., 24 May 1823, C.G.A. 23/46.

90. TIn the frial of a easte murder, the Board found that ‘Law has not fixed any specific
Punishment for the erime of a murder a[nd] that it has always been punished aceord-
ing to the pleasure of the King, proceedings 25 Oct. 1816, C.G.A. 21/109.

91. Hayley, op.cit., p. 12,

92. G. Obeysekera, Land Tenure in Village Coylon (Cambridge, 1967), pp. 48-49.
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As Forbes, the Agent for Matalé, perceptively observed, the essential characteris-
tics of the Kandyan law were the ‘demigeneral principles of equity, made to
suit the intricate system of society and applied according to eircumstances
of each case’.”® The regional variations in the law,** which often mystified
the early British officials in the interior, was no doubt an outcome of the
application of the situational concept.

In the absence of a written law, the British were forced to depend from
the beginning on ‘expounders of law’: assessors. Theofficials, however, embarked
upon the study of Kandyan customs and institutions. It was D’Oyly who gave
the lead. More formally, the Board of Commissioners decided in November
1818 that each member should prepare memoranda on ‘the institutions, cus-
toms, feelings and prejudices of the Kandyan paople’.” The task was formi-
dable. Only D’Oyly and Sawers produced any results, which were by no means
comprehensive, but their accomplishments cannot be belittled on that count.
D’Oyly’s contribution was an unfinished compilation, which Sawers later
annotated; this was subsequently published as A Skefch of the Constilution
of the Kandyan Kingdom. Sawers’ was a less ambitious attempt, “On the Kand-
yvan Law of Inheritance, Marriage, Slavery ote.’® To these should be added
a separate work, Turnour’s ‘Report on the District of Sabaragamuwa’ dated
18 June 1824.°7 The compilations of D'Oyly and Sawers were not formally
adopted by the government, but they were often referred to ‘in aiding it to
form a judgement in cases which are affected’. The Judicial Commissioner
declared that when not ‘counter balanced by other considerations of greater
weight, he considered himself bound to accept them as the Law of the Land’ i
The Agents too seemed to have followed a similar course. D'Oyly and Sawers
were soon being cited authoritatively against the assessors,” and later even
the Supreme Court, after its jurisdiction was extended to the interior by the
Charter of Justice of 1833, accepted them in forming its judgements.'®

The compilations were a major step taken by the British to give the
Kandyan law the systematic rigour it lacked. Perhaps, far more important
in changing the character of the laws were the judicial decisions of the officials;

93, C.0.416/19-G6.
94, Turnour, for example, diseovered that lawe in respect of widows in Sabaragamuva
differed widely from the other regions. S8es, Report on the Dietrict of Babaragamuwa,
18 June 1824, C.O. 416/20-G16.
95. Hayley, op.cit. p. 13. .
96. C.0. 416/19-G2. Sawers’ ‘Memoranda and Notes’, which came to be known as Sawers’
Digest of Kandyan Law, have been printed in D’Oyly, op.cit., pp. 66-67 and 109-132.
97. €.O. 416/20-G16.
98. Bvidence of Wright, C.0. 416/19-G4. For Agents’ Courts see, evidence of Forbes
of Matale, C.0. 416/19-G6: evidence of Wynn, 26 Sept. 1828, C.0. 416/19-G5.
99, o.z. Bogahalandegedere Yahapat Efena ». Idemegedere Punchiralla, 26 Feb. 1829,
C.G.A. 23/24.
100. (1}83;.&1'3}1311,6 Judgements and Other Decisions of the Supreme Court of Ceylon (Paris,
)» p. 366.
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D’Oyly’s and Sawers’ compilations not heing printed, it was hardly likely
that they were available with every official.’® As the Kandyan Law Commis-
sion declared in the following century, ‘the minute of proceedings of the Board
of Commissioners from 1816 to 1833 constitute almost the first written
records of the principles governing the customary and traditional law [of the
Kandyans] as far as could be ascertained at the time’.!”? Equally important
were the legal enactments issued by the Governor from time to time, which
either stated more explicitly or modified the traditional law, or introduced
new concepts. It was inevitable that the officials would look towards English
law for guidance, especially where they felt that the customary law was ‘silent
or defective’.'®® Forbes of Matalé reflected the attitude of officials to the
customary law when he declared that ‘I consider Kandian laws regarding debt-
ness to be of such a nature that it would be unworthy of, and degrading to a
British Government to follow them'.'™ Underlying the critical attitude was
the belief that ‘the chain of custom. fixed for centuries, prevent[s] all progress,
and keepls] the people stationary...'% Admittedly there were major
difficulties in giving the law a charaecter it did not possess. The inheritance law,
for example, which eontributed to subdivision and fragmentation of land and
consequently became a fertile source of litigation, was declared an ‘evil’ by
the British, but as the Judicial Commissioner pointed out, its revision was
no easy task because ‘it is so intimately connected with the ancient customs
and usages of the People’.!% The officials nevertheless worked towards the
transformation. The very same Forbes who was so perceptive to the special
quality of the Kandyan law, did not hesitate to announce that it should be
‘modelled for expediency as regards the Government’.'”” The view that the
assimilation of the laws to the English laws was ‘beneficial’ recurs ever so often
in the records of the officials. But, there were dissenters. Turnour, a ‘native-
welfare conscious official’,'® was a case in point. Others, decidedly less sympa-
thetic towards the Kandyans, argued on different lines. Bone held the view
that English laws were ‘too refined and indulgent a nature for a people posses-
sing such powers of dissimulation, as many of the more depraved of the Kand-

101. Forbes of Matals in fact admitted that he had not seen the compilations, C.0, 416/
19-C26,

102, Sessional Paper, XXIV of 1935, 3.

103, Evidence of Wynn, 26 Sept. 1829, C.0. 416/19-G5.

104. C.0. 416/19-G 3. These laws, it is worthy of notice. were virtually annulled by Gover-
nor's Minute of 15 April 1822, ibid.

10&. Davy, op.cit., p. 327,

106. C.0. 416/19-G4. The subdivision of land cansed grave concern among the British.
‘The Minute division of real property’, Taylor of Four Kéralés wrote. ‘has produced
a pauper class of proprietors whose land in good seasons barely produce rice suffi-
cient for their consumption’, C.0. 416 /19-G6.

107, C.0. 416/19-G6. "

108. Cameron to Hay, 1 May 1832, C.0. 54/121, For Turnour’s views on changes in the
laws see, C.0. 416/20-G11.
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yans not infrequently render them subservient to offences they were intended
to arrest’.'® Yet, the process of change continued unabated and by 1830
it had gone so far that the Judicial Commissioner was able to assert that laws
of the Kandyans did not differ very materially from those of the littoral as
they have been ‘modified and mixed up with our own jurisprudence’.!'®
The criminal law in particular was greatly superseded. “Very few of the Kandyan
criminal laws are now in force’, Bone noted in 1829, ‘and those may be
comprised under the head of slander and abuse of caste’.!!! Some laws were
occasionally resuscitated. Thus, Turnour observed that the double restitution
of property for theft was enforced.!'? The changes on the civil side was not
considerable; according to Turnour, it was not usual to disturb civil laws
where the chiefs were found to have supported them unanimously. Changes
introduced in civil laws were mainly in respoct of land.!

Although the British tended to consciously change the character of the
customary law by judicial decisions and legal enactments, they nevertheless
displayed an ambivalence which they never succeeded in resolving satis-
factorily. The ambivalence emerged most clearly in their attitude towards
caste. Caste was a central force in the traditional socialstructure. ‘Casteaffected
marriage, could not be lost merely by marriage with a slave, might even affoct
the stability of illicit relations between sexes, affected succession to property,
could, if subjected to imputation by a slanderer, give rise to a right to damages,
and finally influence the type of punishment that might be awarded for an
offence’.!™ The values of the caste system were alieon to the concepts of social
order and justice the British had known at home, and not surprisingly were
viewed as ‘very detrimental to the introduction of improvement’ among
the people.'® Yet, it was felt that caste was too deeply ingrained in society
to be eradicated by the precipitate action of the government. While taking
the stand that ‘every encouragement should be given to gradual encroach-
ments on that prejudice’,''® expediency dictated that they should accept,
indeed adhere to, caste distinctions in their administrative, economic and

109. .0, 416/19-G6.

110. C.0.416/19-G4.

111. C.0. 416/19-G8. e.g. Infanficide (Proclamation of 25 Sept. 1821), putting to death
for easte violation (Proclamation of 8 Jan. 1821), and death by drowning for womnen
a8 & mode of punishment (Proclamation of 23 March 1826), swere sbolishad.

112, C.0. 416/20.G11.

113. e.g. Preseription fixed ab 20 years uniil Sept. 1519 and thereafter at 10 years (Pro-
clamation of 18 Sept. 1829): defining and limiting the right of re-purchasing of lands
sold (Proclamation of 14 July 1821); requiring the attestation of 2 witnesses for
bequest of property (Proclamation of 28 Oct. 1820). In 1829, with considerable
pride Forbes declared that ‘liberty and security of property’ had been secured by the
British, .0. 416 /19-G8. :

114. J. D. M. Derrett, “The Origins of the Laws of the Kandyans', University of Ceylon
Review, XIV (1956), 138, c.f. Hayley. op.cit., pp. 115-185; 175-176 and 495,

115. Taylor to commissioners, 10 Sept. 1829, C.0. 416-19/G6.

116. dbid,
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judicial policies. In appointing chiefs and headmen caste distinctions were
scrupulously followed and rdjakariya according to caste was continued without
change."” More significantly, caste was recognised in the administering of
justice. The Judicial Commissioner wrote: ‘T consider rules of caste a matter
of law of which T am bound to take judicial notice and on which to decide,
whether of my knowledge without evidence, or brought before me in pleading
or in evidence by any party in a civil siit’."*® This was the practice adopted
by the Agents too. As the Judicial Commissioner observed, in reply to a query
of Captain Mylaws of the Three Koralds, ‘all classes of people are bound to
adhere to ancient usages and customs of their respective castes unless specially
exempted by Government and are of course liable to punishment for any
breach of their observance’. The Commissioner, however, added that ‘in enfor-
cing these usages . .. care should be taken that the higher castes are not endea.-
vouring to exact distinctions they are not legally authorized to do as it is not
either the interest or wish of government to hold the lower castes in a more
degraded state than the laws and customs of the country absolutely require’.!®
The qualifying statement of the Commissioner amply brought out the dilemma
and the dangers the British faced in associating themselves with the mainte-
nance of customs and institutions with which they had only a nodding acquain-
tance. Although the British took judicial notice of caste, they did not fail to
observe that there was ‘no pattern of crime’ according to caste, and rejected
caste distinctions in handing out punishments.'*® Moreover, they realised
that while social forces active in certain regions strengthened caste prejudices,
in other regions they were ‘in a state of rapid and progressive decay’ (a process
they wished to encourage) and were ‘only upheld by direct interference’ of the
government,.'?!

The dependence of the British officials in judicial proceedings on the
assessors as ‘expounders of law’ was fraught with problems. ‘Knowledgeable
chiefs’ had been consulted by the British from the very beginning of their rule
in the interior. In the tribunals Brownrigg held after the conquest, he called

117, Bee, Samarawsera, op.cif., pp. 101-102 and 220-224.

118. Evidence of Wright, C.0. 416/19-G4. Since there were no written records relating
to caste, the officials generally depended on assessor: to determine caste of litiganta,
and at times obtained guidance from ‘the common consent of the people’, Tenure of
land too was recognised as a pointer, whils a child was always held to be of the
caste of the mother. As an example of a judicial decision which followed customs
relating to casfe see, Ekenegedere Dingiri Menike ». Udagodere late Korale Aratchi,
19 Dec. 1829, C.0. 416,/20-G28, where the Judicial Commissioner determined that a
goyigama woman who married a Moor lost her caste status, and thercby became
incapable of inheriting the estate of her parents.

119. Downing to Mylaws, 2 Jan. 1829, C.0. 416/19-G6.
120. BEvidence of Downing, 12 Sept. 1829, C.0. 416/19-G4,

121. Evidence of Forbes of Matalg, 0.0. 416/19-G6, Taylor of Four Koralés held that
‘caste is more strictly followed in this district than in other Kandysn Provinces’,
Taylor to commigsioners, 10 Sept. 1829, C.O. 416/19-G6.
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upon a number of chiefs to assist him by expounding the customs and laws,
and he later publicly paid a glowing tribute to their ability.'® Thereafter,
they were consulted by the Resident, and later by the Board of Commissioners,
to decide upon judicial matters, particularly disputes relating to land, as well
as on occasion in the formulation of the administrative policies.'” A formal
and explicit status was accorded to them in judicial proceedings by the Pro-
clamation of 21 November 1818. Initially only Adigars, Disavas and Mohot-
tales were permitted to hold assessorships. Having discovered that superior
chiefs were not always available in many regions, the government decided in
1829 to extend the privilege to other chiefs and to ‘natives oqual by family
connexion to chiefs actually in office’.® Since the higher echelons of local
offices were invariably held by the goyigama. this meant that assessorships
too became the monopoly of this caste. Captain Law of the Four Koralés in
fact observed that ‘it is indispensable that [assessors] should be of Ratta
li.e. goyigama] Caste’; and, the goyigama were declared competent to decide
legal questions involving all castes without exception.'®® This restriction of
assessorships was often criticised. The views of the crities were summed up
by Cameron when he observed that assessors were chosen from ‘too small a
class and not from that class which is best adapted to the purpose’; further,
‘they cannot be regarded as fair representatives of the community’.*® Assessor
system as such was greatly valued,'” but the work of the assessors then
employed was denigrated. They were found to be ignorant of the customs
and laws they were required to expound—far worse, ‘this ignorance was
rather put forward by them as matter of boast, and . . . they considered the
removal of it by study and reflection as a drudgery very unworthy of their
condition’.!?® Many of the customs and laws were capable of various construc-
tions, and conflicting opinions were stated by the assessors. Clearly in such
instances, the opinions were formed ‘according to their respective views of the
merits or influenced sometimes by impure or partial motives'. The Judicial
(fommissioner held that the opportunities assessors had of ‘perversion’ of
customs and laws were limited, for ‘some of these laws . . .are so certain and
immutable as to be generally acknowledged and acted upon as the law of the
land.”™ Furthermore, the Board of  ommissioners and the Governor from
time to time assembled the leading chiefs to ascertain their collective opinion,

122. See his speech at the audience, 20 May 1816, in Bennett, op.cit., appendix. p. lxxix.
123. Proceedings of the Board, 2 and 7 Oct. 1816, C.G.A. 21/110.

124, Proclamation of 8 Aug. 1829, Ceylon Government Gazetie, 29 Aug. 1829,

125. (.0. 416/19-G6.

126. Cameron’s Report, P.P. 1831/32 XXXII (274), 70.

127, Forbes ‘preferred having the opinion and reasons of intelligent assessors to the irres.
ponsible view of a jury’, €.0. 416/19-G6.

128. Cameron’s Report, P.P. 1831/32, XXXII (274), 70,
129, Bvidence of Wright, C.0, 416/19-G4,
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thereby establishing a code covering laws on which conflicting opinions could
be stated.®® Yet, throughout the period under review the British found the
assessors indispensable in their judicial administration. The dependence of the
reffers upon the local hierarchy was increased by the need they felt to call upon
their services to act as interpreters of evidence and translators of documents
in courts of law.'3! Despite the obvious advantages in learning the language
of the ruled—exemplified in D’'Oyly’s career—and the frequently expressed
view that a knowledge of the language was ‘abundantly useful and bene-
ficial in facilitating the despatch of judicial business of the Courts’,'® very
few officials acquired a competency in Sinhala.

What emerges forcefully from the evidence available is that British officials
adopted a surprisingly varied number of practices in their judicial proceedings.
The absence of a written law and an explicitly stated procedural method.
the uneven quality of the expounders of law, the employment of different
categories of officials with varied backgrounds and training, and the pressure
of other duties, could not have produced any uniformity. The appellate system,
which could have heen & medium to impose uniformity, was albeit ineffectual
for that purpose. There was no appeal in criminal matters; the reference of the
punishments to the Governor was viewed as an adequate safeguard. In civil
matters, there were several tiers of appellate bodies; a strict monetary test
of course was applied. The defects of the appellate system clearly emerged
i# the procedure followed by the highest appellate authority, the Governor.
He did not hold a court of appeal, but merely referred the relevant papers
to the Deputy Secretary, on whose report he gave ‘without discussion, and
generally without assignment of reasons,...his directions for affirming,
reversing or altering the decree of the court below’.’*®* Governor Sir Edward
Barnes admitted in 1827 that ‘without some person to prepare these cases for
submission to him, it would be impossible for him to find time to go over the
voluminous proceedings’** ‘The privacy of this tribunal’, in Cameron’s
contemptuous words, was all the more objectionable because on his own declara-
tion the Governor possessed an exclusive equitable jurisdiction, and an ‘equitable
jurisdiction, where there are no positive rules of equity, means an unlimited
discretionary power over the law’ %

[30. Evidence of Turnour, C.0. 416/20-G11.
131. Evidence of Downing, 12 Sept. 1829, C.0. 416,/19-G4; evidence of Wynn, 26 Sept.

1829, C.0. 416/19-G5.

132, Evi&erllcae of Bone, 8 Oct. 1829, C.0. 416/19-G6. Also, evidence of Turnour, .0, 416/
20-G11. ;

3. Cameron’s Report, P.P. 1831/32, XXXII (274), 73. The Agent for Sabaragamuva
gave the following figures as appeals from his court: 1819—1; 1820—3; 1821—10;
1822—9; 1823—16; 1824 —15; 1825—26; 1826—27; 1827—22; 1828 12; 18299,

- C.0.416/19-G6.

134. Barnes to Bathurst, 4 Jan. 1827, C.0. 54/97.

135. Cameron’s Report, P.P. 1831/32, XXXII (274), 73. Governor’s powers of equity
were jealously guarded by him. Barner once noted that ‘the Judicial Commissioner

-should be told that he ix bound to decide all in eases strictly according to the law,
the equity of the case, 1 conceive, solely resting with me’. Barnes” minute on Nile-*
godagedere Kalu Ettna v. Kapoogedero Kiri Menika, 9 Aug. 1829, C.0. 416/1919-G4,
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The Judicial proceedings of the British officials assumed a formal character
which was wholly absent under the old order. With formal proceedings there
came the ‘modern’ trappings. The introduction of professional pleaders was a
striking innovation. Proctors, already a common feature in litigation in the"
litboral, were formally admitted to the courts in the interior by a Proclamation
on 17 March 182513 The rules of admission were stipulated by another
Proclamation on 25 March 1825, and the background of legal training implicit
in the rules effectively prevented the admission of local inhabitants.”*” The
employment of Proctors, necessitated by a procedural method which increas-
ingly became unintelligible to the average suitor, and the stamp fees demanded
in courts of law by the British, resulted in increasing the cost of litigation in
the Kandyan Provinces."*® Bulat surulla of the old order had been a token
of respect paid to a judge, though it later degenerated into a bribe,"® whereas
stamps in the English system were modelled on a different principle, as a pay-
ment in respect of the services provided by the judicature. Stamp fees were
introduced into Kandy by a Proclamation dated 25 March 1824. The British
had a distinet aim in taking this step: the preamble to the Proclamation declared
that ‘Litigation and Law-suits have increased in the Kandyan Provinces to
an extent productive of public inconvenience and vexation to individuals. ..
that it is therefore necessary to devise a means of abating thislitigious spirit’."
The remedy for chronic litigation lay elsewhere, and as Cameron pointed out _
later, ‘penalties are inflicted, not upon those who institute unjust and frivolous ™
suits, but upon those who institute suits of any kind’.""' Furthermore, judging
by the concern expressed by the Commission of Eastern Enquiry about exces-
sive litigation in the early 1830’s, the introduction of stamps do not seem
to have acted as a check.

The British records abound with references to a penchant for litigation
among the Kandyans.'” The Kandyans certainly displayed a litigious spirit
during the time of the Kings, especially over land,'® but a marked increase

136. Evidence of MacPreston, 25 Sept. 1820, C.0. 416/19-G6. In the Maritime Provinces,
ths Proctors were at this time subjected to a great deal of criticism for exacting
unreasonable fees from clients. See, Colombo Journal, 11 May 1833.

137. C.0. 416/19-G5.

138. If Bone's figures are to be trusted, a civil suit before an Agent could cost as much as
£1.17.6., a considerable part of which was for stamps, C.0. 416/19-G6.

139. R. Pieris. Sinhalese Sacial Organization (Colombo, 1956.) pp. 1565-156.

140. The payment of fees was limited to civil suits, and provision was made to sue i’
forma pawperis. For the Proclamation see, (' eyfml Government Gazette, 27 May 1824,

141. Cameron’s Report, P.P. 1831/32, XXXIT (274), 7

142. o.g. Evidence of Agents, C.0. 416/19-G6. For det&ilﬁd figures of cases tried, see
(.0. 416/19-G7 and (8. The low-country inhabitants too were atfributed a pen-
chant for litigation. Bennett stated the Brifish view: ‘the Singhalese, taken
.collactively as a nation, may be justly described as most litigious’, ep.cit., p. 55.
The recommendations Cameron put forward too reflected this view. See, Bamaraweera,
op.cit., p. 126.

143. Bee, Davy, op.cif., p. 183.
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in litigation was noticed under the British. The reasons for this increase lay
primarily in the neglect of the traditional courts of arbitration, foremostly

athe gamsabha. Originating as administrative organs in Rajarata, the gamsabha

by Kandyan times had evolved into judicial bodies, D'Oyly described their
working thus: “This Court is frequently held both in the Disavonies and the
Upper Districts, and consists of an assembly of the Principal and experienced
Men of a Village, who meet at an Ambalam or Shady Tree or other Central Place
upon the Oceurrence of any Civil or Criminal Matter as Disputes regarding
Limits, Debts, Petty Thefts, Quarrels, & c.., and after Enquiring into the
Case, if possible settle it amicably, declaring the Party which is in Fault,
adjudge Restitution or Compensation and dismissing with Reproof and Admonis-
tion, their Endeavours being directed to Compromise and not to Punishment’.'#
By all accounts the gamsabha were in a flourishing state at the time of the
conquest, but they received scant attention from the British in their judicial
administration. After the conquest they continued to funetion, but were
later superseded by the new courts established under the Proclamation of
21 November 1818. The gamsabha were not only ignored but also the people
seemed to have been encouraged to take their disputes to the new courtsof law.
The Judicial Commissioner, who held powers to refer suits instituted in his
court to gamsabha, reported in 1830 that only three disputes were sent to the
tribunals, while the reports of the Agents indicate that this procedure was

" followed by them even more rarely.'* The change over from courts of arbitra-
tion, which functioned as safety valves for the litigious spirit under the old
order, to British devised formal courts of law, undoubtedly resulted in an
increage in litigation; the recording system of the new courts made the increase
more ‘visible’,

The judicial administration designed by the British for the Kandyan
Provinces thus seemed to have displayed in its working more the worse features
of the two systems which contributed to its formation. Judged by the ultimate
test of the British themselves. incidence of litigation, about which they ex-
pressed almost a pathological concern not only in Ceylon but also elsewhere
in the empire, the hybrid was a failure. In the absence of detailed investi-
gations it is difficult to assess the impact of the changes of the British on the
Kandyans with any certainty. They undoubtedly faced considerable changes.
The new courts of law brought in unaccustomed formalities and technicalities

4 and enforced an alien langnage for the conduct of proceedings, The traditional

144. D’Oyly, ap.cii., p. 28,

145, Wright to commissioners, 25 Sept. 1830 and returns of caves referred to gumsabha,
C.0. 416/17-G49. c.f. Gamsabha ‘only lingered in the remote province of Nuwara-
kalaviya, and even then, were seldom used’, J. Forbes, Eleven Years in Ceylon
(London, 1840), i. 71, In Burma, later in the century, a comparable detericration
of the traditional institutions of arbitration under the British led to a build up of
litigation. See, J. 8. Furnivall, Colonial Theory and Practice [Cambridge, 1948),
p. 136,
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- institutions and customs were devalued. Gamsabhi almost passed off into

VIJAYA SAMARAWEERA

oblivion, The ‘superstitious aids to justice’, oaths and ordeals, which were
“greatly valued under the old order, lost their solemnity now.'# The tradi-
tional law began to take a different character. Situational concept was lost |
sight of, and a new rigour was introduced, while concepts like assistance and
retribution were eroded away. It is no surprise that when the Commission of
Eastern Enquiry conducted its investigations in the Kandyan Provinces,
it was ‘innundated with petitions declaiming’ against the courts of law,!¥
The final verdict came from a British official: ‘the change being abrupt’,
wrote Henry Marshall, ‘the population in general did not appreciate the alleged
advantages’. 1**

146,

Chiefs represented to the Judicial Cornmissioner that the iucidence of false evidence
was due to the absence of solemnity in the oath. They sugrested that the oath should
be administerzd inside a dévdle instead of the practice of adininistering it at the door.
Sawers’ memo., 12 April 1823, (L.(f.A. 23/46. On oaths and ordeals under the old
orders sew, Derrett, ‘Laws of the Kandyans’, University of Ceylon Review, XIV.
(1956), 146 and D'Oyly. op.cit.. pp. 37-41.

. Riddell to Horton, 21 March 1832, C.0. 54/118. For oxamples of pefitions see, nos.

366, 434, 444 and 523, C.0O. 416/30.

. Marshall, op.cit., p. 175.

Digitized by Noolaham Foundation.
noolaham.org | aavanaham.org

i



THE REV. A. G. FRASER AND THE RIOTS OF 1915

James T. RurNam

On 14 August 1917 the British House of Commons took up the Colonial
Office Bstimates for debate. On that oceasion (owing to constant lobbying
by E. W. Perera,! who was assisted by D. B. Jayatilaka,?) the matter of the
Ceylon Riots® of 1915 was also brought up for discussion. E. W. Perera had
by then been over two years in Britain on a mission seeking redress for the
wrongs done to his countrymen. He had laboured hard to collect a large number
of earnest and sympathetic persons both in and out of the Houses of Parliament
and the Press to support his cause. With great anxiety he waited for the
day of the debate for the ventilation of his country’s grievances in Parliament.

1. BEdward Walter Perera (1875-1953), member of the Ceylon Reforms Deputation to
Colonel John Seely, Under-Secretary of State for the Colonies, on 26 October 1909;
President, Ceylon National Association, 1910; President Ceylon National Congress,
1926; led Ceylon National Congress Deputation to the Donoughmore Commission,
1927: Resigned from Congress and formed the All-Ceylon Liberal League along with
Francis de Zoysa, H. A, P. Sandrasagra, and N. E. Weerasooriya, 20 March 1931;
Member, Legislative Council 1921-1930, State Council 1931-1935; defeated at State
Council elections for the Horana Seat 1936, Kelaniya Seat 1942, Like his father,
Edward Francis Perera (1848-1920), E. W. Perera was an ardent advocate of Budd-
hist causes, but both remained Christians to the end. See J. A. Will Perera, I, .
Perera Patriot and Scholar (Colombo 1953), W. Thalgodapitiya, Poriraits of Ten
Patriots of Sri Lanke (Kandy 1966) pp. 113 to 126, and Sumitta Kuruppu, The
Forgotten Patriot (Times of Ceylon 7 October 1956 p. 17). For a defence of Perera’s
stand in the controversy over the Donoughmore Reforms, ses his article in Sinhalese
on Sinhalese Rights and Constitutional Reforms, (Siluming 22 and 29 October and b,
November 1944). -

2, Sir Don Baron Jayatilaka (1868-1944), Member Legislative Council, Ceylon 1924-1931
State Council 1982-1942; Representative of Ceylon Government in India from 1942
until his death on 31 May 1944; scholar, patriot and a great Buddhist leader;
author of The Buddhist Temperance Movement of Ceylon, London, 1916, :

3. The Ceylon ‘Riots’ of 1915 (28 May to 5 June 1915) began as a religious dispute between
the Sinhalese Buddhists and the Indian Coast Moor Muslims at Kandy in the Central
Province on the night of Wesak Day 28 May 1915, and soon spread to the other pro-
vinees of Ceylon except the Northern, Bastern, Uva and North-Central. Martial Law
was proclaimed in the five affected Provinces and, as a precautionary measure for
short periods, in the North-Central and Uva Provinces. The Government of the day
had panicked, and under Martial Law several innocent people were brutally victimised.
The maladministration gave an impetus to the movement for self-government: for
Ceylon. See P. Ramanathan, Riois and Maprtial Law in Ceylon, 1915, London 1916,
Armand de Souza, Hundred Days in Ceylon, 2nd. Edition (Colombo 1916) and Albert
Wickramasinghe, Reminiscenses of the Riots of 1915, Colombo 1941,
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JAMES T. RUTNAM

Philip Morrell,* Liberal Member for Burnley, and Joseph King,® Liberal

Member for North Somerset, intervened in the debate® with vigorous speeches
on behalf of Ceylon. They were followed by Sir Arthur Steel-Maitland” who
spoke on behalf of the Secretary of State for the Colonies. For our present
purpose the relevant remarks made during these proceedings are as follows:*

SIR ARTHUR STEEL-MAITLAND: ...There is, a: far as I know, perfectly
clear evidence that the matter was not accidental fire or any attempt to set alight
the heather. That was not the case, and it really spread because it was largely
a mattar of design. I assure the Hon. Member I am not only speaking with infor-
mation from official sources, but I have also gathered information from some
of the best non-official sovrces in Ceylon. I remember having long conversations
with umnofficinls, conversations with persons who came back from Ceylon. and
certainly that was the opinion of a perfectly unbiased man like Mr. Fraser.9

MR. KING: Has the Hon, Membsar seen the report of Mr. Fraser in which he defini-
tely says that there is no conspiracy and will he quote it? E

SIR ARTHUR STEEL-MAITLAND: I am afraid I cannot quote it because I have
not got it here.

MR. KING: T have.

This was not the first time that Steel-Maitland had overshot his mark.

Porera himself had some caustic comments to make concerning Steel-Mait-
land’s remarks in Parliament!? some two years earlier on the Ceylon Riots,

10a ;

that while in Singapore there was no possibility of German!® intrigue, in Ceylon

10.

10a.

Philip Morrel (1870-1943), Liberal Member of the British House of Commons, South

Oxfordshire, 1906-10, Burnley, 1910-1818,
Joseph King (1860-1943) Liberal Member of the British House of Commons, North
Bomerset, 1910-1918.

The speeches are recorded in the Parlimmentary Debates (Official Report) House of
Commons, London 1917 Vol. XCVII, 6 August to 21 August 1917, colurnng 1039-1054.

Rt. Hon. Sir Arthur Herbert Drummond Ramsay BSteel-Maitland (1876-1935),
Conservative Member of the British House of Commons, Birmingham (Eastern)
1910-1918, Birmingham (Edrington), 1918-1929; Under-Secretary of State for the
Colonies, May 1915 to December 1917; Privy Councillor 1924.

This is the account given by E. W. Perera in My Mission to England, see fn. 11 infra.
The extract seems to have been taken from the “‘uncorrected” Hansard (British),
issued immediately after the proceedings. The “corrected” Official Report (see fn.
6 supra) contains a few verbal changes, but these are of no material significance,

Rev. Alexander Giarden Fraser (1873-1962); M. A. (Trinity College, Oxford) 1895;
Prineipal Trinity College Kandy (1804-1924); Ordained as priest at Kandy 9 Septem-
ber 1915; Principal Prince of Wales College, Achimota (1924-1935); revisited Ceylon
1935 and 1949. After Ceylon attained Independence, her first Prime Minister, D. 8.
Benanayake, offered Fraser the honour of being a Distinguished Citizen of Ceylon.
See W. E, F. Ward, Fraser of Trinity and Achimota, Ghana Universities Press, 1965.
To the Ceylonese reader, Fraser’s career in Ceylon might seem inadequately covered
by this book. See also fn. 77 infra.

“House of Commons Debales, 5th Series Vol. LXXIII, Speech of Steel-Maitland,
21 July 1915”7, Dr, P. T. M. Fernando 1'"e British Baj and the 1915 Communal Riots in
Ceylon, Modern Asian Studies Vol. I11: 3 (1919) p. 250 fn. 32; see C. O. 54/782 Chal-
mers to Bonar Law, Telegram, 23 July 1915; CN A 4/434 Bonar Law to Chalmers,
Telegram 28 July 1815; The Ceylon Independent 21 August 1915, p. 1; also Hansard
(British House of Commons) 6 July 1915.

Germany was at war with Great Britain: World War (1914-1918).
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there was a possibility. In his account of his work in England, in a series of
articles entitled My Mission to England™ which he published in the Ceylon
Daily News, from September 1919 to January 1920, Perera contended: “Tt was
just the other way. That impetuous Imperialist [Steel-Maitland] had not pro-
perly read the brief prepared for him by the permanent officials at the Colonial
Office. All the heart-burning and subsequent misconception arose out of it 12
(emphasis added ) ;

When MacCallum Secott!® pointedly questioned Bonar-Law,* who was
then the Secrotary of State for the Colonies, “Can the Right Hon. Gentleman
say whethor any evidence had been received that German intrigue instigated
these Riots™, he received the reply, “There is no evidence at all that has reached
me to that effect, but 1 should not be myself inclined to say it was impossible
that it had something to do with it”.'" Perera commented, “‘Mr. Bonar-
Law’s last answer was characteristic. It was meant to save the Under-Secretary
Mr. Steel-Maitland and to shroud the Ceylon happenings in suspicion so that
the House might not show any sympathy with our grievances”.'® Perera had
added, “Mr. Bonar-Law and Mr. Steel-Maitland, pseudo-Imperialists of the
straitest sect ruled the Colonial Office”."”

The casnal reference to Fraser in the debate in 1917 had unfortunate
repercussions. It sparked off a controversy that threatened to distort, and at
one time'® in its course did distort, the favourable image of Fraser in this
country. We propose in this article to consider whether such denigration was
deserved.

11.  Published in twelve sections: Section I on 6 September 1919, pp. 3 and 4; II 16 Sep-
tember p. 3; TI1 20 September p. 3; IV 27 September p. 3; V 4 October p. 3; VI 11
October p. 3 and 18 October p. 8; VLI 25 October p. 3; VIIL 1 November p. 3; IX 22
November p. 3;: X 20 November p. 3 and 1 December p. 3; XI 6 December p. 3 and
20 December p. 3; XII 10 January 1920 p. 3 and 17 January p. 3. The first ten of
these Sections were republished, with a prefatory note to each Section by James T.
Rutnam, in the weekly issues of T'rébune, Colombo, in August. September, October
and November 1967.

12, Ceylon Daily News, 13 September 1919 p. 3.

13. Bir Alexander MacCallum Scott (1874-1928), Liberal Member of the British House
of Commoens 1910-1922; joined Labour Party 1924; author of two books on Winston
Churchill (London 1805 and 1916). Scott was the first Member of Parliament who
was approached by Perera to take up the Sinhalese cause. Perera was introduced to
Scott by his “old and trusted” friend, Henry Evan Auguste Cotton (1868-1939),
formerly Liberal member of the British House of Commons, East Finsbury, and
editor of the journal India.

14. Andrew Bonar-Law (1858-1923), Conservative Member of the British House of
Commons from 1000; Leader of Opposition (1911-13), Secretary of State for the
Colonies 1915-16, Chancellor of the Exchequer 1916-18, Lord Privy Seal 1919-21,
Prime Minister 1921-23.

15. Hansard (British House of Commons), 27 July 1915,

16.  Ceylon Daily News, 13 September 1919 p. 3.

17.  idbid.
18,  In 1924 when Fraser was a candidate for election as Bishop of Colombo, see Appendix
D infra.
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The controversy in Ceylon followed Perera’s publication of My Mission
1o England. Towards the latter part of these articles Perera took Fraser to

task for eirculating a pamphlet marked “private’” among members of the House -

of Commons “ostensibly giving an account of the development of Trinity
Uollege but suggesting a novel and original theory of the Riots’"."?

In the aceount of his mission Perera had stated that he saw the report
of the Colonial Office debate at Manchester where he was busy soliciting the
support of that great journalist C. P. Scott,*® Editor of the Manchester Guar-
dian, a very powerful journal at the time. On reading the report of the proceed-
ings in Parliament, Perera called upon his colleague, Jayatilaka, who knew
Fraser, to write to him “to correctly ascertain what Mr. Fraser had told Sir
Arthur Steel-Maitland™. Copies of the correspondence that passed between
Jayatilaka and Fraser (except for one letter) are now available among the
E. W. Perera Papers® at the Library, University of Ceylon, Peradeniya.

According to Perera “Mr. Fraser’s correspondence’” (which Perera said
was not with him as he wrote) ““was suave but diplomatic”.>'* Fraser is reported
to have replied that “he did not quite remember what he stated to Sir Arthur
Steel-Maitland, but while going very far with Mr. Jayatilaka, and denying
privy conspiracy he”, (so far as Perera could remember) “favoured the theory
of sedition’ .22 Let the letters?® now speak for themselves:

19. Ceylon Daily News 6 December 1919 p. 3.

920. Charles Prestwich Scott, (1846-1932), Editor Manchester Guardion 1872-1929; Liberal
Member of the British House of Commons for Leeds Division of Lancashire 1895-1906;
E. W. Perera was introduced to the Manchester Guardian by H. B, A. Cotton, see fn.
13 supra. Perera rushed a copy of Sessional Paper VI of 1917 on the Kegalle Shoo-
tings as soon as he received it from Ceylon to the Manchester Guardian, which
seored a scoop by publishing on 2 November 1917 long passages from it of Governor
Anderson’s despatch, causing public outery in liberal circles in England.

91. The B. W. Perera Papers consist of correspondence. manuseripts and typeseripts and
typescript drafts, copies of letters and articles and some press-cuttings and leaflets
that belonged to E. W. Perera and (a fow) to his father, K. F, Perera. Unlike several
of his contemporaries E. W. Perera had carefully preserved them. A part of this collec-
tion is in the Library, University of Ceylon, Peradeniya, and is here referred to as
PPU. Some, PPH, are with Professor D. B. Hettiaratchi, Editor of the Sinhalese
Eneyclopaedia, Colombo; some, PP A, with Dr. T. B. H. Abeyasinghe of the University
of Cleylon, Colombo. Thanks to the late Shelton C. Fernando of Colombo, B. W.
Perera’s letters to Leonard Woolf, PPON 4, have come into the possession of the
Ueylon National Archives. Some other . W. Perera Papers, PPERI, to which the
writer has divect access, are available at the Evelyn Rutnam Institute, 35 Guildford Cres-
cent, Colombo 7. The writer is grateful to H. A, I. Goonetileke, Librarian University
of Ceylon, Peradeniya, Professor Hettiaratchi, Dr. Abeyasinghe, the late Shelton C.
Fernando, Amarawansa Dewaraja, Government Archivist, and G. P. 8. H. de Silva,
Assistant Government Archivist, for their kindness in making the papers in their
custody readily available to him. Copies of the correspondence between Fraser and
D. B. Jayatilaka are in PPU and attention was specially drawn to these by H. A. L.
Goonetileke, Professor 1. M. de Silva and W. J. F. La Brooy of the University of
Cleylon, Peradeniya, to all of whom and to Professor T. Nadaraja of the University
of Ueylon, Colombo and Dr. M. W. Roberts of the University of Ceylon, Peradeniya,
the writer is indebted for unfailing courtesy and encouragement.

21a. Ceylon Daily News 6 December 1919 p. 3.

=29 ghid:

22a¢. Copiesin PPU.
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This is what Jayatilaka wrote to Fraser:

3 Middle Temple Lane
Temple—London E.C.
21.8.1917

Dear Mr. Frazer,

T have no doubt that like myself you read Siv A, I). Steel-Maitland’s speech on matters
in Ceylon with much interest. I was very much surprised to find that the Under-Seeretary
of State renewed the old charge of conspiracy, and I was still more surprised when I found
he gave you as his chief authority for this. As I know. yvou would not wittingly do the
Sinhalese people an injustice. T cannot help feeling that the Colonial Office has misunder-
stood you,

Theword “conspiracy’ suggests something political and treasonable, and I cannot suppose
that, knowing Ceylon as you do, you believe the riots of 1915 to have been in the least
degree of this nature, or to have been in any way whatever a matter of design, It would
gratity me very much to learn that you dissociate yourself from views so groundless and
if you feel at liberty to communicate to me what. you have said to the Colonial Office,
I shall be very grateful, You know, of course, that I am one of the delegates zent by the
Sinhialeze Committes to represent matters to the Imperial Government.

With kind regards,
1 am,
Yours sincerely,
[Sgd.] D. B. Ja.ya.t}laka

P.S. 1 am sending a copy of the Official RepoLL of the debate, in case you have not had
the chance of reading it before.

To this Fraser replied as follows:

Asg from 18 Succoth Avenue,
Edinburgh W. 25.8.17
Dear Mr. Jayatilaka,

I received your letter this morning, and with it the first intimation I had had of the
discussion in the H. of C. T do not know exactly now what I said to Sir A. Steel-Maitland.
But it must have b2en this in effect. That the mass of the rioters were out against Moham-
madans pure and simple on economic and religious grounds. and without any design
again=t British Rule, some indeed believing an attack on Mohammedans would be popular
as the Empire waz fighting Turkey. But on the other hand, there was in my opinion no
doubt that the tiots were organised in advance, that there was a small cligue of men hostile
to Government and l'Bpt‘eHelltillg the opinion of a man like Dharmapala,2d whose articles
were read and who was flattered and well received, that this clique exploited the hatred
of the Mjhammoadans by divecting attention to them, and probably in organising and
starting the first chisf riot outbreaks. Bub they were not typical of the people as a whole
or of the nation. That has bazn my opinion pretty well right through.

Yours sincerely,
[Sgd.] A. G. Fraser.

23. Don David Hewavitarne (1864-1933) took the name of Dharmapala—Protector of
the Dharma—in 1888 and was known thereafter as the Anagarika Dharmapala.
In 1932 he became a Samanera, and in 1933 was ordained as Sri Devamitta Thero.
He was a member of the Buddhist Theosophical movement established in Ceylon by
Colonel H. 8. Oleott and Madame H. P. Blavatgky from 1880. He broke away from Col-
onel Oleott, October 1904, and Buddhist Theosophy, Mareh 1906; founded the journal
Sinhale Bauddhaya and the Maha Bodhi Press in Ceylon, May 1906; he was suspected by
the Ceylon Government of being an instigator of the Riots and was for a time rohibited
by the Indian Government from leaving Calcutta, where he had established the head-
quarters of the (Buddha Gaya) Maha Bodhi Society which he founded in 1891. During
the reign of terror in 1915 almost everybody in Ceylon denied having had any assoeia-
tion with Dharmapala. Even Sir Ponnambalam Ramanathan whom Dhaamapalu
admired and supported (see extract from Dharmapala’s letter dated 21 October 1915
from Calcutta to Ramanathan, Ceylon Daily Mirror, 26 November 1971 p. 4) had to
dismiss his influence as insignificant, See Hansard : Debates in the Legislative Council
in CUeylon, Session 1913-16. Colombo 1916, 11 August 1915 p. 403; He died at the
Mulagandhakuti Vihara in India with the last words, “May I be reborn in a Brahmin
family in India to work for the upliftment of Buddhism....”” Buddha Jayanii Memo-
rials, issued by the Information Department, Government Press Ceylon 1956, p. 56.
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P.S. That there was & planned start and some organisation I as living in Kandy
= can have no doubt,—A. G. F.

It will be noted that Jayatilaka had laid emphasis on the word *‘conspi-
racy” which suggested, as he said “something political and treasonable”.
Fraser replied that the “‘mass of rioters had no design against British Rule”.
This ruled out treason. But was there a conspiracy? Fraser had evaded using
the word. However, he admitted that there was “a small clique of men” who
“exploited the hatred of the Mohammedans by directing attention to them
and probably in organising and starting the first chief riot outbreaks”. One
would conclude that this was a conspiracy by a small eligue of men. But Fraser
asserted in the same communication that it was “not typical of the people
a8 a whole or of the nation”. He thus absolved the people as a whole and the
nation of conspiracy.

One could now understand what was at the back of Perera’s mind when
he wrote to Leonard Woolf%* on 29 August 1917 as follows:

Mr. Fraser writes to Mr. Jayatilaka admitting that he suggested to the Under-
Secretary the theory of a conspirgey. We are writing to him again and shall later
communicate with the Colonial Office.2¢

Neither the original of the letter dated 31 August 1917 from Jayatilaka
to Fraser nor a copy is available at present. But as we have a copy of Fraser's
reply of 5 September, the loss is not material to our present enquiry. Perera’s
description to Woolf of the contents of Fraser’s letter to the effect that Fraser
admitted conspiracy would appear to be both right and wrong. He was right
when he spoke of conspiracy, but wrong when he left an inference that it was
a conspiracy of the people. This matter was quickly clarified by Fraser’s letter
of 5 September which read as follows:

18 Buccoth Avenue,
Edinburgh W.
5th September 1917
My dear Jayatilaka,

Thanks for your letter of 31st which I have just received readdressed to me at the
above address. You were quite right. 1 have always denied that there was any conspiracy
on the part of the Cingalese people against the Government. But I find it difficult to believe
that there was no organisation im advance. For one thing T knew that the riots were going
to take place before they took place and warned the authorities to be on their guard in
order that there might be no trouble.

Yours sincerely,
(Sgd.) A. G. Fraser.

23a. Leonard Sidney Woolf (1880-1969), Ceylon Civil Service 1904-11; joined Fabian
Society 1916; founded (with wife Virginia) Hogarth Press 1817; Woolf was introduced
to Perera by Sidney James Webb (later first Baron Passfield) (1859-1047) of the
Fabian Society, In his lecture at Colombo on 14 June 1919 Perera said *....it will be
more than ingratitude to omit any reference to the valuable services that Mr. Leonard
Woolf rendered to the cause and his great kindness to me personally....His active
interest in the welfare of Ceylon never abated nor his faith in the justice of our cause
shaken by official misrepresentation....” see Ceylon Daily News 30 August 1919 p. 3.

24. PPCONA, Perera—Woolf letters; a photostat copy of this file of letters was gifted by
the late Shelton C. Fernando to the Evelyn Rutnam Institute where it is available
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Here we find Fraser categorically denying “‘any conspiracy on the part
of the Cingalese [sic] people against the Government’'. This was exactly what
Perera and Jayatilake had wanted to enable them to contradict, and indeed
to give the lie direct to, Steel-Maitland. They rushed to incorporate what
Fraser had admitted, into their famous letter? beginning “In justice to the
Sinhalese people...", dated 18 September 1917 to the Under-Secretary of
State for the Colonies. “We are in a position to state”’, they triumphantly
declared. “that Mr. Fraser does not in any way support the theory of conspiracy
on the part of the Sinhalese people”. This was clear and unequivocal and with
this declaration the differences or misunderstanding that existed between
Perera and Fraser should have for ever disappeared. Unfortunately this was
not the case.

At this stage, it would be well to draw attention to two letters®® dated
14 December 1916 and 24 October 1917 written to Perera by his knowledgeable
and patriotic confidant, James William de Silva®" upon whom he had placed
the highest trust and who was regularly sending Perera news from home.
“Mr. Fraser of Trinity College’’, de Silva wrote in December 1916, “isin England.
He is a friend of the z’st-bcarr:u‘ay-(:‘rf»rmra!555 and others and will no doubt advocate
the cause of the officials and support official views as much as he can. He will
make it his main business in England”.

It is now clear, why Perera had declared in My Mission to London, as
we shall observe later,?®® that he had been informed that Fraser had come up to
Londen as an apologist for the Government officials in Ceylon. But the same
James William deSilva who had warned Perera against Fraser wrote him another
letter®® on 24 October 1917 saying, T received a letter from you and one from
D. B. after a long time enclosing Fraser’s reply. His reply is not bad as in it

25. PPCNA Perera—Woolf letters; CNA4 4/462 September/Oectober 1817; PPU and
PPERI; see also Ceylon Daily News 6 December 1819 p. 3.

26. The originals are in PPERI; photostat copies are in the Ceylon National Archives
entitled Papers on Riots 1915—correspondence of . W. Perera.

27. James William de Silva (1862-1947), Barrister-at-Law (Gray's Inn), Member of
Ceylon Reforms Deputation to Colonel John Seely on 26 October 1909, see fn. 1; an
unobtrusive and knowledgeable political worker, de Silva was a member of the Orga.-
nising Committee of the Ceylon National Congress: see 8. W. R, D. Bandaranaike
(Editor) The Handbook of the Ceylon National Congress Colombo 1928, p. 182;
regular correspondent to the Ceylon Daily News, writing over the initials “J s e
see Ceylon Daily News 31 May 1917; a large collection of de Silva’s letters to E. W.
Perera are in PPERI, and photostats of these are in the Ceylon National Archives.

28. Sir Anton Bertram (1869-1937), Attorney General of Ceylon 1911-18; Chief Justice
1918-25, Fellow of Peterhouse, Omnbridge 1929; he was ““a eonscientious character
who could become jittery under pressure”, wrote Sir Hanry Monck-Mason Moore of
his colleague in Ceylon, in H. A, J. Hulugalle, British Governors of Ceylon, Colombo
1913 p. 212, See N4 65/232 Sir Anton Bertram’s memo on certain arrests and
searches made during the period of Martial Law. **Bertram was one of the few European
officials who were sympathetic to Anderson...” P. T. M. Fernando op, cit., p. 255.

. Bes fn. 47 infra.
9. Beefn.26supra.
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he says there was no conspiracy against Government, but only an organisation
to attack the Moors, which too though contrary to fact was believed by him”™
(emphasis added). This was a gracious act on the part of a severe critic. The
tirade about ‘conspiracy’ should have ended with this. But it did not.

Fraser is on record as having testified with regard tothe Riots ata meeting
of the Police Inquiry Commission® at the Kandy Kachcheri, that was appoin-
ted on 26 October 1915 by Government with the Chief Justice Sir Alexander
Wood-Renton?! as Chairman to study the conduct of the Police in connection
with the Riots and recommend measures for re-organising the Police Force.
On 6 November 1915, a few months after the Riots, Fraser gave evidence
before this Commission in the ecourse of which he stated that he did not think
there was “any definite pre-organisation” of the Riots. It will be seen that
Fraser had maintained this position throughout. The Report® of the Commis-
sion was published as a Sessional Paper in 1916 and it should have been available
to Perera for his work in England. Fraser’s evidence® in this matter is given
in the Report as follows:

THE CHATRMAN: From what you say, did you form any opinion on the question
whether the riots in Kandy had been pre-arranged to any extent?

WITNESS: It depends on what you mean by pre-arrangement. If you mean whether
there was any definite pre-organisation, I den’t think so. That the riots were
expected to break ouf I firmly believe. For instance, on the Saturday night they
had runners on the road and got news quickly. 4

. THE HON. MR. PAGDEN: That points rather to pre-arrangement.

WITNESS: Pre-arrangement for Saturday night without doubt. but that does not
‘mean that there was any pre-organisation for a riot, otherwise the people would
have known of it on the Friday night.

THE HON. SIR CHRISTOFFEL OBEYSEKERE:332 It was generally talked
about in the town that there would be a riot?

WITNESS: There were a fairly large number of rumours to that effect.

30. See Sessional Paper X VI of 1916 (Colombo 1916).

31. Sir Alexander Wood Renton (1861-1933), Puisne Judge, Supreme Court, Ceylon

. 1905-1914, Chief Justice 1914 until his retirement in 1918; Chairman (Kegalle) Shoo-

ting Inquiry Commission along with Sir Gualterns Stewart Schneider (1864-1938),

1916; Chairman Salaries Commission Ceylon 1921; knighted in 1915, conferred

CKL.CMLG. 1925, G.C.M.G. 1930; for his differences with Governor Anderson see corres-
pondence in ON A4 65/232.

32. Sessional Paper X VI of 1916.
33.  op. cil., pp. 95-96.

33¢. Sir Solomon Christoffel Obeysekera (1848-1926), Proctoi, Supreme Court, Ceylon.
Nowminated member representing the Low-Country Sinhalese in the Legislative
Council 1900-1916; knighted 1911, In the Legislative Council soon after the Riots he
attacked the *half a dozen misguided designing villains whe have been trying to pose
as leaders of the Buddhists”, and who belonged to the “lower [?] section of the
Sinhalese community™, as being responsible for the Riots. He referied fo them as
“a fow who are nobodies but who hope to make somebodies of themselves™ See Han-
sard, Debates i the Legislative Council in Ceylon, Session 1913-16 Colombo 1916.

11 August 1915, p. 406. For remarks on “nobodies™ and “‘somebodies® see E. F. C, -

Ludowyk The Story of Ceylon, 2nd Edition, London 1967 pp. 221, 222, -
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In My Mission to England Perera stated,

“The Anti-Slavery Society34 was organising a deputation3#® to be sent to the Secretary
of State. Mr. A, G, Fraser too had conveyed his views to them on the subject but 1 am
precluded from discussing his communication without reference to the Anti-Slavery
Society. T was anxious to coordinate our forces as much as possible and arranged that
other friends of Ceylon who did not belong to the Anti-Slavery Society should co-
operate with them®.35

Perera invests Fraser's “views” with a certain amount of mystery and
even suspicion. We have not been able to find out what these “views” were
at the Rhodes House Library® in Oxford where the Fraser Papers? as well
as the Archives of the Anti-Slavery Society are now kept. But Fraser’s views
could not have been very much at variance with those of the members of the
Society.>™

Fraser seems to have been held with some regard by the Society, for in
a letter™® to Perera dated 23 March 1917, John H. Harris,* one of the Organi-
sing Secretaries had written “We are now preparing our Appeal to the Govern-
ment for an enguiry. We much hope to get Fraser to come and speak at our
Annual Meeting on Ceylon, but I have a note from him this morning saying
that he has to leave at once for France™,

34, The Anti-Slavery and Aborigines Protection Society which Perera recalled, “‘made ile
sert a man and broke his chain®, is still in existence at the same address viz., Denison
House, 296 Vauxhall Bridge Road, London 8W 1, under a slightly modified name, the
Anti-Slavery Society for the Protection of Human Rights, This Society which was sup-
ported by retired Christian Missionaries in England has a long and distinguished record
of philanthropic service. Perera declared, “To the persistent efforts of this Society
working without fee or reward may be traced much mitigation of the effects of Martial
Law administration.......”" Ceylon Daily News 30 August 1919 p. 3. In 1909 the
Aborigines Protection Soctety founded in 1838 merged with the Anfi-Slavery Sociely
founded in 1839 to become the Anti-Slavery and Aborigines Protection Society. In 1947
the name was changed to the Anti-Slavery Society and in the late 1950°s the present
name was adopted. The records of this Bociety are preserved in the Rhodes House
Library, Oxford, see fn. 36.

34a. The deputation was led by the Society’s President Sir Thomas Fowell Victor Buxton
(1865-1919) and was veceived at the Colonial Office on 16 January 1918.

35. The Ceylon Daily News 20 December 1919, p. 3.

36. This is a department of the Bodleian concerned with Commonwealth and United
States history and was established as a dependent library in 1928. The writer is
obliged to Annamuttu Muttukumaru of Somerville College and F. E. Leese of
the Library for the kind assistance given him when he visited Oxford in 1970 to
examine the Fraser and Anti-Slavery Society Papers available at the Library.

37. A large collection of letters, manuseripts and printed documents belonging to Fraser
are in this library. An interesting autobiographical account (incomplete) is also here,
But we were not able fo trace the elusive “Report of Trinity College, Kandy 1915”
in this collection,

37a. For example, see Fraser's letter dated 17 March 1917 to Harris, one of the Ovganising
Secretaries of the Soviety, Fraser Paperz, Rhodes House, Oxford.

38. InPPERI.

39. Sir John Hobbis Harris (1874-1940) formerly a Christian Missionary in Africa, Secre-
tary to the Anti-Slavery and Aborigines Protection Society; Liberal Member of the
British House of Commons for North Hackney 1823-1924: author of several books
including Slavery, or Sacred T'rust London 1926, and 4 Century of Emancipation,
London 1933, :
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On 8 October 1916 Fraser left Ceylon for England to take part in the War*”
against Germany. He served at the Western Front as a regimental chaplain
during 1917 and 1918. He was gassed and invalided out of the Army in June
1918, shortly before the end of the War. He returned to Ceylon in February
1919 having regained his health. But soon thereafter on 9 April he left the
island, this time to preside over a Missionary Commission on Indian Village
Education.

Perera too returned to Ceylon in 1919. He had been away in the United
Kingdom for over four years, during a part of which time D. B. Jayatilaka
served with him as his colleague. Perera had been an indefatigable worker on
behalf of his country. He was virtually the first Ceylonese permanent envoy at
the capital of the British Empire! Anything of national importance pertain-
ing to Ceylon, not necessarily matters relating to the Riots, passed through his
or Jayatilaka's hands. Together with Jayatilaka he pleaded for political
reforms for this country, and was the mouthpiece in London of Sir Ponnam-
balam Arunachalam®® and his band of patriots.

Perera was responsible for bringing the Appeal in the Gampola Perahera
Case® before the Judicial Committee of the Privy Council in 1916. The Appel-
lant for whom Perera had appeared finally withdrew the Appeal, but not with-
out suffering a judicial pronouncement favourable to the Respondent being
incorporated in the judgement of the Privy Council. From the very beginning
Perera had been actively associated with this case, which he described in Pope’s
words as the “direful spring of woes unnumbered” . ** Tt must have been a
great disappointment to him to find that at the end he was unable to prevent
inclusion in the Privy Council Judgement of a passage that was tantamount to
a repudiation of the permanent validity of the Kandyan Convention of 1815,
the bedrock of his entire case.

40. World War (1914-1918); Fraser who had urged some of his senior students to volun-
teer for War Bervice felt that he too should join them “Alek [Fraser] had been feeling
restless...staying safe in Ceylon while his pupils were volunteering for active service’,
Ward op. eif., p. 118.

41. Yor some time his voice was badly affected. Earlier he was knocked down by a lorry,
and had suffered from two broken ribs and a touch of pleurisy.

42. Sir Ponnambalam Airunachalam (1853-1924), for some time Official Member of the
Executive and Legizlative Councils, Ceylon; leader of the “*Ceoylonese Reformers’’; author
of Our Political Needs, Colombo 1917; first President Ceylon Reform League 1917; Foun-
der Ceylon National Congress, 1919: Perera spoke of him as one whose “name, his perso-
nality, his connection with the cause of Reform have helped us considerably to secure
recruits and further the cause in England”, Ceylon Daily News 16 June 1919 p. 5.
On Arunachalam’s death the Ceylon Daily News described him as “‘the most power-
ful personality in Ceylon of the last decade™. 10 January 1924 p. 6. For a sketch
of his life and work see [James T. Rutnam] Ponnaembalam Arunacholam published
by the Arunachalam Centenary Committes, Colombo 1953,

43. See Appendix A infra.
44. Pope’s translation Homer's Illiad T. i.
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Perera was an advocate par excellence of national causes; indeed that was
his undoubted role, not only on the public platform but also in the legal forum
and the Council Chamber. He was a master of the pointed phrase which he
would wield with finesse like a rapier: and of withering sarcasm that often
came upon the heads of his opponents like a blow from a sledge hammer,
His “asides’ whether spoken in intimate whispers or with a rasping derisive
scorn were fearful and formidable,

On his return in 1919, Perera gave a heartening account of his stewardship
to his countrymen. Nothing substantial or material had emerged from his
mission. I'ts more lasting effect on the political scene was not discernible at the
time. No Royal Commission of Enquiry into the Riots was appointed. Neverthe-
less the fight was valiantly fought, and the tale. as befitting the teller, was
valiantly told. It was in this historic account of Perera’s stewardship that
the dead embers of the Fraser controversy were re-kindled to burn with an
* ominous glow.

As a jreliminary and a personal approach to the people, Perera delivered
a lecture on 14 June 1919, at the Tower Hall in Colombo, with Sir Ponnam-
balam Arunachalam in the chair on “Political Work in England”.* No refe-
rence whatsoever was made to Fraser at this time. Perera however acknow-
ledged the help rendered by Arunachalam who had written letters to his
influential friends in official circles in England on the situation in Ceylon.
It was some time later that Perera went into great detail about his labours
in England when he wrote the articles entitled My Mission to England.

The subject was exhaustively treated in these articles with numerouns
references to the correspondence and conversations exchanged and to various
accounts of speeches and comments published in the British Press. The labours
of Perera and Jayatilaka were well chronicled; so were the efforts made by
British friends and supporters from all quarters. It is a most valuable record
deserving of publication as a book. In the last three Sections of these articles,
Sections X, XTI and XII, Perera referred to the part supposed to have been
played by Fraser in England.

In Section X* Perera republished the extract from Hansard that referred
to the exchanges between Steel-Maitland and King in connection with Fraser's
communication with Steel-Maitland.

In Section XI1*7 Perera wrote:

45. A letter from Arunachalam to Perera inviting Perera to deliver this lecture s in
FPH; Owing to Censoiship prevailing at the time, only a brief account of this lecture
was published in the Ceylon Daily News on 16 June 1919, although Arunachalam’s
favourable comments were published in full: with the lifting of the Censorship the
Ceylon Daily News published the full text of Perera’s lecture on 30 August 1919,

46, Ceylon Daily News 1 December 1919 p. 3. See fr, B supra,
47.  Oeylon Daily News 6 December 1919 p. 3,

11985—5
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..Mr. A. G, Fraser the Ceylon Missionary, had according to the Colonial Under-
Secretary, testified to the disloyal nature and the organised character of the riots,
lile his episcopal chief, who had condoned the shootings and applauded the officials.
I had received the information from Ceylon, which at the time I did not beliove,
that the Rev. A. . Fraser had come up to London on the suggestion of the local
Government officials as a witness of their views and an apologist for them at Downing
Street. T did not personally know47a Mr. Fraser but had heard a great deal about him:
the son of Sir Andrew Fraserd?h, Governor of Bengal, he was a great Imperialist and a
great Missionary.

Charging Fraser with wrongfully testifying to Steel-Maitland, Perera

continued:

It will not ba irrelevant to say in this connection that the Rev. A, G. Fraser had
cireulated a pamphlet marked ‘private’ to Members of the House of Commons osten-
sibly giving an account of the development of Trinity College, but suggesting a novel
and original theory of the Riots in which is emphasised the part that the reverend
gentleman took in securing justice, punishing perjury and above all stopping the
rising or rebellion from spreading by using his extraordinary influence with the
great Highland Chiefs with whom he was friendly. As T may have unwittingly done
injustice to this Imperialist Missionary by a short and inaccurate summary of the
scope and character of his pamphlet which I only had for a few moments in my hands,
T hope Mr. Frager will remove all misapprehension by communicating his pamphlet
to the Press now that the Censorship is removed.

In Section XII,*® Perera described a meeting held in 1918 in the rooms

of the Indian Association*” at Edinburgh, where he delivered a lecture on the

Giljr

47a.

47h.

48,
49,

emier Crown Colony” and stated:

E. W. Perera had exchanged letters with Fraser earlier. The writer had seen a lette

from Fraser to Perera in PPERI, where Fraser had discouraged Perera from republi-
shing the account of the controversy in August 1873 between the Buddhists and Chris-
tians at Panadura. This debate was originally reported by a “‘special reporter” in the

Ceylon T'imes and later issued as a pamphlet with a prefatory note by “J.C.”. It was

again published in America and in the words of E. W. Perera “formed the starting

pnint of the renascence of Buddhism and a national awakening in Ceylon", PPERI;
it was a copy of this pamphlet that came into the hands of Colonel Oleott and led to
his eventual visit to Ceylon to herald the Buddhist revival in this country: E. W.
Perera’s father, E. F. Perera, was the “reporter’ of this debate. The credit had usually
gone to John Capper (J.C.), who of ourse was the Editor of the Ceylon Times. E. F.
Perera was made a Fellow of the Theosophical Society of America by Oleott in June
1880. He was the first President of the Lanka Lodge for Occult Research (Lanka
Theosophieal Society?) with young H. J. C. Pereira (1861-1924) as Secretary and wae
a close friend of Col. Oleott and Madame Blavatsky, copies of whose correspondence
with Perera (Snr.) and a manuseript copy of Perera’s Report of the Panadura Con-
troversy are in PPERI.

Sir Andrew Henderson Leith Fraser (1848-1919), Born in Bombay, son of Rev.
Andrew Garden Fraser a Preshyterian Missionary, who served sixty years in India;
Indian Civil Service 1869 to 1903, Lieutenant Governor of Bengal 1903 to 1908.
He faced the violent agitation that followed Lord Curzon's partition of Bengal and
survived repeated attempts on his life; he personally did not favour partition but was
obliged fio support the Viceroy. See Dicts y of the National Biography 1912-1921.
London 1928, pp. 197 and 198.

Ceylon Daily News 10 January 1920 p. 3.

A Notice of this meeting on 12 January 1918 signed by R. M. Johri, Secretary Edin-
burgh Indian Association is in PPH; The title of the lecture was described as, “The
Premier Crown Colony: its Past, Present and Future’’.
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...in addision to the Tndian and Ceylon students, several residents of Edinburgh
were present imcluding Mrs. W. T, Stead, Mrs. A. G. Fraser, Mrs. Oldham and the Pro-
fessor of the University. Mr. Panitckars0 presided and I had a very friendly hearing,
the only occasions of interruption being when my enthusiastic sudience felt that
my terms of denuneciation and the language employed were not commensurate with
the horrors perpetrated in Ceylon.

Continuing Perera wrote:

Amid sympathetic comment and friendly query Mrs. Fraser raised a challenging note.
While exceedingly friendly and courteous to me personally, she maintained in language
of studied calmness and moderation but with great firmness the official view of the
Colonial authorities that the riots were very serious, hence Martial Law was the only
remedy and that once Martial Law was proclaimed—our government moves slowly—
it cannot be readily withdrawn, While reciprocating the courtesy and assuming the
seriousness of the Riots I pointed out that there was no justification, legal or moral
for surrendering the island to the soldiery instead of using the military. Distinguish
the Prussian method, which was employed in Ceylon, from the British method, which
made the Civil administration employ the soldier as an instrument instead of making
the jackboob supreme over the civil power. Moreover under British Law, Martial
Law, which was negation of Law, ought to cease as soon as order was proclaimed.

Perera wrote further:

a0,
51,

T had no hesitation in affirming these principles, as I told the audience, for I had the
the authority of the highest legal opinion in England on the subject. Moreover the
text of the testimony in the Kegalle Shootings Enguiry with the commentary in
Sir John Anderson’s8! despatch dispelled any doubt as to the frightfulness that was

Kavalem Madhava Panikkar (1895-1963), Indian statesman and scholar.

Sir John Anderson (1858-1918), Permanent Under-Secretary of State for the Colonies
1911-1916, Governor of Ceylon 1916 until his death from cancer on 24th March 1918;
in the Colonial Office he generally opposed E. W. Perera's moves and was largely
responsible for preventing Ponnambalam Ramanathan from obtaining an interview
with the Secretary of State, Anderson following the usual Colonial Office practice of
relying on the advice of the “man on the spot”, who in this case was successively
Robert Chalmers, a former Permanent Becrefary o the Treasury, and Reginald
Stubbs, formerly of the Colonial Office. In My Mission to England Perera wrote,
“Hagts justify the conclusion that weve if not for his [Anderson’s] unreasoning and
persistent opposition, the pressure of Parliamentary opinion would have induced Mr.
Bonar Law to grant a Commission of Enquiry long ago”, Ceylon Daily News 13
September 1919 p. 3; On the announcement of Anderson’s appointment as Governor
of Ceylon, Perera expressing great disappointment wrote, “Sir John Anderson suc-
ceeds Sir Robert Chalmers, the one man for whose exclusion from the Governorship
all Ceylonese would have voted to & man®. He also wrote, “Sir John Anderson is
Governor. 8o Amurath sucoeeds Amurath; See copies of Perera’s letters dated 1
December 1915 to H, E. A. Cotton and H. J. €. Pereira, PPH. To Armand de Souza,
the Editor of the Ceylon Morning Leader, Perera wrote on the 21 January 1917,
“Tt is known here that Sir John Anderson is the greatest reactionary that ever wend
to the East, not excepting Lord Curzon”, See copy PPA. However Anderson, who
had assured Bonar Law, See Oeylon Daily News 4 October 1919 p. 3, that he would
enquire every case of injustice with an “open mind” became the most popular of all
British Governors. His despatch to the Secretary of State for the Colonies, Walter
Long, on the Kegalle Shootings, see Sessional Paper VI of 1917, was & sensational
document, which marked a complete reversal of official opinion on the measures
adopted to suppress the Riots. For his forth-rightness in condemning the excesses of
the local British planters and officialz, he was hated by the “prestige’ obsessed Euro-
peans in the country, The horse-driven gun-carriage that carried his coffin for inter-
ment at the General Cemetary Colombo was rushed in & undignified gallop to the
consternation and distress of all of us who saw it. For a deseription of this incident
see D. 8. Senanayake’s letter dated 10 April 1918 to D. B. Jayatilaka published
in Tribune, Colombo, 15 March 1970 with a prefatory note by James T. Rutnam
an eye-witness to the incident. Many years afterwards, W. T. Stace who served in
the Public Service at; the time explained that “‘the corfege was trotted instead of being
walked", because neither horses (from the Ceylon Mounted Rifles) nor men had been
trained in such an exercise: See E. F. C. Ludowyk, op. ¢it., p. 144,
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being enacted in Ceylon. Prof. Whittaker (University of Edinburgh) in very generous
terms moved a vote of thanks to me. Mrs. W, T. Stead came up and expressed her
horror at the atroeities and her sympathy with the people of Ceylon, Mr.5? [8ic]
Fraser too spoke to me after the lecture.

It would seem from the above that Perera had drawn Mrs. Fraser into the
fray with some degree of vehemence for venturing what appeared to Perera
a contrary view to that held by him,

Fraser was in Ceylon for nine days in October 1919. He was however
away from this country when the references to him appeared in the Ceylon
Daily News. No protest seems to have been lodged on Fraser’s behalf when
these appeared during his absence. But there is no doubt that the charges
made by Perera were the talk of the town, and Fraser’s friends, notably past
pupils of Trinity College, most of whom could not have for a moment imagined
Fraser ever behaving in the manner alleged, were embarrassed and indeed
outraged. They bided their time until Fraser returned. although meanwhile
Fraser wherever he was, was probably apprised of these incidents. According
to Fraser,”® he came to read the articles containing the charges against him,
in India some two months after they had first appeared.

Fraser was in Ceylon with members of his Commission for a few weeks
in June 1920. before he left for England to complete his report on Village
Education. After finishing his assignment he returned to Trinity College in
February 1921.

Fraser who was so much at home in this country from 1904 and had
in a way integrated himself into the life of the community here, and who in
April 1919, during an all too brief stay in the island after the Wazr, had publicly
advocated in the Press manhood suffrage® for Ceylon even before the Ceylon
National Congress saw the light of day, discovered to his chagrin, that he
had now in February 1921 come under a dark cloud of suspicion and hate.

52. Obvioualy an errov for **Mes.™
58, See Report of Fraser’s lecture at Kandy, Ceylon Daily News 24 October 1921, p. 1.

54, Fraser wrote, “Personally T would like to see manhood suffrage’”, see A. . Fraser
Constitutional Reform in Ceylon (Times of Ceylon 24 April 1919); Fraser described
the proposals of the “Ceylonese Reformars” as “moderate’”, to which eriticism Sir
Ponnambalam Arunachalam, who also favoured a wide franchise, had to plead that
they had to “educate™ and “coneciliate™ “our own Taries”. (Times of Ceylon 28 April
1919). The Ceylon National Congress held its ““first session’ on 11 December 1919.
In the Report of Trinity Cellege Kandy for 1918 Fraser had written “So I want a wide
franchise open to the illiterate, manhood suffrage if possible. It would after the first
two or three elections make the corruption of the electors almost impossible.....
(quoted by Ward op. cit.. p. 132). See also Colonel Seely’s remarks on manhood suff-
rage to E. W. Perera and the other members of the Ceylon Reforms Deputation on
26 October 1909 that “it was impossible to draw up a scheme of representation appro-
aching self-government unless on a basis of something like manhood suffrage for which
the country was not vipe. Perera’s notes of the interview, PPERI; See Secretary of
State Crewe's despatch dated 24 December 1909 to Governor MeCallum where Seely's
remarks are repeated with the substitution of adult suffrage for manhood suffrage;
8. W, R, D. Bandaranaike op. cit., p- 65, ;
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He was supposed to have worked against the Buddhists, against the Sinhalese.
against this country, while he was away in England. His conversation (and
perhaps his correspondence) with Steel-Maitland. over the Ceylon Riots and
a publication in the same connection of an alleged secret Report, formed
the basis for the charges against him,

This must have been a most galling experience for Fraser. Of all persons,
Fraser had hitherto prided himself that he had done some really valuable
service to the people during the Riots and their aftermath, for (ashe had himself
imagined and as will appear later) did he not scotch a threatened conflagration
at its source?™ Did he not pour oil on troubled waters when the tension was
at its worst? Did he not, in the dead of night. face almost single-handed and
unarmed, a furious mob of hooligans and restrain them with his antics and
quaint humour from besmirching the fair name of this country? Did he not
bring the lion and the lamb—the Sinhalese and Muslim leaders—together at
Kandy, cool their tempers and lead them to the Governor®™ in order to restore
peace and goodwill? And was this to be the reward? Perhaps Fraser had exag-
gerated his role at this tragic hour. We shall see.

Meanwhile we have to acknowledge that during these dreadful days when
the Government ran amok, and when Sinhalese Buddhists were in dire peril
from the military bully, and at the mercy of every liar and perjurer, the Chris-
tian Missionaries.®” almost all of them, both foreign and local, had been of

55. Ree Appendix D infra.

i, Fraser was one of the sarliest to see the Governor (Sir Robert Chalmers) in connection
with the Riots when the Governor who was in Nuwara Eliya arrived at Kandy on 1
June 1915, The diary of the Private Seeretary (W. T. Southorn) to the Governor has
the following entries: * ¢ 6 p.n. Fraser of Trinity College comes to see H.H., tells
P.8. he thinks Paranagama and Ratwatte Korala (both have been assaulted) and
all Ratwattes —also Alnwihares—are sound. He sees H.I. re a proposed deputation
of leading Buddhists and Moors to H.E. tomorrow.....”" 2 June. 9 a.m. H.E. inter-
views 4 Moors and 4 Sinhalese in Kandy....At ¢ 2 p.m, H.E. sees Fraser”. See Con-
fidential File. Diary of Riots of P.S. ib Governor, May 31 to June 6 [1915], ON A
65/328; see also Appendix C infra. While Chalmers and Fraser were busy trying to
compose matters in Kandy, the Colonial Secretary Stubbs, it would seem from his
letter dated 2 June 1915 to A, E. Collins his former colleague at the Colonial Office.
was fretting and complaining at Colombo. Stubbs wrote, “H.E. is still hesitant and
conferring with the people in Kandy, who can do nothing here, even if they want to,
which I doubt”, C.0. 54/782 (20056); see Charles 5. Blackton The Action Phase of
the 1915 Riots, The Journal of Asian Studies, Vol. XXIX: 2 (February 1970) p. 242
Jn. 36. Southorn has also recorded in his diary (2 June) after telephone communi-
cationd with Colombo that the Colonial Secretary is of the view “that something like
revolution will break out tonight if situation not handed over to military under
Martial Law™. J. G. Fraser Government Agent of the Western Province, R. W, Byzrde
Mayor of Colombo and E. B. Denham are also recorded by Southorn as holding the
view that “Martial Law is now the only course”,

37.  Bee Appendix B; also see Rev. W, H. Righy’s correspondence with P.S. to Governor
Chalmers, Sinhalese Memorial to Bonar-Law 26 November 1015, Appendix XVIf.
The notable exception among the Christian missionaries was Rev, Henry Long (1873-
1918) who according to Perera “‘is doing his hest to prevent an Enguiry and nurses
a deep seated rancour against the Sinhalese”, Perera’s letter dated 2 February 1916
tio Franeis de Zoysa (1879-1938) copy in PP A. See also London Quarterly Review July
1916 pp. 120-125.

t
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great help, in Ceylon as well as in England, to the unfortunate victims of the
holocaust. One of these great Christian gentlemen was the Rev. J. Simon
de Silva® who is distinguished both for his scholarship and patriotism.
His diary, kept during those times of trouble, is now available.®® It affords
interesting reading and is a graphic record of the contemporary scene as the
grim spectacle unfolded itself from day to day. Fraser's name appears in two
places in a portion of this diary.®

On the 19th July, 1915, de Silva had noted in his diary:

“Had the valuable advantage of the presence of Mr. Fraser of Kandy who is using
his great influence with Government on behalf of the people’.

On the 12th May, 1916, de Silva wrote:

Went with F. R. Senanayake’! to see Mr, Fraser in order to seek his help in appro-
aching the Governor in connection with riot prisoners still in incarceration.

The extracts from the Rev. Simon de Silva’s diary would give some glimpses,
as seen from a particular angle, of the activities behind the scenes at the time.
At the height of the crises during July 1915 it was acknowledged that Fraser
was using his “great influence with Government on behalf of the people’;
and so well it would appear he had laboured “on behalf of the people” that
even after an interval of a yearthe Rev. Simon de Silva goes out to see him with
F. R. Senanayake for further “help”.

When Perera made his adverse comment on Fraser in the Ceylon Daily -

News of 6 December 1919, the Editor-of that paper added a note in its editorial
column as follows:

58. Rev. John Simon de Silva (1868-1940), Wesleyan Methodist minister from 1892;
Sinhalese Litterateur, author of a weekly column Kalina Lipi in the Sinhalese news-
paper Dinamina 1915-1938; edited * Rivikirana and Gnanodya, two Christian journals;
active worker in the Temperance movement; Christian nationalist; in 1913 he organi-
sed with Dr. Paul E. Pieris and others an annual National Day observance on the
Sinhalese and Tamil New Year’s Day. Sce his diaries in the possession of Srian and
Ratna de Silva of Colombo, with whose kind permission we are able to publish a
portion of the diary as Appendix B nfra. This useful contemporary record was
brought to light by Dz. M. W. Roberts of the University of Ceylon, Peradeniya.

59. Copy in Library, University of Ceylon, Peradeniya.

60. See Appendix B.

61. Frederick Richard Senanayake (1882-1926) B.A., L.L.B., (Downing College, Cam-
bridge), Barrister-at-Law (Lincoln’s Inn); Interned with his brothers D. 8. Senanayalke,
future Prime Minister and D, C. Senanayake at Welikada Jail Colombo during the
Riots. F. R. Senanayake contributed generously to the “Royal Commission Fund”

of which he was the Hon. Treasurer. The expenses of Perera and Jayatilaka during -

their stay in England were to g large degree defrayed from this Fund. F. R. Senana-
yake became the most influential Sinhalese leader from the time of the Riots until
his untimely desth. Together with BSir Ponnambalam Arunachalam he convened
a “Sinhalese Conference’ at the Tower Hall, Colombo on 20 September 1919, at which
Arunachalam, speaking in Sinhalese, on behalf 6f the convenors inaugurated “‘a
movement in the Sinhalese districts of the Island” for “political, social and economic
improvement”’, See Ceylon Daily News 22 September, 1919, p. 1. F. R. Senanayake
became the first President of this organisation which was eventually named The
Lanka Maha Jans Sabha. Although Senanayake did nothimself aspire to be a Member
of the Legislative Couneil, he was a powerful “Member-maker” in the Sinhalese
districts during the Legislative Council Blections of 1921.
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Suspicion and doubt are ever the most prolific causes of discord and it must be the
endeavour of all right-minded persons to remove doubt and to allay suspicion. It ig
for this reason that we appeal to the Rev. A. G. Fraser with some confidence., In
Mr. E. W. Perera’s absorbingly interesting article which appears today, Mr. Perera
states with considerate reluctance an impression conveyed to his mind by a passing
perousal of a pamphlet by Mr. Fraser, ‘ostensibly giving an account of the develop-
ment of Trinity College, but suggesting a novel and original theory of the Riots in
which is emphasized the part that the reverend gentleman took in securing justice,
punishing perjury and above all stopping the rising or rebellion from spreading by
using his extraordinary influence with the great Highland Chiefs with whom he was
friendly.’ Mr. Perera as & faithful historian of the activities of the Ceylon deputation
in England feels bound to make the statement, but with characteristic fairness Mr.
Perera adds, ‘As T may have unwittingly done injustice to this Imperialist Missionary
by a short and inaccurate swmmary of the scope and character of his pamphlet, which
I only had for a few minutes in my hands, I hope My. Fraser will remove all misappre-
hension by communicating his pamphlet to the Press’. This is & suggestion which
we heartily second. Mr. Fraser during his career in Ceylon has acquired a reputation
which few of his brethren can ever hope to match, And we feel sure that Mr. Fraser
owes it to himself no less than he owes it to the people of this country to take them
into confidence in this matter. The members of the Anglican Communion who have
reason fo mowrn the defection of those in high places, and among whom we underat d,
are not a few who look to Mr. Fraser to supply in his time what is lacking at present
in that ewalted quarter, will also be anxious to have their minds set at rest on this
vexatious point. Accurate information and perfect understanding make for peace
and harmony, and we have no doubt that Mr. Fraser will not deny accurate infor-
mation of the nature of his pamphlet by causing it to be published so that the people
of this country may arrive at a perfect understanding of a personality who hap always
been very prominent in our midst (emphasis added).

No response came from Fraser to this earnest appeal, the probable reason
being that he was away from the island and was unaware of the charge. On b5
March 1920, the Ceylon Daily News published a letter from an anonymous
correspondent who signed himself “A Sinhalese Christian”. He declared
“The papers report that Mr. Fraser isin the island now. I trust he has completely
recovered from the attack of dysentery and is once more fit for work. I think
the time has come for Mr. Fraser to give to the world at large the views and
ideas expressed by him in the pamphlet” (emphasis added). The Editor of the
Ceylon Daily News supported this letter by taking the unusual step of republish-
ing under the caption “A Secor ! Invitation to the Rev. A. G. Fraser” its own
editorial appeal that had ap . .red some three months earlier, on 6 December
1919.

There was no response from Fraser to this too. Although “A Sinhalese
Christian’’ had assumed that Fraser was in Ceylon, it is just possible, if that
were so, that Fraser was preoccupied at the time with the work of the Indian
Village Education Commission. Besides, it is on record, and “A Sinhalese
Christian” too had confirmed it in his letter, that Fraser was suffering from
an attack of dysentery in February that year. By April he was known to be
recuperating at Kodaikanal in India and drafting the Commissioners’ Report
at that place.

In any case Fraser was not the type of man who, when he considered
himself as being in the right, would stand up and answer a challenge to suit the
caprice of an opponent. In certain situations he could be a very obstinate
person. He had some of the defects of the imperious school teacher, and occasio-
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nally accustomed as he was to the society of children, he behaved, as we
“shall see, like an overgrown schoolboy himself. This cussedness on his part
might have urged him not to yield to any pressure from a detractor, even
when aware he could absolve himself from blame. Another probable and more
likely reason could have been Fraser’s reluctance to publish his own “mighty”
doings as recorded in the pamphlet, these being too personal for a publie
audience.

The indifference has cost Fraser dearly. For he has allowed a completely
unjustified campaign against him to gather momentum, and we believe as a
result he eventually forfeited a good chance of being the Anglican Bishop of
Colombo; not that achieving this prize was as far as we know his ambition,
although it would have been a most gratifying reward to erown his services
to this country.

It would be observed that even the Edifor of the Ceylon Daily News,
in his editorial note, had drawn a distinction between Fraser and others in
“high places” and in an “exalted quarter”. At this time the country was agitated
over the news that leaked out from the publication in September 19192 of
the European memorial to the Secretary of State, that the then Bishop of
Colombo, E. A. Copleston™ had lent his signature to it and thus compromised
himself as one supporting the excesses committed during the Riots by a set
of trigger-happy adventurers™ named Sly, Sudlow, Baines and Bailey whose
-conduct was earlier denounced by the former Governor, Sir John Anderson.
The Ceylon Daily News, which was friendly to Fraser, was apparently groom-

62, The Ceylon Duaily News scored a scoop by publishing the full text of the memorial
and some connected correspondence in its issue of 16 September 1919. This memorial
of “the Burapean residents in Ceylon” was signed by V. A. Julius, Chairman of the
organising committee, and partner in the firm of Solicitors, Julius & Creasy, the other
chief’ partner of which, it is interesting to note, was Harry Creasy (1852-1922) a
strong supporter of the Sinhalese cause. Among the 1531 signatures to this memorial
were (according to Dr. P. V. J. Jayasekern of the Vidyodaya University of Ceylon,
Gangodawila) some other Christian clergymen besides the Bishop of Colombo, who
was singled out for strong attack by Ceylonese nationalist Christians such as C. E.
Corea, see Ceylon Daily News 24 September 1919. The memorial (which the writer
has not seen) was an enclosure in Governor Anderson’s despatch to Long, Confidential,
21 December 1917, C.0, 54/805, referred to by P. T. M. Fernando, Modern Asian
Studies Vol, TIT: 3{1969), p. 254 fn.54; the memorial and connected correspondence
is reprinted in Armand de Souza, op. eif., Appendix A pp. 1-30.

63. Rt Rev. Ernest Arthur Copleston, Bishop of Colombo 1903-1924; served in Ceylon
from 1880; was Incumbent of Holy Emmanuel Church, Moratuwa snd St. Paul's
Church Kandy; retired 1924; died 24 August 1933. See fn. 62 supra.

64.  See Sessional paper VI of 1917. See also P. T. M., Fernando’s extensive studies on the
Riots in the Jowrnal of Asian Studies (U.S.A.) Vol. XXIX No. 2, February 1970, pp.
265-266, and Modern Asian Studies (U.K.) Vol. ITI: 3 (1969) pp. 245-25656. A more
detailed and lengthy version of the latter is found in Ceylon Studies Seminar 1969/70
Series, A Symposium of 1915 Commaunal Riots, University of Caylon, Peradeniya, June
1970, where also appear Dr., M. W. Roberts, Directions and Patterns inthe 1915 Communal
Riots, Dr. Kumari Jayawardena, Hconomic and Political Factors in the 1915 Riots,
Dr. Charles 8. Blackton, The Action Phase of the 1815 Riots and Dr. Robert N. Kearney's
Introduction to the Symposium on the Riots, published originally in Journal of
Astan Studies cited above pp. 219-266.
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ing him to take the place of the discredited Copleston. But, for some reason
or other, Fraser did not respond to this appeal or try to vindicate himself.
He simply ignored the appeal. Perhaps he told himself that he would treat
unworthy accusations with the contempt they deserved. In the present case
Fraser’s contemptuouns silence was misunderstood, for it was construed by
some as an admission of guilt.

When Fraser returned to his substantive post, at Trinity College in Feb-
ruary 1921, there is no doubt that he became aware of the whispering campaign
that had turned rumour and suspicion into belief among several people in this
country. Fraser had already convineed his own “old boys™ that he was not
to be blamed, when he met them in June 1920% at a reception they had
accorded him shortly before his departure for England. Fraser’s friends hovw-
ever could not endure the alarming vendetta waged against him any longer
and in October 1921 prevailed upon him to reply to his critics.

Fraser delivered a Public Lecture® on 20 October 1921 under the auspices
of the Literary Branch of the Kandy Y.M.B.A. on “Political Movements in
Different Lands™ at the Association Hall presided over by Albert Godamunne, %
a prominent citizen of Kandy and an “old boy™ of Trinity College. It was on
this occasion, in the concluding portion of his lecture, that Fraser as anticipated
replied to his critics.

The Ceylon Daily News of 24 October 1921 carried the following aceount
in its first page under the headline Fraser and the Riots. a Statement Repudiated :

In the course of a lecture on the “Political Movements in Other Lands” at the Sinhalese
Young Men's Aszociation Hall on Thursday last, Mr. A. Godamunne presiding, the Rev.
A. G. Fraser veferred to the imputation of Mr. K. W. Perera that he had written
a pamphlet denouncing the conduct of the Sinhalese during the riots of 1915, Mr,
Frasse said, °I have been very long away from Ceylon, where I stayed only two weeks
after I returned from China and then went to India. When I was in India I got some
newspapers which wers about two months old by the time I got them, saying that 1 had
written & pamphlet, which I had sent to the House of Commons and which contained
an attacl on the Sinhalese. Mr. E. W, Perera accused me of it and I am told that
because 1 did not answer I was condemmned. That isn't Fajr by me. I did not answer
for three reasons. Firstly because T have never yet answered a personal attack in the
Press. T have answered an attack on the College, but it is not a personal attack,
Necondly when 1 was in India 1 was very busy and I did not see the copy of the
paper from heve till it was two months old. Thirdly I do not admit the right of any
person Lo challenge me to answer the attack in the Press especially when he has
had the impertinence to sy that he was not certain of his facts. Now, the only
pamphlet I ever wrote—Mr. Godamunne has geen it—was not sent to the House of
Commons but to the supporters of the School and it did not contain any attack
on the Sinhalese. I only referred to the Riots in regard to what the Loys of Trinity
had done during that period.’

65.  Seefn. 72 infra.

66. A Notice of this meeting is in PPARI, B. W, Perera’s brother, Arthur Augustus
Perera of Kandy (1880-1966) sent him a letter dated 20 October 1921 giving an
acoount, of Fraser's lecture reported by V. M. Saravanamuttu, Proctor of Kandy,
PPERI.

67,  Albert Godamunne (1893-1967) Prootor 8., active member of the Kendyan National,
Assembly, a political organisation which agitated for a Federal Systemn of Govern-
ment for Ceylon divided into three States composed separately of the Tamil provinces,
Kandyan Sinhalese Provinces, and the Low Country Sinhalese Provinees.
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Perera was stung to the quick by Fraser’s charge of “impertinence.”
Porera had been generally polite in his comments, but here and there he did
inflict some deep wounds. Fraser would not have minded being called a “great
[mperialist”’, but he knew what Perera meant by the term was entirely diffe-
rent, indeed contradictory, to Fraser's own concept. Besides, Perera had put
Fraser in the same pack as “‘his episcopal chief who had condoned the shoot-
ings and applauded the officials”, an insinuation from which the Ceylon Daily
News had independently taken great pains to disassociate itself.

The debate began in earnest. Perera was at his best when he was crossed.
The Ceylon Daily News held the scales evenly—or almost so, for, it wounld seem,
a little weight was thrown in on the side of Perera who was a close friend of
ity proprietor, D. R. Wijewardene.5

Perera’s prompt reply to Fraser appeared in the Ceylon Daily News
on the following day, 25 October 1921 on its first page. He quoted in full
the text of his charge against Fraser as found in the Ceylon Daily News of
6 December 1919, which we have reproduced earlier® in this article. He had
something to say about Fraser’s peculiar excuses for not replying earlier.
That was by way of argument. At the end he came to what he called the “crux
of the matter” by inviting Fraser for “the third time of asking” to “forward
the pamphlet to the Press when as I originally stated it will remove all mis-
apprehensions’.

Smarting at the whiplash administered for his “impertinence”, Perera
could not resist having a dig himself at “‘clergymen in a temper and attorneys
with & bad case who had the privilege of abusing the other side”. So far so good.
But we are afraid Perera did not put all the cards on the table in his confron-
tation with Fraser. Despite his apparent concern for the case to be stated
fully, fairly and dispassionately, Perera appears to have omitted to place
before his readers some vital part of the proceedings in Parliament which had
appeared in his series of articles in 1919 and which in the present instance
would have, to say the least, mitigated the alleged transgression of Fraser
if it did not exculpate him completely.

The omissions were the exchanges between King and Steel-Maitland
immediately after the name Fraser was cryptically brandished in self-defence
by Steel-Maitland. It is worth repeating these exchanges:

MR. KING: Has the Hon. Member seen the report of Mr. Fraser in which he defini-
tely says that there is no conspiracy and will he guote it?

SIR ARTHUR STEEL-MAITLAND: I am afraid I cannot quote it because I have
not got it here.

MR. KING: I have.

68. Don Richard Wijewardene (1886-1850), “‘the greatest newspaper man in the history
of Ceylon journalism’ See H. A. J. Hulugalle, The Life and Times of D. B. Wije-
wardene, Colombo 1960,

68a. p. 162.
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Perera it will be seen, had showed himself as a clever advocate who would
consider a little suppression of the truth and a little suggestion of the false
as points gained in debate. The burden of the discussion that day at the House
of Commons, between Steel-Maitland on one side and Morrell and King on the
other, was whether there was a conspiracy. It will be profitable to read a
full aceount of this debate in Hansard rather than depend upon extracts
sometimes torn out of context. Steel-Maitland was hedging and shifting.
In his despair he summoned Fraser to his rescue as one who would bear him
out. But to no avail. For King had Fraser’s Report with him and there Fraser,
according to King, had “definitely”” stated that there was “no conspiracy”’.

Some of us are not aware of the assistance given to our representatives
in England by the Christian Missionary Societies there. The Anti-Slavery and
Aborigines Protection Society of London was the most active amongst them.
Perera and Jayatilaka had testified to it. 1t is a curious faet that in this grave
national crisis we had to be foster-mothered by an institution that rejoiced
in the name of Aborigines Protection Society. This circumstance was the butt-
end of the jokes of some who could not see any good coming from Nazareth,

The following copy of a letter®® addressed by Travers Buxton,” the
Secretary of the Anti-Slavery and Aborigines Protection Society, to E. W,
Perera is of interest:

THE ANTI-SLAVERY AND ABORIGINES PROTECTION SOCIETY

Denison House
206, Vauxhall Bridge Road,
London, 3.W. 1.
30th August, 1917,
Dear Mr. Perera,

I received an answer from Mr. King today to my questions about Mr, Fraser's Report,
to which he referred in the House of Commons debate. He sends me the report of Trinity
College, Kandy, for 1915, which has a section on the riots. This is interesting reading,
and you will like to ses it. Mr. King wants the Report back, but he is quite willing that
you should read it. Will you eall here tomorrow, if convenient, or a later date, and have
a look at it? This would be better than sending it to you, as it is specially marked “for private
circulation only”. Mr. King says he has had two talks with Sir Arthur Steel-Maitland
gince the debate on the subject, and he would like to speak to me some time on his impres-
sion of the position,

I got hold of the Manchester Guardian of Tuesday yesterday, and was very glad to
see the Leader in which the Editor backed up your lotter.

Yours very truly,
Travers Buxton,
E. W. Perera, Esq.,
126, Tollington Park,
N. 4.

69. Original in PPERI.
70. Travers Buxton M. A, Oxon, born 1864; Barrister-at-Law, Lincoln’s Inn 1893,
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In response to Travers Buxton's letter Perera had evidently gone to him
and seen the “Report” referred to. According to Perera he had the pamphlet
in his hand only ‘for a few moments’. This was in August (or September) 1917.
But his charges against Fraser were made some two years later. The incident
that called for these charges had not seemed important enough, and were
not referred to by Perera during the intervening period, even when he deli-
vered his lecture in June 1919. But now in his fuller narrative delivered in
pungent prose he fires his broadsides, drawing freely from his imagination
where the memory of what he had seen for only a few moments had eluded
him.

Having made grave charges on an admittedly doubtful recollection of
the contents of this pamphlet, Perera when confronted chose the seemingly
fair and straightforward course by appealing to Fraser to publish the pamphlet,
which he knew was issued ‘for private circulation only’. Would Fraser walk
into the trap, for wap it undoubtedly was? For argument’s sake let us suppose
that somebody had written a very personal and confidential communication
to an intimate friend. Must this letter be published, and the purpose of privacy
defeated, to disprove an allegation that it contained a libel? That, in short,
was the problem posed.

The Editor of the Ceylon Daily News, like most detached people wishing
to see such disputes the sooner mended or ended would say (as indeed he said)
“publish and be damned”, for this was what the editorial note of the same
date suggested (but in more polite language):

Mr. B, W. Perera who apparently does not shave the Rev. A. (. Fraser's aversion
to answering charges made in the public press makes his rejoinder in our columns
today to Mr. Fraser’s explanations offered before the Kandy Sinhalese Young Men's
Asszociation. We are sure that Mr. Fraser will not conceive Mr. Persra’s lotter as a
personal attack. The prominence given to this controversy id inevitable in view of
the position Mr. Fraser occupies in Ceylon. That position involves certain responsi-
bilities. For this reason we hope that Me. Frazer who has gone so far towards meeting
apprehensions entertained by the public with regard to the riots will set them comple-
tely at vost. This he can do as Mr. Perera suggests by forwarding the impeached
pamphlet to the Press and by letting the pablic judge between him and Mr. Perera.

This was quite a “‘reasonable” request. Let us see how Fraser reacted.
But first let us analyse the position a little more fully. From the reading of
the Hansard of the British House of Commons, it was quite clear that Steel-
Maitland had not been able categorically to state that there was a conspiracy.
The furthest he would go was to declare that the Riots “really spread because
it was largely a matter of design”, Out of this mole-hill Perera had made a
mountain. He wrote “According to the Colonial Under-Secretary, [Fraser]
testified to the disloyal nature and the organised character of the riots like his
episcopal chief who had condoned the shootings and applauded the officials™

(emphasis added).

Fraser in his reply which appeared in the Ceylon Daily News of 27 October
1921, was obliged to call this insinuation a “terminological inexactitude’ .
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Fraser pleaded in defence:

T did not say that the rioters were disloyal or anti-Government, for 1 did not believe
that they were (except for avery few). though they were I believe organised. I protested
to the Government against the ¢harge of High Treason, and I believe the protest had
effect. Sir Arthur Steel-Maitland was quite clear that 1 was not a supporter of the
view that the riots were of German or anti-English origin,

Perera. had also declared, “1 had received information from Ceylon,
which at that time 1 did not believe. that the Rev. A. G, Fraser had come up
to London on the suggestion of the local Government officials as a witness
of their view and an apologist for them at Downing Street”. This evidently
refers to the letter dated 1 December 1916 that Perera had received from
James William de Silva. We have dealt with this earlier. Fraser did have a
few of what we might term “‘enemies” in Ceylon. He had rubbed some on
the wrong side by his independent and somewhat wilful ways. It is enough
that Perera had admitted that at that time he did not believe the informa-
tion he had received. Fraser had “friends” too in Ceylon. We know for certain
from the Rev. Simon de Silva’s diaries that even after a lapse of a year after
the riots, F. R. Senanayake had gone to Fraser for “help”, only a short while
before Fraser left Ceylon for England. This is how Fraser replied to Perera:

Then, I did not go to England as a witness on the riots, but on questions connected
with the War, and the conversation on the riots was only incidental. They did not bulk
largely in England during the War, nor in our talk,

The original bone of contention—the remarks of Steel-Maitland in the
debate on the Colonial Office Estimates in August 1917—gradually slipped
from the teeth of the contenders. In its place entered the myth of a secret
pamphlet that was alleged to have slandered a nation. Answering the demand
of Perera for its publication forthwith, Fraser in a letter that appeared on 27
October 1921 revealed that he did not circulate a pamphlet to Members of
the House of Commons. “In no case’, said Fraser, “could I have felt it right
to issue pamphlets to the Members of the House of Commons to attack a people.
That would be unpardonable and the statement that I did so is a lie”. Fraser
did not mince his words here. This was in reply to Perera’s accusation on 6
December 1919 that “Rev. A. (. Fraser had circulated a pamphlet marked
‘private’ to Members of the House of Commons ostensibly giving an account
of Trinity College”.

Fraser described the pamphlet as follows:

Tt is a Report of 106 pages of which only twelve in all refer to the Riots, almost
all twelve of which have already appeared in Ceylon in the pages of the College Maga.-
zine.70a The pamphlet is concerned with all the actions of the College Year, with the
class work, athletics, the Social Service, with letters from the hoys at the Front, the
Prize Giving Reports and Speeches, the Old Boys’ Dinner stc., ete. Thers is no reference
to *"Highland Chiefs” great or small except to the brave act of one. This Apnual
Report in pamphlet form was sent round, as it is every year by the Committee, to the
Subsc.mbers to the College Fund, of whom four only ave, T believe, Membars of the
House of Commons, and he guoted me as saying the Riots were mot anti-Britigh,

T0a. See fn. 83 infra,
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Fraser confirmed:

T sent home material for a College Report containing a mass of papers, not more
than a quarter of it in my own handwrifing, and that material was submitted to others
in the staff, and all the material was sifted and put together and published in pamphlet
form in England by the Secretary of the College Committee. To publish the whole
of that again is impossible. It was as I seid an Annual Report published as usual for
private circulation only, and sent only to friends of the College, and it contained
the letters and roports of many written only to a limited circle. But I can quote in
full all T say, or that contained, in the pamphlet as to the origin of the Riots and leave
you Sir, to say whether I have put the position of the Riots fuirly or not. (emphasis added )

Fraser followed this up with an extract from the Report directly answering
the specific charge of Perera that the Report was “ostensibly groing an account
of the development of Trinity College, but suggesting a novel and original theory
of the Riots”. What was said in the pamphlet in this connection is given below,
Fraser releasing it under the eye of the Editor of the Ceylon Daily News who
was given a copy of the pamphlet:

“The Riots’: And now having more or less polished off our bit for the War in England,
I must come to the Riots. I do not believe these would have taken place if there
had been any effort made to enlist the interest and sympathy of the people in
the War. But they were unrestful as men are everywhere during this War. Nothing
was done fo turn their restlessness into wise channels, And so it was fixed on their
own racial quarrels...The causes for the Riots rising were two: I. Religion.
II. Rconomics. The Mohamredans called Moors in Ceylon but with no racial connec-
tions with the Moors in Africa arve to Ceylon, what the Jews are to Russia. These
useful, but hated alien traders, protested against a Buddhist religious Tocession passing
their Mosque at a country town, Gampola. twelve miles from Kandy. Now a proces-
gion mesns more to modern Buddhism than any other religion. They have no sacra-
ments and no corporate worship, nor have they much mysticism. The procession
provides them with their one opportunity of & corporate religious act, and of rousing
a mystic enthusiasm by pointing back to an idealised national past. ‘When. then,
the Moors objected to the Gtampola procession, and were upheld in their right to
object by both police and law coumrts, a very serious blow was dealt to Buddhist sersi-
bilities and this by the “Jews” of Ceylon. The Moors beasted they would interfere
with the great Kandy Perahera— the greatest annual procession in Ceylon, held each
August, and they did try to prevent the erection of a darsala or booth where food is
distributed free to all comers on Buddha's hirthday, May 28th in Kandy. Their objec-
tions to the dansala were overruled by the Municipal Council, but the ill-feelings
raised by them were not allayed. A dansala is a great opportunity of winning merit,
and interests ardent Buddhists in all the country over. Tt gives fuller life to those who
subscribe for the food. and fuller life now to the pilgrims who eat it. Everyone is
interested in a dansala.

The economic hatred against the Moors is due partly to the jealousy of bad traders
for good ones. They do shady things somefimes, very often in the villages and their
morals are not high, yet they win, by patient attention to details and a study of their
customary needs.

[Poor Fraser got into trouble over some of these remarks. It was now the
turn of the “Moorish Community in Ceylon” to feel insulted. 8. L. Sheikh
Abdul Cader lost no time in protesting in the Ceylon Daily News of 1 November
1921. He demanded from Fraser a public withdrawal of those “‘seathing remarks
against the peaceable Muslim sons of Mother Lanka™. Fraser kept quiet.]

In his letter published in the Ceylon Daily News of 27 October Fraser
made it clear that the above extract was all that was written on the causes
of the Riots, ‘‘except for & cartoon for which I am not responsible, and which
was never considered mine, nor referred to in any way’ .
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Fraser continued:

Now let me add this. During the Riots we at Trinity did our best to save the lives
and property of Moormen. After the Riots we did our best to save those of the Sinha-
lese. In both cases we largely succeeded. And in Trinity we were certainly successful
in getting the leaders of both communities to co-operate with us and with each other
in goodwill, and were akle to win their friendvhip and trust. We made mistakes, of
course, and apparently enemies, but as a whole our Old Boys and Masters have little
reason to be anything but proud of the services they rendered to both communities.

The Editor of the Ceylon Daily News subscribed a footnote to Fraser's
letter as follows, “Mr. Fraser has left with us the booklet from which he has
made his quotations. We shall be glad to show it to Mr. Perera if he wishes
to see it—Ed. C.D.N.”

As a matter of fact we now have evidence that the pamphlet has been
seen by several persons. We are not quite sure whether Steel-Maitland was
given a copy after Fraser’s conversation with him, although Steel-Maitland
had vaguely given a hint of his awareness of the pamphlet in his reply to King.
King, who was one of the four Members of the House of Commons who were
also subscribers to the College Fund, had of course received a copy. Travers
Buxton was cne of the first to call for a copy after the incident in Parlia-
ment. Albert Godamunne, who presided at the Y.M.B.A. Meeting, was also
shown a copy. E, R. de Silva,™ a former Principal of Richmond College had
also seen the Report. When Fraser addressed the Trinity College Old Boys
in June 1920, when the air was thick with Fraser’s alleged disservice to the
country, Rev. G. S. Amarasekera,”? Viear of Holy Trinity Church, Kandy,
had received a copy. Amarasekera had then written to Perera as follows:

Stanley House
Kandy.
June 28, 1920.

My dear Mr. Perera,

Just a couple of days before ‘Fraser of Trinity’ left for England i.e. on the 16th inst,
I think, it was that Trinity College Old Boys Assn,, was at Home, in the College Hall to
meet Mr. Fraser. The President welcomed him in a few words. Then Fraser in his reply made
come reference to the recent attacks on him in the Press regarding him and the riots and
said that he published his usual annual report, for the henefit of his supporters in England
some of whom happened to be M.P.’s. In it he said that the riots in 1915 were due to two
causes:—

71. HEgodage Richard de Bilva (1901-1971), “He was a great Teacher, a great Man, a
great Christian, “Rev. W. J. T, Small The Ceylon Methodist Church Record, January/
February 1971, p. 18; teacher at Trinity College Kandy, during the Fraser period,
and at Richmond College Galle where he finally became Principal; he retired in 1957.
He wrote an article entitled “Fraser of Trinity”” in the Ceylon Observer 9 March 1962;
“Unfortunately’’, he wrote ““Mr. Fraser was unwilling to do so [Le. publish in full
his report of the Riots] merely because of a reference to himself made therein, Those
of us who read the pamphlet were sure that the lines referred to did not earry the
interpretation suggested to Mr. Perera in England”. His article also refers to a visit
made by him, A, M, K, Cumaraswamy and James David to E. W. Perera at the
residence of his brother, Arthur Perera. in this connection.

Rev, Gregory Suriarachchi Amarasekera (1858-1929), See fn. 82 infra.
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Religion and Economics. These you know already. Gampola Perahera and Hambaya's,%a
-and added that he was blamed by some for blaming the Mohammedans. This evening
I got hold of a copy of the “Report” he veferred to. It is entitled “The Story of another
year’s work, 1915, Trinity College, Kandy Ceylon™, This is an illustrated pamphlet, which
booms the College. 1 wonder whether this ig the identical document yon saw when in
FEngland.

1 thought T would give you this information for what it is worth.

With kindest regards to you and kind remembrance from Mrs. A, and myself to your
dear mother, Grand Mama and all at the Walanwa.

Believe me,

Yours very sincerely,
[8gd.] . 8., Amarasekera,

P.S. The a/c of the riols given in the Report does not blame the Sinhalese, The two points
above referred to are given as the causes and gives details of what mighty things
he and his college did during the riots. [emphasis added].

[Sgd.] G.S. A.

Now the Editor of the Ceylon Daily News S. J. K. Crowther™ was given
a copy. This we understand was also shown to J. L. €. Rodrigo.”™ an old Trini-
tian, who was then the Editor of the Ceylon Morning Leader. Fraser had
granted permission to Crowther to show the pamphlet to Perera, but on condi-
tion that he did not quote from it or use any material which Fraser had
not already published in the Press. There is no evidence to show that Fraser
had mentioned Ramanathan™ and D. B. Jayatilaka by name as two others
to whom the pamphlet may be shown under the same conditions, although

720, The word Hambaya derived from sampan-karaya had no sinister connotation, But
the member representing the ““Mohammadans® in the Legislative Council. N, D. H. M,
Abdul Cader (1879-1938) took heated exception to its use by Ramanathan in the
Legislative Coungil on 24 October 1917; see Hansard: Debates in the Legislative Couneil
of Cleylon, Session 1917, Colombo 1918 p. 388.

73. Samuel John Kirupairatnam Crowther, born 8 February 1888; B.A. (St. Edmund
Hall, Oxford) 1907-1910, Curate, 8t. Paul’s Church, Colombo; Editor, Ceylon Daily
News 1918-1931; joined Times of Ceylon 1933, retired 1946,

74.  Joseph Lionel Christie Rodrigo, born 31 July 1895; Government Scholar from Trinity
College, Kandy, M.A. (Balliol College, Oxford); Editor, Ceylon Morning Leader
1921 to 1926; Professor Emeritus of Western Classics University of Ceylon, Pera-
deniya; married Evelyn, daughter of Dr. Solomon Fernando; See fn, 114 dnfra.

75. Nir Ponnambalam Ramanathan (1851-1931), Nominated Member representing the
Tamil-speaking people. Legislative Council, 1879-1802, Solicitor-Cleneral 1892-1906.
Elected Member representing the Educated Ceylonese. Legislative Couneil, 1911-21:
His advocacy of the Sinhalese cause in the Legislative Couneil in August, September
and October 1915 was such that “no Ceylonese ever reached that summit of fame
before or since™; Tribune 25 Septomber 1967; see also Ceylon Daily Mirrer 26 Novem -
ber 1971, and M. Vytilingam The Life of Sir Ponnambalam Ramanathan, Vol, 1,
Colombo 1971,
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many years afterwards in 1953, J. A, Will Perera’” alleged that it was.
As far as Ramanathan is concerned, he mentions Fraser in some places
in his book, Riots and Martial Law in Ceylon,” but there is not even a hint
of censure of any of Fraser’s actions. D. B. Jayatilaka had never referred
to Fraser in respect of these incidents except for writing to Fraser soon after
the debate on the Colonial Office Estimates in 1917,

The confrontation in the Press between Fraser and Perera was now reach-
ing its climax. Fraser had explained his conduct at the Kandy Y.M.B.A.
Meeting. Perera challenged him in the Press. Fraser replied and had placed
his pamphlet in the hands of the umpire, the Editor of the Ceylon Daily
News. Now Perera who had never to his dying day been silenced by defeat,”™
returned to the charge arguing still. The pages of the Ceylon Daily News
were splashed on 31 October with Perera’s letter on the front page and an
editorial note within.

The following is the full text of Perera’s letter to the Editor of the Ceylon
Daily N ews:

Dear Sir—Mr. Fraser in his rambling reply of October 27, has missed the real issues.
He originally complained at the Kandy Y.M.B.A. that I had stated that Mr. Fraser
“had written a pamphlet which he had sent to the House of Commons and which
contained an abtack on the Sinhalese”. “Now the only pamphlet I ever wrote,”
“continues Mr. Fraser—“Mr. Qodomunne has seen it—was not gent to the House of
Commons but to the supporters of the School, and it did not contain any attack on the
Sinhalese”.

76. InJ. A. Will Perera, B. W. Perera, Patriot and Scholar, Colombo 1953, p. 7.

77. J. A. Will Perera Journalist; author of H. W. Perera: Patriot and Scholar, Colombo
1953; ““The late Mr. E. W, Perera’s father was my father’s cousin. His mother was my
father’s younger sister”, op.cit., p. 1; studied at Trinity College, Kandy 1911-17;
Will Perera was a severe crilic of Fraser. On 7 January 1950 shortly after Fraser
arrived on his last visit to Ceylon, Will Perera published, Fraser of Trinity in the
Searchlight Colombo, where he said “he [Fraser] was above all human and humane®,
but in 1953 soon after the death of B. W, Perera he recalled in his book the old con-
troversy between B. W. Perera and Fraser in a scathing attack on Fraser. He returned
to this attack on Fraser's death in 1962 in an article in the Ceylon Observer 11 February
1962. This brought a rejoinder from Will Perera's college mate S. E. N. Nicholas in
the Ceylon Observer 5 April 1962. The Old Boys of Trinity (S, J. C, Schokman, Dr,
Lloyd Abeyratne, C. B. Simithraaratchi, 8. B, Yatawara, M. Rajanayagam, J, L. C.
Rodrigo and D. B. Ellepola) jointly defended Frager in the Ceylon Observer 25
February 1962; see also Adonis [J. L. €, Rodrigo] Fraser of Trinity, Ceylon Daily
News 21 November 1949; 8. B. N. Nicholas He Bequeathed Character, Times of
Ceylon Sunday Illustrated 27 November 1949; 8. J. C. Schokman The Rev. A. Q.
Fraser.Times of Ceylon 2 February 1962; €. Selvaratnam on Fraser, Ceylon Observer
19 February 1962; T. R. J. [ansen| The Rev. A. G. Fraser, Times of Ceylon 22 February
1962: . R. de Silva Fraser of Trinity Ceylon Observer 9 March 1962; Vietor C. Perera
Fraser of Trinity, Oeylon Observer 10 March 1962 and J. A. Will Perera’s reply to his
crities Ceylon Observer 25 Webruary 1962, On reading these one would find J. A. Will
Perera more often wrong than right.

78. P. Ramanathan, Riots and Martial Law in Ceylon, 1915, Colombo 1916, pp. 14, 258
and 259; A statement by D. B. Seneviratne, a master of Trinity College, Kandy,
appears in this book, pp. 256 to 259.

78a. Hi was ilsrepreaaible although he once remarked (jocularly?) “the politically dead do
not speak’.

11986—6
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To digpore of a preliminary point at onee, Mr. Frager says in his reply that he did
not send the pamphlet to members of the House of Commons hut to supporters of
Trinity Collage of whom “‘probably about four were members of the House. I ean
only say that it is a strange coincidence that a pamphlet intended for the information
of the supporters of Trinity College should find its way into the hands of Members of
Parliament who took a warm interest on behalf of the Sinhalege on the eve of the
Colonial Office Debate.

I replied on October 25, noting exactly what I did say. In short T stated, “Mr. A, (.
F'raser, the Ceylon Missionary, had, according to the Colonial Under Secretary, testi-
fied to the disloyal nature and the organized character of the riots”. I reproduced
from the Official Record what Mr. Morrell, M.P. bad urged on behalf of the Sinhalege,
and the rejoinder by Sir A. Steel-Maitland, Under-Secretary of State for the Colonies,
supporfing the official case of conspiracy and disloyalty which the Sinhalese always
denounced as a gross libel, backing his statement with the authority of Mr. Fraser
in the words “that was the opinion of a perfectly unbiassed man like Mr. Fraser.”
To give Mr. Fraser an opportunity to explain before we took action Mr. D. B. Jaya-
tilaks communicated with Mr. Frager, who was then in England. This is the corres-
pondence I referred to, as anyone reading who was not in a temper or in a hwry would
have understood. I never knew that Mr. Fraser had any correspondence with the
Under-Secretary of State for the Colonies until his letter. Mr. Fraser says that he is
guite entitled to have his views on the subject and to express them. Nobody denies
this. But he must not deny the same liberty to other people if they consider hiz action
and statement such as these to Bir A. Steel-Maitland as ““an attack on the Sinhalese
and not an exuberant expression of friendlivkss.

-~

In regard to the pamphlet, T stated in my last communication that “Mr. Fraser
finally does admit that he had written a pamphlet, but denies that it did contain
any attack on the Sinhalese or that it was sent to the House of Commons”. T made
an appeal to him for the third time to issue that pamphlet to the Press. I shall deal
with this point later.

On October 27 Mr. Frager contributed nearly two columne in reply. To take the
material points. He admits “T did not say the rioters were disloyal or anti-Government
for I did not believe they were except for a very few, though they were, T believe, organised’.
{The italics are mine).

The Sinhalese case all along was that in no instance were the rioters “disloyal
or anfi-Government” and that “they were” not “organised”. That they were so was
the contention of Sir A. Steel-Maitland as “that was the opinion of a perfectly unbiassed
man like Mr. Fraser’.

In addition to the ““pamphlet’” Mr. Frager speaks of “one other letter to Old
Boys in the Foreces™, presumably also marked “private” and printed, which if putlished
now may throw light on this controversy.

Finally to come to the pamphlet which I have repeatedly asked Mr. Fraser
to eommunicate to the Press: the pasrage cuofed by Mr. Fraser does not exhaust
his reference to the viots and the rioters. The rest will not take more than a column
of the “Daily News”. and I feel sure that the Editor will extend his courtesy to
publish them. I am unable to supplement Mr. Traser’s quotations for the simple
reason that he has laid a strict embargo wpon my use of the pamphlet which he had
placed in the hands of the Editor. {

I would therefore request Mr. Fraser to quote for the benefit of the public of
Ceylon the rest of his account of the riots including the last three lines on page 20,
the first four lines on page 21, and the last four lines on page 21. Then the public
will be able to judge who is really trafficking in “terminological inexactitudes”— not
o employ a term used by Mr. Frager, which I was taught when a boy was never used
by well-bred people.

Yours faithfully .
EDWARD W. PERERA
Kotte, Octoher 29,
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The editorial note was as follows:

Mr. E. W. Perera today makes his answer to the Rev. A. G. Fraser’s letter of the
27th instant. Mr. Fraser in his letter, meeting the charges brought against him by
Mr. Perera, charactericed Mr. Perera’s statements as a lie. Mr. Fraser also left with
us his impeached pamphlet for Mr. Perera's inspection on condition that Mr, Perera
was not to make any quotations from it. We are constrained to malke some observa-
tions on the pamphlet because Mr. Fraser in his lotter appealed to us to state whether
he had put the position of the pamphlet fairly or not. On the 27th instant when
Mr. Fraser brought the pamphlet to this office, he very kindly went over the entire
publication with us, On that cceasion in the conrse of a hurried inspection we pointed
out to him certain pages of Mr. Fraser’s contribution, bearing on the riots which
Mr. Fraser had not included in his quotation. Mr. Fraser replied that the pages indi-
cated were not essential. We had not the time then to read those portions carefully.
We have however done so now and we feel that in order to place the matter fairly
before the public and in justice to My, Perera’s contention, they ought to be publighed.
At present Mr. Fraser does not want any quotations to be made either by Mr. Perera
or by us from outside the passages quoted by him. But we hope that in the interests
of truth he will permit their publication for which we shall be glad to place our columns
at his disposal.

It will be seen that the umpire has had second thoughts on the subject.
He did point out at the outset when Fraser “very kindly went over the entire
publication’ with him, that there were certain pages bearing on the Riots
which had not been included in Frasor's published quotationg. This does
not surprise us, for Fraser was confining himself only to rebutting a charge
of having a “novel and original theory™ on the causes of the Riots, by repro-
ducing his remarks relating to the causes. However the Editor had since his
meeting with Fraser pleaded that he had had only a “hurried inspection’
and had not “the time then to read those portions carefully”. Very compelling
reasons for a shift of position. Had there heen immediate publication of the
pamphlet as earnestly pleaded for by the Editor, it would have decided the
issue once and for all (in Fraser’s favour as we shall discover). But Fraser
as might have heen anticipated would not budge. The debate now ended.

What was the Parthian shot of Perera? Any disinterested man reading
Perera’s lotter after informing himself in full of all the circumstances of the
case would be compelled to come to only one conclusion. Far from Fraser’s
last letter of 27 October being as alleged by Perera rambling, it was Perera’s
final reply that was rambling and perplexing.

In the debate at the House of Commons on the Colonial Office Estimates
in 1917, the main issue that was raised, as we have emphasised over and over
again, was whether thers was a conspiracy or not. Morell and King argued
that there was no conspiracy. Much as Steel-Maitland would have wished to
state that there was a conspiracy, he equivocated and finally in the vaguest
of terms declared that “it was largely a matter of design’’. Fraser’s name was
added almost as an afterthought at the end, as one who would bear him
out, but King had immediately protested that as far as conspiracy was con-
cerned Fraser had definitely stated that there was no conspiracy. Perera
however continued to take it for granted that every word of Steel-Maitland's
speech in this connection had been underlined with the blue-pencil of Fraser’s
authority.
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Perera also drew a red herring across the trail by assuming that the “one
other letter to Old Boys in the Forces” which Fraser had indicated having
written might also provide another controversy of a like nature. The object
of Perera was to demand publication of private communications of Fraser
bearing on the Riots on the ground that Perera was alleging rightly or wrongly
that these had been prejudicial to the national cause. This was most unfair.

Having seen the pamphlet again at the Ceylon Daily News office, and
having agreed not to quote without Fraser’s permission, Perera had challenged
Fraser in his concluding remarks to justify his position in the following crucial
words which we shall repeat: “I would therefore request Mr. Fraser to quote
for the benefit of the public of Ceylon the rest of his account of the Riots”
including

(@) the last three lines on page 20
(b) the first four lines on page 21
(¢) the last four lines on page 21,

“when the public will be able”, Perera challenged, “to judge who is really
trafficking in ‘terminological inexactitudes’-”. There was no response from
Fraser. The debate having thus ended, Fraser withdrew into his shell of silence
never to raise this subject again.,

In Ceylon, we now know, Albert Godamunne, the Rev, G. 8. Amarasekera,
J. L. C. Rodrigo, E. R. de Silva, Victor C. Perera™ and S. J. K. Crowther
have read the pamphlet. The first five had not seen anything in it prejudicial
to the Sinhalese. Albert Godamunne, a militant Kandyan Buddhist nationa.-
list, for one, would have been the first to denounce it if it had been otherwise,
S. J. K. Crowther, the Editor of the Ceylon Daily News, was very anxious
that the pamphlet should be published, but regarding its merits or demerits
he kept his own counsel. No wonder, every student of those times is eager to
get hold of this mysterious and elusive pamphlet that was supposed to have
contained an attack on the Sinhalese people by Fraser. This allegation had
distorted Fraser’s image in several quarters and had indeed. in our opinion
spelt doom to his further career in Ceylon. A study of the actual facts thus
becomes necessary to establish truth in place of rumour and conjecture.

We are told that the pamphlet is nov available av the Trinity College
archives, nor in those of the Church Missionary Society in London, although
there is in the latter place a copy of a letter® from Fraser enclosing papers
probably connected with thiz Report, and requesting the Committee to make
a selection from those papers for publication. We have no doubt that the

79. Vietor C. Perera, Prostor 8.C.; “ardent and very loyal Trinitian”, says Professor
J. L. C. Rodrigo. See fn., 77 supra.

80, Dr, P. V. J. Jayasekera of the Vidyodaya University of Ceylon, Gangodawila drew
our attention to this coriespondence. In his unpublished Ph.D. thesis entitled Social
and Political Change in Ceylon 1900-1919, University of London 1969, Dr. Jayasckera
writes on the Riots (which he calls ““disturbances’’) in Chapters 3, |4 and 5.
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pamphlet will one day turn up. In the meantime the writer had come across
among the E. W. Perera Papers in his possession some MSS entitled in Perera’s
own handwriting ““Eaxtracts from Rev. Fraser's pamphlet circulated in England
marked ‘confidential’ concerning the Rioks and the part he took in quelling them”.
We have good reason to believe that vhese Extracts which we publish as an
Appendix® to this article is an authentic copy and until the real pamphlet
is fortheoming, this could shed some light on the controversy.

These apparently cover pages 12 to 22 of the pamphlet, and therefore
include the alleged tell-tale passages from pages 20 and 21 the publication
of which Perera had demanded. 1t would seem that pages 10 and 11 contained
the passages regarding the cause of the Riots. These were quoted by Fraser
in his letter and have also been reproduced above. The pamphlet, aceording
to the Rev. . 8. Amarasekera is entitled “The Story of Another Year’s Work,
1915, Trinity College, Kandy, Ceylon”. According to him it was an illustrated
pamphlet “which booms the college”. He® had also stated after reading it,
that “the aceount of the Riows given in the report does not blame the Sinha-
lege”. According to Fraser the pamphlet is a report of 106 pages of which only
12 in all referred to the Riots. Fraser had stated that iv contained a cartoon
for which he was not responsible and which was never considered as his. Accord-
ing to Travers Buxton the pamphlet was marked “‘for private circulation
only”. These particulars, it should be noted, are from written testimony given
by those who have seen the pamphlet.

We shall now reconstruct the pages that related to the Riots. Already
as we have seen Fraser had quoted that part of the Report that dealt with
the causes of the Riots. Immediately following it were, it would seem, the
extracts that have now become available. Together they should form pages
10 to 22 of Fraser’s Report. On reading this reconstructed Report we notice
that some parts (ih an abridged form) had appeared in the Trinity College
Magazine of November 1915% pages 32 to 35. Until the printed pamphlet
is found and all doubts finally cleared, we shall have to rely on the material
now available.** On reading this material one is compelled to note that Perera’s
attacks on Fraser were unwarranted. Leaving aside hard words and strictures,

81. Appendix Cinfra.
82. Amarasekera who was the incumbent of Hely Trinity Church, Kandy which was the

College chapel at the time had strong personal differences with Fraser over the buil-
ding of a new school chapel. See Ward op. cit., pp. 107 to 113,

83. We are obliged to 8. J. C. Schokman of Colombo for this copy of the Magazine, which
was edited by J. L. C. Rodrigo and R. C. Edwards.

84. Compare Hxiracts (Appendix C) with Ward op. cit., pp. 100 to 105 where Ward quotes
from a letter dated 1 June 1915 from Fraser to the Church Missionary Society, London
and also from other correspondence and Reports available to him, Miss V. L. 0.
Reimann author of History of Trinity College, Kandy, Colombo 1928, also deals with
the Riots, pp. 173 to 178, These accounts have a common characteristic which can best .
be described in the Rev. G. 8, Amarasekera’s homely idiom as “booming the College™,
There is no attack, whatscever, on the Sinhalese people.
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.and avoiding such terms as “lie”’, one must regretfully conclude that all this

trouble had come through the clash of two dominant personalities, each in
his own way unyielding and tenacious, who would rather employ the arts
and artifices of debate to gain their ends than seek rapprochement through
a friendly give and take. In the present case the initial fault lies fairly and
squarely with E. W, Perera, as the hitherto “un-republished” part of the
Report would reveal.

These Extracts, it will be agreed, show that Fraser had endeavoured
in the words of the Rev. G. 8. Amarasekera to “‘boom the College™ giving details
of “what mighty things he and his College did during the Riots”. The report
was directed to the head and heart of the British benefactor. It was an informal
and intimate communication, with no pretence to graces of style, somewhat
rambling, very personal and on the face of it strictly intended for a limited
and exclusive audience.

In these circumstances one should be able to appreciate the reluctance
of Frasger to give unnecessary publicity to what was in effect privave corres-
pondence. While there is good ground for it to be subjecved now, like all other
literary remains, to the serutiny of scholars it would have been most unrea-
sonable to expect, far less to demand, contemporary publicity for such commu-
nications.

Today we are familiar with masses of private correspondence, secret
papers, love letters and other evidence of the lives of great and little men
who have lived their days and passed away, laid bare to the public gaze. These
make the characters real and human, not mere images graven for adoration
as tribal gods or household deities, Truth, the greatest of all human objec-
tives, is thus vindicated. -

In the present case, while some might even blush when reading the Reports
no fair-minded person would say that Fraser had slandered a nation or its
people. Fraser, as we would have observed, was first charged with having
declared to Steel-Maitland that the Riots were a “‘conspiracy”, a “rising or
rebellion”. “disloyal”’ and of “organised character’, meaning thereby that
the people had conspired and organised to overthrow the Government.

When these wild charges were found to be untenable, the position had
shifted and Fraser was asked to publish the “novel and original theory™ of
the Riots, that he had advanced in a secret pamphlet (ostensibly a College
Report) circulated among the Members of the House of Commons. Fraser
immediately complied with this request furnishing the required extract,
but hotly denying at the same time that it was circulated among Members
of the House of Commons except among four friends of Trinity College, Kandy,
who were also Members of Parliament.
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Then publication of specific extracts from the Report from pages 20 and 21
was demanded. These particulars, which Fraser refused to publish for reasons
of his own are now available and they form (more or less), as far as we can
reconstruct Fraser's Report on the Riots, the passages underlined in the
Extracts. Do these or any other passages in the Hxtracts indicate that Fraser
had alleged conspiracy or an anti-government organised rebellion on the
part of the Sinhalese Buddhists as was assumed by E. W. Perera? The answer
is quite clearly in the negative.

APPENDIX A
THE GAMPOLA PERAHERA CASE

This case, D.C. Kandy No. 2246, was instituted on 3 April 1913 at Kandy by the
Basnayake Nileme®5, the chief lay officer and trustee of the Wallahagoda Devale in
Gampola, against the Attorney-General of Ceylon as representing the Crown. The plaintiff
claimed a declaration that he was entitled to the right of condueting a religious procession,
the Bsala Perahera at Gampola, without restriction and based his right upon the fifth
provision of the Kandyan Convention of 1815 which was described as a “solemn Treaty
of Cession between the British Crown and the Kandyan Sinhalese which could not be
varied by subsequent legislation”. 858 The District Judge (Paul E. Pierisst) delivered
judgementsid on 4 June 1914 in favour of the plaintiff: the judgement is reproduced in Sir
Paul Pieris Felicitation Volume, Colombo, 1956, at pp. 156-174. The defendant appealed
against this judgement in 8.C. No. 245 D.C. Final, and the Supreme Court consisting of
two judges (W. 8. Shaws? and T. K. de Sampayo8) allowed the appeal and set aside the
Judgement of the District Court on 2 February 1915 (see Basnayeke Nilame vs The Attor-
ney-General, 18 New Law Reports pp. 193-213).

85. Wickramsinghe Nawaratne Panditta Wasala Abeykoon Ganwilla Herat Mudianselage
Tikiri Bandara Ellekewala.

85a. See printed Record of Privy Couneil Appeal No. 90 of 1961, p. 10 (4), PPERI and
ONA 65/236.

86. Paulus Edward Pievis, later Sir P. B, Pieris Deraniyagala Samarasinha Siriwardhana
(1874-1957), B.A. (Trinity College, Cambridge), L.L.M. and Litt.D, (Cantab.), Barris-
ter-at-Law. Tnner Temple 1895, Ceylon Civil Service 1896-1935, Trade Commissioner
for Ceylon in England; Organiser of the National Day movement in 1013; historian
and patriot. ““He critically examined the various fables that had been put in circula-
tion by the British, and demonstrated that stories like the pounding of the decapitated
heads of Ehelepola’s children, were sheer propaganda, inventions as false as the horror
tale of the Black Hole of Caleutta. He painted Sri Wickrama as a hapless monarch
hedged in by enemies and surrounded by traitors, a forlorn figure not knowing whom
to trust, striving in vain to maintain fthe independence of the Sinhalese”, Thalgoda-
pitiya op.cit., p. 136.

86, Pieris declared in this judgement, “This is the first time that the nature of the Conven-
tion has been brought before a court of law for a judicial interpretation”, p. 167.
This is not guite correct: see G, 4. vs Suddhana 5 Tambyah 39, cited in 18 N.L.R.
at p. 210,

87. Bir Walter Sidney Shaw (1863-1937) Barrister-at-Law Middle Temple 1888, Puisne
Judge of the Bupreme Court, Ceylon 1914-21, knighted 1921,

88. Sir Thomas Edward de Sampayo (1855-1927) Puisne Judge Su & Court Ceylon
1915-1924; “*As a Sinhalese”, he wrote on 15 October 1915 to Sir Alfied Lascelles
(formerly Chief Justice Ceylon), “I am thoroughly ashamed’ of “‘the existing poison”, |
of Sinhalese nationalism; C.0. 54/792 (50319), guoted by Charles 8. Blackton op,
cit., p. 238 fn. 15.
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The plaintiff petitioned the Privy Coumcil in P.C. Appeal No. 90 of 1916, E. W. Perera,
‘D. B. Jayatilaka, J. H. Sproule,80 Sir John Simon% and De Gruytherfl appeared for
him, while W. H. Upjohn2 and H. M. Giveen appeared for the respondent. Following
a gettlement®3 of the dispute in Ceylon, the appellant offered to withdraw the appeal
at the first hearing on 14 May 1917 and sought & declaration from the Crown, which was
to be embodied in the Order of the King-in-Council, to the effect that “upon the respondent
stating that the Government of Ceylon has no intention of disregarding the Kandyan
Convention the Appeal is by consent withdrawn, each side paying its own costs”.9¢ This
offer was rejected by the respondent, and on the other hand the judgement of the Judicial
Committee of the Privy Council deliversd on 17 June 1918 (see 20 New Low Reporis pp.
376-377) incorporated a passage from & letterd5 from the respondent’s solicitors, to which
the Lords of the Judicial Committee expressly drew attention. This passage ran: “We would
point out that after the rebellion of 1818 a proclamation was issued in November of that
year, and from that date down to the present time the Government of the igland has always
been administered upon the fooling that all persong inhabiting the island should have
full liberty of conscience, and the free exercise of all such modes of religious worship as
were not prohibited by law, provided they be contented with the quiet and peaceable
enjoyment of the same, not giving offence or seandal to the Government. And it has further
been a principle of administration that all laws, whether they assume the form of an enact-
ment or the form of a compact, must be regarded ag liable to such changes by competent
authority as in process of time and under changing eircumstances the general interests
of the colony or the interests of law and order may demand”,

Copies of the Privy Council brief and the correspondence between the solicitor for the
appellant and the solicitors for the respondent ave among the f. W. Perera Papers in the pos-
session of the present writer.95 A, verbatim report of the proceedings of the Privy Council
of the 17 June 1918 appeared in the Ceylon Daily News of 31 August 1918, The writer is
obliged to J. Malalgoda of Colombo for drawing his attention to this report and for
providing him with the press-cutting. The short-hand notes of the earlier proceedings
of the Privy Council of 14 May 1917 will be found among the Colonial Office Records in
the Public Record Office, London.

APPENDIX B
A PORTION OF THE DIARY OF REV. J, SIMON DE SILVA

June 4th, 1915:

For somoe 3 or 4 days a state of utter lawlessness has prevailed in Colombo and through-
out the country. Mob law has reigned supreme in all parts of Colombo, and the mobs have
done their sweet will with the boutiques and shops and other property of coast Moormen

89. James Hugh Sproule, born at Badulla, Ceylon; Barrister-at-Law; President of the
Ceylon Association in England; died 1924 (7).

80. Sir John Allsebrook Simon, Ist Viseount (1873-1954), described by Perera as a “‘bril-
liant Advocate”. His annual income at the Bar at one time was reputed to be over
£560,000. He was Attorney-General with a seat in the Cabinet 1913-15; Home Secre-
tary 1915-16; He served in the War in France 1917-18; Chairman of the Indian Statu-
tory Commission 1927-30, Foreign Secretary 1981-35, Home Secretary 1938-37, Chan-
cellor of the Exchequer 1937-40, Lord Chancellor 1940-45. He joined the National
Liberals in the British House of Commons 1930. He opposed compulsory military
service during the first World War; his second wife Kathleen Harvey was a “well-
known anti-slavery erusader’”,

91. Leslie Do Gruyther. Bariister-at-Law, Middle Temple 1885; King’s Counsel 1908;
died 11 November, 1937. .

92. William Henry Upjohn (1853-1941) Barrister-at-Law 1881, Queen’s Coumsel 1897 i
retired 1936.

3. Bee Ceylon Morning Leader 18 August 1916 and 12 March 1917, Ceylon Morning Leader
Overland Edition 14 December 1916; also copies of correspondence between E, Delgado
of 8 Warwick Court, Gray’s Inn, W.C.1, Solicitor for the Appellant and Burchells of
5, The Sanctuary, Westminster 8.W., Solicitors for the Respondent, PPERI.

94. Bee copy of letter dated 17 May 1817 from Delgado to Burchells, PPERI,

95. Bee copy of letter dated 5 November 1917 from Burchells to Delgado, PPERI,

958, PPE RI.
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{Hambankaraya )9 and in many cases of Moormen and Baiyas.97 The rioters have moved
about in large gangs in broad daylight, and looted goods, assaulted the tambys.98
killed many of them without any hindrance from the Police who would seem
to have been utterly helpless. There have been reprisals sometimes, but until martial law
was proclaimed (far too late, I think), enormous damage to property and to some extent
to life has been done not only in Colombo but in nearly all out-stations. It has been a terribla
sight to see the rowdy crowds rushing about in a fit of frenzy beyond the power of anybody
to control them. The military have shot down a good many already, and martial law
has been extended to most other provinces as well as Colombo. It is too soon to determine
the immediate causes—except to note that the trouble began on Wesak night8 (May 28th)
at Kandy in a quarrel between some carollers and Mohammedans there.

June 8th, 1915:

The disturbances have practically come to an end, and the Moormen are seen to be
going about once more, Very considerable damage has been done in the outstations, but
the proclamation of martial law had an excellent effect and matters are now well under
control.,

What an ugly nightmare it all has been. One feels inexpressibly distressed and perplexed
over what has happened. The Sinhalese nation stands disgraced today.

L=

June 12th, 1915:

The disturbances are over and things are becoming normal once more. Martial law
is still in force and several prominent Sinhalese people have been arrested and their homes
searched. We feared that my connection with the National Day Movement would lead
to their visiting my home too, but they have not done so.

June 14th, 1915:

Martial law still prevails and there is grave inconvenience to everybody in conse-
quence. All the Sinhalese papers have heen stopped, and I especially regret the temporary
guspension of the Dinaminal®0 to which T began to contribute.

June 20th, 1915:

The country is under a gloom still. Martial law continues and it is announced that it
will continue till August. Some of the well-to-do leading Sinhalese (Buddhists) are being
hauled up and some of them, it is alleged, are to be court-martialled. A large number of
people in the villages have been, it is understood, shot already and how many else are being
shot, nobody knows.

96. See frn. T2a. supra.

97. A term used to deseribe Muslims from Baluchistan, who are alsc called (wrongly)
“Afghans”. They were originally itenerant wvendors of cloth who becamesusurious
money-lenders. {4

2

98. A loose, and affectionate, Tamil weid meaning “‘younger brother™ which eame to be

used in addressing the “"Mocrmen™ who are Tamil-speaking.

99. About 1-30 a.m. 29 May. close to “Salgado’s bakery', at Castle Hill Street; A Rat-
nayake, later President of the Senate says that as a little boy he was present at this
crucial moment by the side of his father P. B. Ratnayake of Katugastota who appealed
to the crowd to be calm and peaceful. Inspector of Police F. T. Cooie and Proctor
E. L. Wijegoonewairdene of Kandy were alsc on the scene. For an account of Ratna-
yake's arrest, internment, trial and acquittal see Armand de Souza op. eil., pp. 209, 210.

100. A Sinhalese newspaper founded on 17 December 1909 by H. 8. Perera formerly of the
staff of the Sarasavisandarasa a journal started by the Buddhist Theosophical Society.
“It was bought by D. R, Wijewardene and his brother ‘D.C.’ the first newspaper
venture jointly or separately”. Hulugalle op. eit.,, p. 95. On 2 March 1915, centenary
oi the fall of the Kandyan Kingdom, the Dinamina published & special issue with
reproductions of the Lion Flag and photographs of 8ri Wickrama Raja Singha and ,
one of his Queens. PP 4; gee Blackton op. cit., pp. 236, 237.

11985 —6%
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June 25th, 1915:

Finished preparing ‘Life of Neesima' for the press. I think its publication will be
particularly appropriate and useful at the present time as exhibiting true patriotism as
different from the pseudo patriotism in our midst which is responsible for much of the
trouble that has come upon us. What a depressing sense of unsettlement and uncertainty
still prevails. Practically all the influential Buddhist leaders have been arrested and are now
in prison pending inquiry.

Saw Me, Rigbyl0l again about the state of affairs in the country and tried to persuade
him to take some action by himself if some concerted action on the part of heads of churches
ie impossible. It wonld seem that the military authorities are going to take yet more drastic
measures with a view not merely to punish wrong doers but to destroy every possibility
of future trouble. To what lengths these measures will be carried out, it is impossible to
know. What one feels greatly concerned about is, that the Government is laying in store,
without intending it doubtless, a great harvest of bitterness for the future,

July 9th, 1915: -

The ‘reign of terror’ continues, Several people have been condernned by Court Martial
to death, and this morning [sic] Mr. D. D. Pedris’ young and only sonl0? was shot. It has
gent a feeling of horror throughout the country. It appears the old man offered” to pay
Government lakhs of rupees if only his son could be spared, but it was to no avail. Some
15 or more are to be shot in the next two or three days and others are fo be transport-
ed for life.

July 10th, 1915:

The court martialling and sentencing of people to death continues. N. S. Fernando’s
sonl03 (D. D. Pedris’ son-in-law) is among the condemned to die. It is to be feared that
qome of those who have been already executed or are to be execufied are inmocent peaple.
Nover has the country been so stirred to its depths as now. There is a great fear. a feeling
of deep despair and a dread uncertainty about the future. One’s heart bleeds indeed for
the people.

101. Rev., William H. Righy. Wesleyan Methodist Minister; served in Ceylon 1884 fo 1917;
Chairman South Ceylon District 1907-1917.

102. Diyvunuge Edward Henry Pedr is, & member of the (mounted) section of the Colombo
Town Guards; Governor Chalmers in a letter dated 8 July 1915 tc the Secretary
of f1gite wrote, “the Brigadier General saw fit not to vefer the matter to me and the
death sentence was carried out’, C.0. 54/782 (35109) cuoted by Dr. Kumari Jaya-
wardena Heonomic and Political Factors in the 1915 Riots, Journal of Asian Studies
(U.8.A), Vol. XXTIX: 2 February 1970, p. 232 fn. 46. See also Pedris vs Manufacturers
Life Insurance Co. Limited where the next of kin of Pedris claimed Ra. 25.000/- the sum
for which Pedris was insured in 1907: New Law Reports Vol. XIX pp. 321-333; On
10 July 1915 Inspector of Police F. P. Samarasinghe was executed. alzo by shooting,
in this case following confirmation of the sentence by Chalmers “after consulting the
Txecutive Council”, see Ceylon Morning Leader T and 12 July 1915.

103. Namunidewage Albert Wijesekera. It is interesting to note that in this case too “the
Officer Commanding the Troops has directed that the capital sentence shall not be
executed until an opportunity has been afforded to His Excellency the Governor in
Executive Council to consider whether the clemency of the Crown shall be exercised”,
—(leylon Morning Leader 9 July 1915. Wijesekera's death semfence was commuted
to life imprisonment, but he died in jail shortly afterwards.
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July 1ith, 1915:

Visited the friends who are incarcerated in Welikada gaol—D. B. Jayatilaka, the
Senanayakes, 104 the Hewavitarnes,105 newspaper editors and a number of others. I broke
down at the sight of them in their pitiful plight, these wealthy influential men, most of
them. I spent sometime with them and saw on their behalf immediately after, Messrs.
Hightield,106 Dibben 107 Ewingl8 and Restarick,10% T have decided to try to get up
a deputation of Sinhalese Ministers with Mr. Righy to introduce the case and one or two
other leading missionaries to wait on the Governor, who will receive us on behalf of these
friends. I had a busy time seeing people in connection with the above. Saw nearly all the
men whom we expect to join. There has been a deputation of Sinhalese Christian laymen
vesterday, with somewhat hopeful results.

July 17th, 1915:

Most of my time this week has been tuken up with trying to arrange for a deputation
of Binhalese clergymen and pastors to wait on the Governor. We had a meeting on Thursday
at 8t. Luke’s Sehool room, Borella, with Rev. G. B. Ekanayakel10 in the Chair to discuss
the matter. Previously Mr. Rigby had written to His Excellency requesting the interview,
to which His Excellency replied asking that we send him a statement of our views in the
first instance. This has been prepared, but as we want Mr. Rigby, Mr. Dibben and Mr.
Ewing to go with us, a further meeting is to be held on Monday. The delay is very un-
fortunate for “timeig life’.

104, Don Charles Senanayvake (1878-1931), Proprietory Planter, Mine owner and Merchant;
Frederick Richard Senanayake (1882-1926), see fn. 61 supra: Don Stephen Senansyake
(1884-1952) first Prime Minister of Ceylon: entered the Ceylon legislature in 1921
and eontinued as a member until his death on 22 March 1052; in November 1945
he suceeeded in bringing the Ceylonese communities together to vote for the acceptance
of the Contitution offered by the U.K. Government in the White Paper of 31 October
1945. 1t was a “‘notable personal triumph for Ceylon’s great leader”, Sir Charles .J offries,
Ceylon—the Path to Independence London 1962, p. 107; Jeffries further wrote. “he
was, to most Ueylonese even to his political opponents, the personification of the
nation’, op. ¢it., p. 136.

105. Dr. Charles A. Hewavitarne and Simon Hewavitarne, brothers of the Anagarika
Dharmapala. see fn. 23 supra; Edmund Hewavitarne another brother died in jail
at Jaffna, see letter dated 18 July 1917 from R. H. Whitehorn, Private Seecretary to
the Governor to Dr, C. A, Hewavitaine expressing “His Excellency’s sincere svmpf;l:hv
and regret” ohviously for a miscarriage (rather “travesty’) of justice: (_?eyl.nm. Morning
Leader 21 July 1917, d

106, Rev. Henry Highfield 1865-1955, Wesleyan Methodist Minister, Prinecipal Wesley
College 1895-1925. '

107. Rev. Arthur Edwin Dibben, M.A. (Cantab.), Secretary of the Ceylon Mission of the
Church Missionary Society: arrived in Ceylon 1890, 3

108. Rev. John A. Ewing. served in Ceylon 1902-1934: held the post of Field Secretary of
tha Baptist Mission for several years; died in U.K., 7 June 1951; author of “T.anka
the Resplendent Isle”, London 1913. a

109. Rev. Arthur E. Restarick (1861-1933) Wesleyan Methodist: Minister, served in Cevlon
1884-1933. Colombo City Mission 1912-1917, =

110. Canon George Benjamin Ikanayake (1866-1943), occasional leader-writer to the
Oeylon Independent; “bishop maker”, see Canon Elanayake of Colombo by Percy
Wickremasinghe. Colombo 1949. p, 43. Ekanayake’s photograph appeared on tllllﬂ
first page of the Ceylon Morning Leader 12 February 1924 the day of the election for
the bishop, flanked on either side by photegraphs of the candidates, Fraser and Carpen-
ter-Garnier. 3
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Today I went to give evidence for Goonasingha,111 but was not called. Court martials
are being held daily and people condemned to death or penal servitude,

July 18th, 1915:

Visited Welikada gaol and saw the friends in custody again. Oh, that I might do
something to help in bringing about the discharge of these people.

July 19th, 1915:

A meeting was held at the Galle Face Mission House (Mr. Dibben’s) this morning
to discuss the letter to the Governor and to arrange the deputation. Very good meeting.
Had the valuable advantage of the presence of Mr. Fraser of Kandy who is using the greal
influence with Government on behalf of the people. Messrs Rigby, Dibben and Hwing, with
several Sinhalese ministers were there. A letter to His Excellency was prepared. (emphasis
added).

* * *

August 2nd, 1915:
Wrote to Messrs. Ramanathan and Moonemallell2 giving my views for the Council
Meeting next Saturday.

* * *

August 28th, 1915:

Went over to Wijewardenesll3 to meet their lawyers in regard to the case against the
Dinamina in which T am sammoned to give evidence. Saw Mr. Hewavitarne and others.
They want some of us to go to England in a deputation in regard to the present state of
affairs and what has already happened in connection with the riots. It is possible that D.B.
Jayatilaka and I may be asked to go for the present, whilst arrangements ave made for
a later and more influential deputation. Dr. Hewavitarne and Dr. Fernando are of the
opinion that we should go without loss of time.

* * &

August 30th, 1915:

Went over to D. B. Jayatilaka’s in regard to case against the Dinamina. Mr. Ewing
too was there.
August 31st, 1915:

The termination of martial law by the Governor has just been gazetted, so one feature
of the terrible nightmare is over.

L11. Alexander Ekanayake Goonesinha (1892-1967), journalist and Labour Leader; founded
the Young Lanka Leage, the Ceylon Labour Union and Ceylen Labour Paity; picneer
agitator for manhood suffrage and Trade Union tights for urban labour; editor of the
Searchlight, the Nation (along with E. T. de Silva 1884-1926), and Young Lanka;
was defeated by 8. W. R. Dias Bandaranaike (1899-1959) in a contest to represent
the Maradana Ward in the Colombo Municipal Couneil, 1927; member of the State
Council for Colombo Central; member of the House of Representatives for Colomho
Central and Minister without Portfolio in D. S. Senanayake’s Cabinet; Ambassados of
Ceylon in Indonesia; copies of his fragmentary autobiography handed by him shortly
before his death to the present writer are at the Library, University of Ceylon, Pera-
deniya and at the Evelyn Rutnam Institute, 35 Guildford Crescent, Colombo 7: see

A. E. Goonesinha My Life and Labour a series of articles in the Ceylon Gbserver July/
August 1965.

112.T. B. L. Moonamalle (1868-1938), Proctor 8.C., Nominated Member representing the
Kandyan Sinhalese in the Legislative Couneil 1906-1917; Member of the Kandyan
Reforms Deputation to Lord Milner, the Seeretary of State for the Colonies.

113. See fn. 68 supra.
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September 25th, 1915:

Our dear friend Dr. Solomon Fernandoll4 has suddenly passed away. He spoke
at this afternoon’s Meeting of the Sinhalese in the Public Hall, filled with numerous
touches that one has ever heard and almost immediately after sitting down his heart
failed and within about ten minutes he was gone. The rest of the proceedings were curtailed
and the vast gathering was solemnised. What an end it was. how fitting and beautiful,
He lived for others—his heart has grieved for every one in distress, and no one has felt
more keenly for our people during their recent sufferings than he. And he died for them.

February 1st, 1916:

Wrote to Dr. Seott Lidgett,115 Editor of the Methodist Times with reference to the
late disturbances and requesting his help for Mr. D. B. Jayatilaka’s mission, Wrote also to
Jayatilaka.

February 11th, 1916:

I have written a long letter to Mr. Henry Haighllt as I did last week to Dr. Scott
Lidgett, explaining the late troubles and commending to them the mission of D. B. J aya-
tilaka.

H# * #

February 27th, 1916:
Had a long talk with F. R. Senanayakell7? as to assisting our friends in England.

April 16th, 1916:
Heard from D. B. Jayatilaka, Was cheered to learn that my efforts to got friends

interested in his mission have been not without results. The Methodist Times has afforded
him an interview and written very well about our matter.

May 12th, 1916:

Went with F. R. Senanayake to sec My, Fraser in order to seck his help in approaching
the Governor in connection with riot prisoners sill in incarceration. (emphasis added).

APPENDIX C

EXTRACTS FROM REV. FRASER’S PAMPHLET CIRCULATED IN ENGLAND,
MARKED ‘CONFIDENTIAL’ CONCERNING THE RIOTS AND THE
PART HE TOOK IN QUELLING THEMI118

Friday, May 28th Buddha's birthday, passed off without any tumult in Kandy.
There were great crowds in the street, and I took my wife a walk through them, and they
were orderly, even if a little expectant and excited. A few here and there had clubs. About
3 a.m. after most people had gone to bed, the riots broke out with an attack on that mosque,
which had been most aggressive in its objections to dansales and processions. It was an

114. Dr. Solomon Fernando (1850-1915), “Few people are aware that Solomon Fernando
literally walked to his death, for he was ailing with a weak heart; he could not resist
the personal entreaties of D. 8. Senanayake and others. He kept his tryst with destiny,
but left the motherless children, to whom he was passionately devoted, orphans of
the storm™; J,T.R. in the Tribune 25 September 1967, p. 3.

115. Rev. John Scott Lidgett, Wesleyan Methodist Minister, Leader of the Progressive
Party in the London Country Council 1918-1924; The Methodist Times of 23 Maich
1916 had an article on “T'he T'roubles in Ceylon ; Why a Commission of Inguiry is
asked for?” and supported it with editorial comment.

116, Rev. Henry Haigh (1853-1917), Wesleyan Methodist Minister; Secretary of the Wes-
leyan Missionary Society; ex-President of the Wesleyan Missionary Congress.

117. See fn. 61 supra.

118, These extracts are taken from a manuseript copy in PPERT; The latter part of this
manuseript in E. W, Perera’s handwriting concludes with “p. 12-23. Report For
Private Circulation only—The Riots p. 90-84". The title begining “Extracts from......""
is also in B. W. Perera’s handwriting, A complete photostat copy of this document is
in the Library, University of Ceylon, Peradeniya,
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empty shell next morning, but none of us felt much sympathy for the Moors or any indig-
nation against the Sinhalese. No one had been killed or hurt, and the Moors had brought
the attack on themselves, by their religious intolerance.

On Saturday, the 20th, crowds, began to collect fowards evening, A little before 9
o'clock, I went down in dinner dress, and without a stick or anything of the kind, just
to see if trouble was likely. and to give any help I could. I soon saw mischief was afoot.
One shop, a jeweller’s, had been smashed in. The Superintendent of Police had been assaulted.
The crowd were armed with clubs, and had great beams to use as battering rams. They
were led by Low-Country Sinhalese—a much less religions. and more deliberately dange-
rous set of men than were in evidence the previous night.

I saw an order given by one of these leaders, and the mob, in answer rush to the main
trading street of the town. I ran after them, and, though only one minute behind them,
found them already at work, when I got round the corner. With great beams they were
trying to burst open a Moor Shop and dwelling house. Bricks were hurtling through the
air at it, and clubs battering also on its wall and shutters. One man was climbing on to the
roof to mmtile it and to get it from above. I jumped for him and hauled him down by his
heel. Then I stood with my baclk to the shop and laughed to the crowd. They quite cheer-
fully laughed back at the sight of their sprawling leader, and I slowly lit a cigar. That
interested them all, and bricks ceased to fly. I think they considered the cigar clean out
of place at such a timoe, & sort of genial profanity. Then we talked, After much discussion,
they finally told me they must attack the Moors but they were loyal to the Buropeans.
“Well”, T said “if you are loyal to the Europeans, I am one and you must obey me, and
go and seek your Moors where I am not”. They agreed. Then they weut a hundred vards
turther down and started on another place, where I followed them.

But soon after, at the other end of the streef, a Sinhalese was shot by a Mohammedan
and meantime, too much arrack was being drunk. So T colleeted a party of six11¥ masters
and old boys, told the head of the police that if he would guard the centre of the town,
we seven would do what we could for the dangerous suburbs of Katukelle and Gtatembe.

Then began a night of work. We started off on this mission after 11 p.m. We had
gone only a little over half a mile when we came to a stable yard full of rowdies, all armed.
They told us they were going to defend the Temple of the Tooth from the Moors, They
were as & matter of fact, going to attack the Katukelle and Gatembe Moors. However,
to the Temple of the Tooth they had appealed, and as it is in the centre of Kandy, and
besides all the police, there they should go. By sheer impudence weo drove them there—
& cool hundred of them. Until 2 o’clock we kept Katukello. But another road passes a few
hundred yards south of Katukelle, and joins the main road leading to Gatembe, Pera-
deniya and Colombo behind it. Knowing we were on the main road, a large mob advanced
along the south road. We heard them and ran to the junction. There they soon came upon
us, well over 500 of them. led by the biggest Sinhalese I have ever seen—a man 6 feet
3 inches, armed with a club and knueckle-duster. Many were diunk—maddened, all were
eager to get to Gatembe mosque. Then came a sporting struggle. We could not turm them,
but we could delay them. I sent Asche the Australian, back to tell the authorities that we
were powerless to prevent the destruction of Gatembe and could only delay it for an hour
or 50. The rest of us one American, one Burgher, one Englishman, two Sinhalese and miyself,
started the work of making time. We argued, threatened, expostulated, and started to
march with them to Gatembe, 21 miles away. BEvery now and again we stopped to re-
argue the case, the big man threatening us, and me in particular with the martyr’s crown.,
We were all scattered amongst the crowd, and on one occasion, I twmed from my place ab
the head of the procession, and saw Roberts the American about three paces behind.
I said “Come along here, we may as well march together and enjoy our walk’”, He answered
“No, T am staying right here to see that that limb of Satan does not get you with his club
or knuckle-duster”. The “limb™ understood no American, and as it was the first row
Roberts had ever been in, I thought he was showing some sense. As we neared Gatembe
mosque, we came on the local police station. I ran into it to ring up the Kandy police, and

119. “Fraser went back to the College to get help and he eollected six masters with walling
sticks: [C.E.] Simithraaratchy [later Principal of Trinity], Jansz and Goonetilleke,
Ceylonese, [H.J.C.] Asche Australian; [W.H.] Robetts, American and [A.C.] Houlder,
English”. Ward op. cit., p. 102.
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to see if T could get any assistance. Tt was a fatal act. T had scarcely rung up Kandy when
with a yell, the mob rushed the mosque. We had held them off 1} hours but now we were
helpless. At 4 the Police turned up in a strong body, hut by then the mosque and some
houses had been gutted by the mob and their contents burned in the road. Meantime
Kandy had been made quiet. The worst part of the mob, of course, was in Gatembe. Some
prisoners were taken. Then wearily we tramped home, over three miles, to a bath and a
hour in bed before beginning Sunday’s duties.

On Sunday (30th May) morning. I asked all in the Senior classes who were willing
to volunteer as special constables. As many would have velatives sympathising, if not
actually taking part in the riots. I warned them that they might have to charge with the
bayonet or shoot. However out of a possible sixty from the boarders, fifty volunteered,
the remainder offering to serve in defence of the compound, At 2-30, we marched off,
over forty, without arms of any kind, to the police station to be sworn in. As we returned
at 3-30 absolutely unarmed and expecting no trouble near there, we came round the right
angle turn from Hill Street into Trincomalee Street, with the Trinity College gate only
200 yards ahead of us. And between was a crowd of about a thousand, armed with knives
and clubs attacking a Moor house. Two Moors were killed, we were told, and a Sinhalese
man lay bleeding and stabbed in front of us. The police, under a European officer, were
too few in numbers to adequately protect the houso attacked. Stones and hricks were
flying. I ordered my party to charge. In they went, not a stick or weapon amongst them,
fists and hands and the weight of a disciplined body their only power. Bus they seattered
the crowd and took twenty prisoners. These I made thom let go when they had done what
they could ta identify them, and ordered them to proceed to the police officer for further
instructions, and to help him in the real danger spot, the attacked house. We could not
both keep prisoners and defend the house. The officer handed over the house to our keeping,
Inside were two badly wounded Moors, the men who had, in hunted terror, stabbed the
Sinhalese lying on the road. Then the police moved off, taking the wounded Sinhalese
and a prisoner, the giant of Saturday night. Ten of my forty-three went to help the police
to get away with their prisoners, but the giant was reseued by the crowd after they had
got into Hill Street. Five more I sent to the College, to make clubs to arm my fellows,
and about thirty of us stayed at the door attacked. A screaming disheavelled Sinhalese
wortan, whose husband had just been killed, led the attack and urged on the crowd. They
could do little though, as we stood together in a semi-cirele and were helped vigourously
by an Old Boy, a great local chief. An hour later, the Punjabi troops arrived and scattered
the crowds, and we proceeded to the College for an early tea-dinner hefors starting to patrol
the streets, from 6-45 p.m. to 4-00 a.m.

For patrol work we divided our party into groups of twelve, each with a master and a hoy
in charge, Three groups took turns in marching the streets for three hours at a time. One group
slept whilst we marched; another guarded the college and cricket feld, The fourth group
of twenty were cyelists, and did patrol work all round the enivirons of Kandy, for eight
hours siraight on. They had the most exciting time of us all, and alongside of two motor
cars full of Punjabi troops, went on one occasion, fen miles to Kadugannawa, where the
crowd were out. There they charged with the troops into the burning streets, helped them
to scatter the mob, placed the ringleaders into the motors, and came home tired but highly
praised by the officer in charge, and therefore, delighted.

On Monday, we made all the school work from 8 to 11, ordinary morning school,
sleep from twelve to three, and fall in for drill at 4-30. The Mohammedans came to us in
the morning, and asked us to take over their women and children. So by Monday night,
we had 85 Mohammedan women and children refugees in our compound. That meant eare-
ful guarding. for a Sinhalese newspaper. which had much to do with stirring up the ill-
feeling which led to the riots, and which was read by many rioters, reported that we had
the refugees in our compound, so the fuct was widely known by Tuesday evening, and
of course, was even well rumoured by Monday. We, therefore, called out all our hoy scouts
also, and posted them as pickets around our too vulnerable compound, keeping a strong
body of twenty seniors in the centre of the compound, ready to 20 to any point or points.
The rest of us toolk up the streets and eycling work as before, Martial Law was proclaimed
in Kandy on the Thursday and we exchanged our clubs for rifles with ball cartridges and
bayonets. By this time, every available boy had joined our military section, for they
had seen the vietims of the mob, also they knew we were out to save life and not to destroy
and that we meant to be hurt rather than to hurt, The second night of Martial Law, I came
with my section of twelve boys on a mob of about a 100 in Katukele, I ordered the mob
to disperse or get into their houses. They refused. Then I ordered the boys to fix bayonets
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and added low “slowly”. Bayonsats were fixed, and then I yelled “Charge!” and rushed
on the crowd with my small baton and laid it on their backs and shoulders. Expecting
equal violence from the bayonets they fled. The bayoneis pointing in their rear, hurried
them up, and soon none were laft. We chased them up a close alley. There we packed
them into the nearest houses and let none out again that night. Thus they were scattered
and none wounded.

Soon after, I was in pitch darkness leading my twelve along the edge of a deop ravine
feeling my way. One of the boys cried ““Sir, you might fall and get hurt, I'll lead"” and suiting
the action to the word, he immediately jumped in front of me, His jump landed him 25
or 30 feet below. with his fixed bayonet pointing downwards luckily. He escaped with
a fow bruises, but in the darkness it took a long time o get him and his rifle up again.

Three times one morning, between 3 and 4 a.m., attempts were made to rush our
compound from the woods above, but they ended without even a blow, as our fellows,
summoned by the scouts, charged up in a steady double, the tramp, tramp, evidently
scaring the would-be rioters. From all over the Island we have heard of deeds dome by
our Old Boys: A leading Kandy Moor came to me one day fo tell me of his escape from a
crowd in the Southern Province. He was descending the river in a boat, followed along
the bank by an angry crowd. They came to a swamp where another stream flowed in and
had to make a detour. But into the swamp dashed one Sinhalese and called to the Moor
to put in and he would change clothes with him. The Moor did, and went on his way by
land, dressed as no Moormen ever dressed before, but secure. As they parted, the Sinhalese
gave him an envelope and said “That’s my name, when yon get to Kandy, take it to Trinity
and tell the Principal that even isolated Old Boys can do something”. In many other places,
in villages and country towns they have sheltered refugees. One small, undersized weak
man, ‘dared to shelter ten. A lady teacher of the College, living with an old father and
mother in a house in the middle of the rioting, dragged a severely wounded Moor into
her house. I came on a house being attacked by a crowd eager to get at the Moors inside.
Blocking the way was an old Boy—a Sinhalese Chief-—his arms stretched across the door-
way, telling them they could only get in over him.

Only one of our Old Boys has been in the Riots, I believe, and he left ug from the
lower school, and he was guilty of mischief only.

Government have told us that they recognise our work, and as an earnest of their
gratitude have remitted a claim of Rs. 1,000/- they were urging against us for past rent
in connection with our new cricket field. Of all the colleges, we alone, in this time of war
and scareity of munitions, arve allowed to retain our rifles.

Some curious situations arose. The Governor!20 came to Kandy on Tuesday afternoon,
June 1st,120q. The Buddhists came to me, to know if I would go with them to himand repre-
sent their case. Boon after, the Moors asked me to give them sure convoy to the Gov.
and go with them to represent their case! I saw the Gov. described the deputations, and
he agreed to meet them on Wednesday morning which he did. They met him separately
and together. T went out at 6-30 a.m., on Wednesday in a small motor with Mr. Mulgrue

120. Sir Robert (later Lord) Chalmers (1858-1938). “‘the financial genius of the British
Treasury who prepared the famous Budget of Lloyd George in 1909 creating & sensation
all over England and ultimately precipitating the Parliament Act”, W. Thalgodapitiya,
Studies of Some Famous Cases of Ceylon, Colombo 1963, p. 95; Governor of Ceylon
1913-16; on 2 June 1915 Chalmers proclaimed Martial Law and “eompletely” handed
over “absolute power to the Military’’ under Brigadier General Hemy Huntly Leith
Malcolm (1860-1938) who himself admitted that this was “most unusual”; on 18
November 1915 the London T'imes reported that Chalmers was offered by cable an
appointment in the Treasury by Prime Minister Asquith and that he had accepted it.
Perera has contended that Chalmers was “‘recalled”. P. T. M. Fernando deals with
this matter fully in his article in Modern Asian Studies eited supra fn. 10. See also
Ceylon Daily News 27 September 1919 p. 3; Despite Chalmers® “warnn fribute™ to
Maleolm in his despatch to the Colonial Office dated 24 June 1916 (C.0. 54/782),
he is recorded as having taken strong action when a circular Oider dated 26 July 1915
drafted by Maleolm was submitted to him by Stubbs with the latter's minute disap-
proving of a Beetion marked 4 which read, “1f any bridge is destroyed the Headman
and leading men of the neighbouring villages will be seized and, if they do not give
up the perpetrators. may be shot”. Chaliers took a grave view of the matter and showed
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and we picked up the four most hated and most eminent Mds. One was the man from whose
shop the first fatal shot was fired. One was the head of the Mosque that was destroyed.
One was the man who had led on the movement against the Buddhist processions. The
last was & leading merchant. We added a fifth representing the highest type of Ceylon
Mohammedans. Talking to them and getting the expressions of their ideas clear for the
interview took a long time, And the Buddhists took even more out of mo. All met together,
Buddhist and Mchammedan in the College Library, the antagonistic deputations being
friendly and agreeing to common action. And finally at peace and united in what they
should ask, we all walked to the Governor’s House, where I left them to present their own
cages. T got back for my first meal, barring early tea, at about 12-30. Then the inter-
views were over at 2 o'clock, and I gave the Mohammedans safe conduct through the streets
in & Buddhist car. Meantime the Governor sent for me. I had, however, half an hour
first with the Buddhists, and promised to get a clear proclamation from the vaemo_l'
as to the action he would take—severe till riots were stopped, then unprejudiced consi-
deration for all grievances. This the Governor gave me, and I believe it did good, for it
showed that the Government wag not for any one party or religion but for law and order.
At 5-30 T saw the Buddhists again and got them to publish the Governor’s note with full
letters of explanation and appreciation in their press.

Later when the Kandy Town Guard was formed, I was elected Officer Commanding
by the Buropeans. Of course T could not take the job, for I have too much to do, and am
not out to fight, but temporarily I acted as second in command till Martial Law was over,
for both Sinhalese and Burgher leaders asked me to do so, ag a guarantee that race pre-
judice would not come in. Before this however, the Mohammedans had come to me and
offered to provide a thoroughly equipped body of 500 men if I could be their 0.C.! How
much for a messenger of peace?

(p- 20) There is the other side of the picture too. No one in Kandy or Colombo is probably
as hated amongst some elasses of the people as I am. They think 1 ought to be their friend,
and that 1 am not. In the seized correspondence, the ring-leaders of the riots, who aimed al
much more than an altack on Moors, had specified me as the first person o be got rid of, and
the © Fraser microbe” was lo be “rooted” out of the Sinhalese youth.12l Threatening letters

have come to me frequently, and wild stories are spread of my evil intentions against
the Sinhalese and Buddhists. My boys watched me and guarded me during the riots as
though 1 had been the much threatened heir of an Eastern Throne. Now troubles are practi-
cally over. Mutterings continue, but they will not materialise, I think. Anyhow we are
prepared now.

Some of our boys have done great service to ‘Government in dressing as labourers,
railway men ete., and going to the more dangerous districts, to find out when, where and
and from whence attacks might be expected. Such lonely work requived much courage
and self possession. Then they went to places where Sinhalese and Moors are combining to ruin

Maleolm a draft of a letter which he had addressed to him where Chalmers warned
Malcolm that if anvone was shot under this order it would invelve both the responsible
volunteer and yourself in a charge of murder”, “Accordingly”, he wrote "I ask you to
rovise forthwith the existing para 47, He also made the General to understand in this
draft letter that the General was issuing orders “‘in the exercise of the responsibilities
which I have charged yom under my Martial Law Oidinance”. Happily paragraph 4
was deleted from the final order. See UN A 65/232 Confidential File Riots 1915, Mal-
colm who was according to Perera “1etired on half pay in Decernber 1915 commanded
a brigade in the British Expeditionary Force in France when he returned from Ceylon,
and in fact left the service only on 10 December 1917 on the ground of ‘age’, "'Some of
Malcolm’s contermporaries had doubts about his sanity”, says P. T. M. Fernando
quoting from Dr. M. W, Roberts’ “Interviews with T. W. Roberts and H. E, Newnham™,
Rhodes House Library, Oxford. On the occasion of Chalmers’ departme from Ceylon
in December 1915 Armand de Souza under the pseudonym “Vasconcel” published an
eulogistic poem in his paper Ceylon Morning Lender. where he wrote “We bid you from
our hearts God-speed.... Since England calls you at her need”. Chalmers was made a
Privy Councillor (Ireland) 1916, G C.B. 1916 and 1st Baron of Nortkiam 1919, Chalmers
lost both his sons in the Great War, one on 25 May 1915, and the other sometime
after the Ceylon Riots.
120aSee fr. 56a supra.

121. “the last three lines on page 20", Perera, Oeylon Daily News 31 October 1919 p. 1.
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their private enemies by false evidence. For the most miserable part of the riots was this
aftermath of false swearers and testifiers of private grudges, and they swere Sinhalese,
tdo, sometimes. though chiefly Moors. This is much the most depressing part of & trying
time. Innocent men undoubtedly have suffered and sometimes it was their own neighbours
who were primarily responsible.

By ihe by, the giant of the Knuckle-duster and club, was caught later and tried by Court
Martial. I had to appear ogainst him, so sow my first Cowrt Martial. It was a very fair.
responsible, businesslike Cowrt, short, direct bul patient.i22 The giant got fourteem years.
There I was chiefly occupied in getting people, I believed, to be wrongly accused out on
bail, and helping them to use wisely the evidence they had.123 Also I had some of the Mdn.
leaders up and persuaded themn to bring pressure on their riff-raff to cease bringing up
purely vexatious and false cases into court. Few who were sentenced to death,12f we
were able to get reconsideration for as we were able to bring fresh evidence and to secure
finally their acquittal. Others, too, we have been able to get reductions for.

The “Planters’ Gazette” commenting on the riots remarks ““The curse of Ceylon, so far
as can be seen, has been indiseriminate education without a solid religious foundation’ .
That has been made clear in a movement in which the secular and Buddhist schools have taken .
only too strong @ part.125 On the other hand, never has our religious teaching here, and
battle against race prejudicel?s received as powerful a vindication in the eyes of all. Even
the fool who runs can read it this time. And we have had good cause to be proud of the
“Sons of Trinity™. All over the Island they have done their part well, and here boys un-
armed have scattered armed crowds. Moreover, they have, most of them thought through
to their action, and realised why they were taking it. To some it meant being against their
relations and their up-bringing. Some only, two or three, have been removed from school
for it. But whilss opposing men of their own race and often of their own faith, they have
done it not lightly or merely as followers of their present leaders, but the older ones
certainly as patriots, who have considered and understood the issues at stake. We are proud
of them,

122. “the first four lines on page 217, Perera Ceylon Daily News 31 October 1919 p. 1.

123.In bis letter dated 21 July 1915 to Rev. E. H. M. Waller of the C.M.S., Fraser wrote,
“Our work is going on still in regard to the Riots. Now-a-days the Moors are in the
ascendant and are bringing lots of cases on false evidence against Buddhists and my
Bungalow now is thronged by Buddhists. Yesterday I was the means of bailing out
thirty T believe, “—C.M.8. Arclivesin London—We are obliged to Dr, P, V. J. Jayasekera
for this reference. Fraser was responsible in apprehending two Muslims who had tried
to blackmail A. Ratwatte (father of Bir Cudah Ratwatte) and D. E. Ranasinghe,
Inspector of Schools in the Education Department: see Souza op.cit., pp. 213, 214
and 217; also Ramanathan op.cit., p. 68 fn.

124. Three of them were “‘P. €. H. Dias and his two kinsmen Messrs. Arthur and Harry Dias,
A son of Mr. P. €. H. Dias has informed one of us that both Fraser and Rev, W. J, T,
Small who was then Prineipal of Richmond College interviewed the Governor on
behalf of the condemned men and the sentences of death were revoked. One son of Mr.
P. C. H. Dias was then attending Richmond College and the others Trinity College’,
See letter of Trinity College Old Boys, Ceylon Observer 25 February 1962: Another
case was that of Don Jacolis Rupasinghe Goonewardena, Vidane Aratchi of Kaluaggala
Peruna, Hanwella and known as Borulugoda Ralahamy, who was sentensed to death
by Court Martial at Hanwella on 18 July 1915. The sentence wag not ccnfirmed and
he was released later on the ground that the “evidence against Gloonewardena was
unreliable”. His son Harry Goonewardena was studying at Trinity at the time, Philip
and Rebert Goonewardena, later members of the Ceylon Legislature, were also his
sons; See Scuza op. cit. pp. 140, 141; ON A 65/225 pp. 127, 130; Secretary of States reply
to & question by Philip Morrel, Hansard (Biitish House of Commons) 6 Mareh 1917,

125, “the last four lines on page 21", Perera Ceylon Daily News 31 October 1919 p. 1,

126. See Ward op. cif. 1 p. 184, where Fraser is deseribed as saying: “T am not prepared to
run Achimota [the College insugurated by Fraser in Ghana] on a basis of racial segre-
gation”. In April 1924 Fraser delivered a sermon in Westminster Abbey, London,
*which caused great indignation’’ among European settlers in Africa.

Digitized by Noolaham Foundation.
noolaham.org | aavanaham.org




THE REV. A. G. FRASER AND THE RIOTS OF 1915 195

APPENDIX D
ELECTION OF THE BISHOP OF COLOMBO IN 1924

This election, which the present writer recalls having attended as a spectator, took
place on 12 February 1924 at St. Peter’s Church, Fort, Colombo. The Press and persons
who did not helong to the Church of England were excluded from the meeting. There were
two candidates, Fraser and Mark Rudolph Carpenter-Garnier,127 a learned divine and
Librarian of Pusey House, Oxford. The Bishop had to be elected by a Special Synod con-
sisting of qualified members of the Clergy and Laity, and the successful candidate would
have to poll over two-thirds of the votes east by the Clergy and the Laity, each voting
separately.

The voting on that day was as follows:

Clergy — Carpenter-Garnier o 55
Fraser o 30
Laity — Carpenter-Garnier e 129
Fraser s 43

At the Second Poll:
Clergy — Carpenter-Garnier = 57
Frager e 23

It will be noted that the Laity which was mostly composed of Ceylonese voted over-
whelmingly128 for Carpenter-Garnier, but the Clergy which had a considerable proportion
of Buropeans had to poll twice in order to gain the requisite two-thirds majority for Carpen-
ter-Garnier.

It has been claimed in some quarters that Fraser lost this election because he belonged
fo the Church Missionary Soeiety (C.M.S.), the “Low-Church’ Section of the Church of
England., As one who was present on the oceasion and who had observed the feeling
evidenced in the animated canvassing that prevailed there, and who had since studied
the matter more closely, the writer does not wholly agree that this was =o.

Nobedy denies that there were two opposite camps, the C.M.8. and the Anglo-Catholics
within the fold of the Church, and that Fraser and Carpenter-Giarnier were outstanding
representatives of the respective groups. But the factor that weighed most in the minds,
at least of the Laity, was the legend that Fraser had been anti-national during the Riots.
thanks to the impression created by E. W. Perera. As a matter of fact, if the present writer
had been qualified to vote then, he too would have voted against Fraser.

An anonymous writer signing himself “An Honest Churchman” wrote on the eve
of the election in the Ceylon Daily News (p. 3) on 11 February 1924, “The accusation brought
against him [Fraser] in connection with the Riots of 1915 and his failure to clear himself
will be remembered not enly by many Christians, but a very large percentage of non-
Christians in the Island. Rightly or wrongly many people of this island look upon him
with suspicion . ,..” (emphagis added). Another writer, also anonymous, calling himself
“Churchman®, wrote in the same issue of the Ceylon Daily News (p. 3), “Mr. Fraser is
looked upon with feeling very much akin to distrust by a large number of church people,
The Hon. B. W, Perera’s charges against My. Fraser ure still unanswered and My, Vietor
Corea’s129 recent letter to the Press expresses his own and others views of Mr. Fraser’s
candidature, and they are both Churchmen” (emphasis added). Such was the campaign
waged against Fraser.

127. Rt. Rev. Mark Rudolph Carpenter-Garnier (1881-1969), D. D, Lambeth 1924, Libra-
rian of Puzsey House Oxford, 1921-24; Bishop of Colombo 1924-38; Canon of Salisbury
1938-44.

128. This result was anticipated by C. A, Boteju; see his letter to Ceylon Morning Leader
7 February, 1924.

129, Charles Edward Victor Corea (1882-1962), member the Parish of St. James Church,
Chilaw; colleague of Goonesinha, see fin. 111 Supra; first President Young Lanka League;
first President the Ceylon Labour Union; Corea’s letter appeared in the Ceylon M orning
Leader, 8 February, 1924, p. 3.
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The Anglo-Catholics and the C.M.S. werein the writer's view more or less evenly balanced
at the time, both among the Clergy and the Laity:120a but the bogey of anti-nationalism
swhich was whipped up during the election and which reached & crescendo on the eve of the
election, supported by the crusading campaign of one of the most powerful figures in the
Church Militant in Ceyvlon, the Rev. . B. BEkanayake,!3? an Anglo-Catholic and a dedi-
cated nationalist effeetively turned the seales against Fragser.

A

120a A complete list of members of the laity and clergy who were qualified to vote and
rg:;; were present at the election is given in the Cleylon Morning Leader 13 February,

. ;

130. Bee fn. 110 supra,
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